# RECOGNITION AND KNOWLEDGE OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION IN THE ELDERLY BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

**JENNIFER BOWERS** 



A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of The Australian National University

NH & MRC Social Psychiatry Research Unit through the National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health

February 1991

Except where otherwise acknowledged in the text, the data and analyses in this thesis represent my original research.

Jennifer Bewers

Jennifer Bowers February 1991

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Dr Tony Jorm and Professor Scott Henderson, my supervisors from the NH & MRC Social Psychiatry Research Unit at the Australian National University for their ceaseless support, practical guidance and valuable advice prior to and during this research. Secondly, I would like to thank Dr John McCallum, my supervisor from the National Centre for Epidemiology and Public Health at the Australian National University for his continued interest and assistance. Thirdly, I thank Dr Hal Kendig for being my supervisor in the early stages of this research and his useful advice during that time. Fourthly, I would like to acknowledge the staff from the Social Psychiatry Research Unit who have willingly provided advice, encouragement and administrative assistance. Especially, I would like to thank Trish Jacomb who prepared Figures 2.1, 3.1, 4.1, 4.2, 6.1, 6.2, 6.3, 7.1 and 9.1 for the thesis.

I thank Professor Linda Rosenman, Department of Social Work and Dr Gerard Byrne, Department of Psychiatry, from the University of Queensland, for their valuable comments on the draft thesis and discussions on the topic.

I am indebted to the Commonwealth Department of Community Services and Health without whose financial support, through the Postgraduate Study Award, this investigation would not have been possible. I also appreciate the continued interest and support of Mr Glenn Rees and Dr Claudia Thame from the Department.

I would like especially to acknowledge the general practitioners, their receptionists and particularly their patients for their willingness and generosity in taking part in the research.

All the members of my family have assisted me in no small measure to carry out and complete this study. I thank them for their forbearance. Without their generosity and practical assistance the research for and completion of this thesis would not have been possible.

#### ABSTRACT

General practitioners are in a unique position to detect, diagnose and treat mental illness in their practices. The aims of the study were to determine how well one sample of general practitioners detect dementia and depression in their elderly patients; and to ascertain the level of knowledge these general practitioners have of dementia and depression.

Eleven general practitioners were recruited through the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners and each general practitioner requested 10 consecutive patients over 70 years to be interviewed. Three indices for both depression and dementia were used to obtain levels of probable psychiatric disorder in the 101 participating patients. Socio-demographic information and the level of assistance needed with activities of daily living were also obtained.

The initial 11 general practitioners, and subsequently a further 25 general practitioners, were interviewed to ascertain the symptoms and signs they look for when diagnosing dementia and depression, the treatment or mode of action taken, and the types of services most frequently recommended.

General practitioners' ratings of dementia were correlated with the other

cognitive measures. The general practitioners missed 17 of the 28 cases of probable dementia identified by the Mini-Mental State Examination and 12 of the 15 patients identified as depressed by a standardised interview and algorithm. It was thought that the general practitioners' poor detection of depression might be related to a limited knowledge of depressive symptomatology and their reliance on the patients raising of depression as a problem.

Data from the interviews with 36 general practitioners revealed that they also had a limited knowledge of the symptoms and signs of dementia. Twenty one of the general practitioners did not report that Alzheimer's disease is the most common dementing disorder in general practice. This is contrary to a recent Australian neuropathological study of the causes of dementia.

The present study has identified under-recognition of dementia and depression and certain deficiencies in general practitioners' reported knowledge about these conditions. The findings indicate a need for further training in common psychiatric disorders of the elderly, not only for undergraduates, but for experienced general practitioners who treat a high proportion of the elderly population.

#### ERRATA AND ADDENDA

- Page 4, line 18 -Insert in references "Australian Bureau of Statistics, 1988;"
- Page 6, line 21 -Insert "17% of expenditure is on medical benefits"
- Page 22, line 11 -Omit "and the threat" and replace with "are threatened with"

Page 29, line 5 -Change "has" to "have"

Page 35, line 21 -Change "pscyhiatric" to "psychiatric"

Page 37, line 21 -Omit "whilst consulting with a general practitioner who was less accurate in his/her" and insert "during consultations with general practitioners who had been identified as less accurate in their"

Page 46, line 5 -Insert "'" after "practitioners"

Page 46, line 7 -Omit "treatment was well after the onset of symptoms, the prognosis was the worst" and insert "depressed patients who received treatment well after the onset of symptons had the worst prognosis"

Page 47, line 2 -Change "are" to "were"

Page 47, last line -Insert "general practitioners'" after "related to"

Page 48, line 5 -Insert "to" after "position"

Page 49, line 2 -Omit "They" and insert "Elderly people"

Page 49, lines 13,14-Insert after "recovery", "(prognosis for dementia and depression outlined in Chapter 2)" and insert after "return", "(length of consultations and interest in psychogeriatrics is discussed in subsequent chapters)." Page 51, line 14 -Change "do not proceed to the first filter" to "who do not proceed through the first filter"

Pa@ 71, line 8 -Insert after "....instrument.", "(Limitations of screening instruments are discussed in Chapters 6 and 11.)"

Pace 77, line 14 -Insert "a" after "approach"

Pa@ 78, line 14 -Insert after "patients; the", "elicitation and"

Page 90, last line -Insert after "consultations", "purely"

Page 105, line 14 -Insert after "service provision", "(total number of services per patient)"

- Page 122 -Insert "Footnote: The prevalence of a disorder can affect the sensitivity and specificity of its detection and can be used to correct hit-rates for the GHQ."
- Pace 125 -Insert "Footnote: The information for this section is based solely on the information from the participating general practitioners. Oxazepam was prescribed as an antidepressant by one of the general practitioners even though it is an anxiolytic."

Page 136, line 21 -Omit "Using" and insert "Based on"

Page 137, lines 7,8-Omit "do", insert "may" and insert after "practitioner", "(Henderson, 1984)".

Page 162, para 1, Section 9.4.2 -Omit "weas", insert "was"

Pag 174, line 9 -Insert after "...field." "This finding poses an important question."

Page 177, para 3, line 13 -Omit "first" and "second" and replace with "second" and "third" Pagee 181, line 4 -Omit "showed were rare in the elderly" and insert "found made up only 11% of their elderly cases."

Pagee 185, line 1 -Insert new paragraph after "...purposes."

> "To examine the general practitioners' implicit diagnosis more accurately and thoroughly, subsequent diagnostic tests and management procedures could be more fully documented and analysed. This would involve at least two factors which may present further limitations or prove impracticable. First, the identity of the patient with suspected dementia would have to be provided to the general practitioner. This additional component would have to be included in the design of the methods, especially for ethical reasons. Second, the continued co-operation of the general practitioners would have to be sought to compare subsequent procedures with the initial diagnosis and the results derived from screening instruments."

Pagee 188

-Insert after 8th reference

"Australian Bureau of Statistics (1988), Projections of the Populations of Australia, States and Territories 1987 to 2031, Catalogue No. 3222.0, Canberra."

# CONTENTS

PAGE	
------	--

ACICKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
AB:BSTRACT	v
CO:ONTENTS	vii
LISIST OF TABLES	xiv
LISIST OF FIGURES	xvii

# **CEHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

1.1.1	The major issues	1
1.2.2	The purpose of the study	2
1.3.3	Demographic and social changes 1.3.1 Demography 1.3.2 Socio-economic factors 1.3.3 Living arrangements 1.3.4 Physical health	3 4 5 7 9
1.4.4	Outline of thesis	9

# **CEHAPTER 2: MENTAL HEALTH OF THE ELDERLY**

2.1.1	Epidemiology and description of mental disorders in the elderly	11
2.2.2	Dementia	11
	2.2.1 Prevalence of dementia	12
	2.2.2 Alzheimer's disease	16
	2.2.3 Vascular dementia	16

2.3	Depression 2.3.1 Prevalence of depression 2.3.2 Management of depression	17 18 22
2.4	Dementia and depression	22
2.5	Anxiety disorders	23
2.6	Summary	24
СН	APTER 3: ROLE OF GENERAL PRACTITIONERS IN MENTAL HEALTH CARE	
3.1	General practitioners	25
3.2	Conceptual model of primary care	26
3.3	Non-consulters and the decision to consult	29
3.4	Detection of psychological disorders in general practice	31
3.5	Factors which influence recognition	36
3.6	Defining a 'case'	42
3.7	Classification and screening questionnaires	43
3.8	Treatment and referral 3.8.1 Why treat mental disorders? 3.8.2 The decision to refer	45 45 46
3.9	Summary 3.9.1 The future of general practice	48 48
СВ	APTER 4: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS AND MENTAL HEALTH CARE OF THE ELDERLY	
4.1	Introduction	50
4.2	Recognition of dementia and depression in elderly patients	53
4.3	Comparative analysis of general practitioners' accuracy	60

viii

4.4	Significance of findings relating to	
	recognition	64
	4.4.1 Screening for dementia and depression	
	in general practice	66
	4.4.2 Benefits of detection	67
4.5	Factors affecting recognition	69
	4.5.1 Gaps in general practitioners'	
	knowledge	70
	4.5.2 Diagnostic processes	71
	4.5.3 'Ageism' and other discriminating	
	factors	73
4.6	Rationale for the study	77

# CHAPTER 5: METHODS: RECOGNITION OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

5.1	Introduction	81
5.2	Pilot study	81
5.3	Recruiting of general practitioners	82
5.4	Recruiting of patients 5.4.1 Patient interview procedure 5.4.2 Patients' instruments	83 85 86
5.5	Follow-up visit to general practitioners	92
5.6	Ethical approval	93
5.7	Summary of methods	93
СН	APTER 6: RESULTS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' DETECTION OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION	
6.1	Introduction	96
6.2	General practitioner characteristics and participation	96
6.3	Patient participation	97
	6.3.1 Comparison of sample with aged A.C.T. population	98

	6.3.2	Interval between consultation and		
		interview	98	
6.4	Patient	characteristics	99	
	6.4.1	Where patients lived	99	
	6.4.2	Living conditions of patients	100	
	6.4.3	Patients' living arrangements	101	
	6.4.4	Marital status of patients	102	
	6.4.5	Level of education	102	
	646	Physical health	103	
	0.1.0		100	
65	Comm	unity services and assistance	106	
0.5	receiv	ved by patients	100	
	651	Summary of patients'		
	0.5.1	characteristics and assistance	100	
		characteristics and assistance	102	
66	Inform	ant responses and characteristics	100	
0.0	morm	and responses and characteristics	107	
67	Genera	al practitioners' detection of		
0.7	deme	n practicioners' detection of	110	
	671	Patients diagnosed as demented	110	
	672	MMSF	111	
	673	General practitioners' detection of	111	
	0.7.5	dementia measured by the MMSE	111	
	671	Influence of other variables on the	111	
	0.7.4		117	
	675	Information/Orientation scale from	112	
	0.7.5		110	
	676	CALE Conserved presentition area datasetion of	112	
	0.7.0	dementia manufactured against the VO		
		dementia measured against the 1/O	112	
	( 7 7	SCAIC	115	
	0././		113	
	0./.8	General practitioners detection of		
		dementia compared with the IQCODE and		
		informant report	114	
	6.7.9	Influence of other variables on a		
		IQCODE	115	
	6.7.1	U Summary of general practitioners'		
		detection of dementia	115	
	_			
6.8	Depre	ssion and general practitioners		
	reco	gnition	118	
	6.8.1	Depressive symptoms in the patient		
		sample	118	
	6.8.2	Patients diagnosed as depressed	120	
	6.8.3	General practitioners' detection of		
		depression compared with the Diagnostic		
		Interview for Depression	121	

х

6.8.4 Genera depres	l practitioners' detection of ssion compared with the GHQ	122
6.8.5 Informa	ants' opinions	123
6.8.6 Analysi ratings	s of general practitioners' s with various continuous	
measu	res of depression	123
6.8.7 Antider	pressant medication	125
6.9 General practit	ioners' detection of a	
combination	of dementia and depression	127
6.9.1 Compa	rison of measures of cognitive	
impair	ment with those of depression	127
6.10 Summary		129

## CHAPTER 7: DISCUSSION ON RECOGNITION OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

7.1	Prevalence of depression	130
	7.1.1 Detection of depression	131
	7.1.2 Treatment of depression	135
7.2	Prevalence of dementia	136
	7.2.1 Detection of dementia	137
	7.2.2 Factors influencing the MMSE	140
7.3	Patient characteristics	140
7.4	Patient selection	142
7.5	Summary	142

## CHAPTER 8: METHODS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' KNOWLEDGE ABOUT DEPRESSION AND DEMENTIA IN ELDERLY PATIENTS

8.1	Introduction	144
8.2	Recruitment of an increased sample of general practitioners	144
8.3	Interview procedure	145
8.4	Scoring of the interview	146
8.5	Summary of methods	147

# CHAPTER 9: RESULTS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' KNOWLEDGE OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION

9.1	Charac	teristics of general practitioners	150	
9.2	Genera	l practitioners' knowledge of		
	depre	ession	151	
	9.2.1	Depression and anxiety	153	
	9.2.2	Depression and physical illness	153	
	9.2.3	Contributory factors to depression	154	
	9.2.4	General practitioners' knowledge		
		compared with depressive symptom		
		prevalence	155	
9.3	Genera	l practitioners' knowledge of		
	deme	ntia	155	
	9.3.1	Problems encountered by general	155	
	DI	actitioners	159	
	F-		157	
9.4	Respor	uses to case vignettes	160	
	9.4.1	Vignette 1	161	
	9.4.2	Vignette 2	162	
	9.4.3	Vignette 3	163	
9.5	Summa	ary of general practitioners' comments		
	on ca	re and service provision in the A.C.T.	164	
	9.5.1	Home care and community services	164	
	9.5.2	Residential services	166	
	9.5.3	General comments on service		
		provision	166	
СН	APTER	10: DISCUSSION ON GENERAL PRACTITIONERS'		
	MINU			
10.3	l Introd	luction	168	
10.2	2 Know	ledge of depression	168	
10 3	R Know	ledge of dementia	170	
TO.,	Knowledge of dementia 1/0			

10.4 Types of dementia17010.5 Management of depression and dementia17110.6 Continuing education173

10.7	The future of geriatrics in general	
	practice	174

# **CHAPTER 11: CONCLUSIONS**

11.1	Summary of research findings	176
11.2	Limitations of the study	177
11.3	Implications of findings	179
11.4	Practical implications	181
11.5	Future research 11.5.1 Direct extensions of the study 11.5.2 Broader issues to be covered in future work	183 183 186
11.6	Conclusion	187
DEFEDENCES 100		
REPERENCES		100
LIST OF APPENDICES		203

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
4.1:	Summary of studies on recognition of psychiatric disorders in the elderly in general practice in chronological order.	61
6.1:	Proportion of elderly people over 70 years of age in the A.C.T. at 1986 Census compared with proportion in study sample (ABS, 1988).	98
6.2:	Postcodes indicating areas in which patients resided.	100
6.3:	Types of residence of patients.	101
6.4:	Living arrangements of patients.	101
6.5:	Highest qualification obtained by patients.	102
6.6:	Percentages of patients requiring the various levels of assistance for activities-of-daily-living.	104
6.7:	Analysis of patients' age, physical health (ADL) and service provision using Pearson Correlation Coefficients.	105
6.8:	Community services received by patients.	106
6.9:	Number of patients who received assistance or advice from a professional person in the month prior to the interview.	108
6.10	): Relationship of informants to patients.	110
<b>6.1</b> 2	1: Rating of severity of dementia by the general practitioners.	110
6.12	2: General practitioners' detection of cognitive impairment compared with the MMSE.	112
6.1	3: General practitioners' detection of cognitive impairment compared with the Information/Orientation scale of CAPE.	113
6.1	4: General practitioners' detection of cognitive impairment compared with the IQCODE.	114

6.15:	Correlations between general practitioner ratings of dementia, dementia scales and physical impairment.	117
6.16:	Examination of socio-demographic factors on general practitioners' ratings of dementia by multiple regression.	118
6.17:	Number of patients with depressive symptoms.	119
6.18:	Patients who scored positively on the diagnostic criteria for DSM-III-R criteria for Major Depressive Episode (MDE).	120
6.19:	Rating of severity of depression by the general practitioners.	121
6.20:	General practitioners' detection of depression.	122
6.21:	General practitioners' detection of depression compared with the GHQ-12.	123
6.22:	Correlations between general practitioner ratings of depression, depression symptoms score, the opinion of an informant, whether the patient discussed depression with the general practitioners, the 12-Item General Health Questionnaire, and physical impairment.	124
9.1:	DSM-III-R Criteria for Major Depressive Episode together with numbers and percentages of general practitioners' reporting each symptom or sign in response to the question: "What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible depression?"	152
9.2:	Factors which general practitioners considered contributed to depression in the elderly.	154
9.3:	DSM-III-R criteria for dementia together with numbers and percentages of general practitioners reporting each symptom or sign in response to the question: "What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible dementia?"	157
9.4:	Frequency of general practitioners' responses to the question: "What type of dementia do you see most frequently?"	158
9.5:	Ratio of types of dementia thought to be seen most frequently in general practice.	159

9.6:	Problems encountered by general practitioners with dementing patients.	160
9.7:	Summary of responses to management questions in Vignette 1.	162
9.8:	Summary of responses to management questions in Vignette 2.	163
9.9:	Summary of responses to management questions in Vignette 3.	164

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE		PAGE
2.1:	Projected increases in dementia cases, elderly population and total population for Australia, 1987-2031 (reproduced from Jorm & Henderson, 1990).	13
3.1:	Pathway to mental health care: diagrammatic representation of a conceptual model of "selection processes" for the detection of mental illness in general practice (adapted from Goldberg & Huxley (1980)).	28
4.1:	ROC points and areas under them (McNicol, 1972) comparing levels of accuracy in the detection of dementia and depression by general practitioners.	65
4.2:	Schematic presentation of rationale for study illustrating general practitioner and patient variables and their relationship to symptoms and signs, detection and management of dementia and depression.	80
5.1:	Flow diagram summarising method.	95
6.1:	ROC curves comparing the general practitioners' ratings of the severity of dementia with the three dementia screening scales.	116
6.2:	ROC curves comparing the general practitioners' ratings of the severity of depression with the Diagnostic Interview on Depression and the GHQ.	126
6.3:	ROC curves illustrating general practitioners' detection of depression (severe, moderate/severe, mild/moderate/ severe) with the cases of depression diagnosed by the depression diagnostic algorithm. Figure 6.3.1 includes all patients and Figure 6.3.2 excludes patients who had been prescribed antidepressant medication in the four weeks prior to the consultation.	128
7.1:	Frequency with which initial sample of general practitioners cited DSM-III-R criteria for major depression and patients scored positively against these criteria.	132

8.1:	Summary of method for assessing general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression.	149
9.1:	Frequency with which total sample of general practitioners cited DSM-III-R criteria for major depression and	150
	natients scored positively against these criteria	116

**x**viii

## **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 The major issues

General practitioners are central to mental health care and services for the community at large and, in particular, for the aged population. It should be of specific interest to general practitioners, geriatricians, psychiatrists, health care professionals, policy makers and families to have information on:

- the mental health of elderly people who consult general practitioners;
- whether general practitioners recognise problems, especially mental health problems, in the elderly, and, if not, why not;
- how they treat and manage problems if they have been identified; and
- how much general practitioners know about the mental health problems of the elderly.

Despite the substantial body of information which has accumulated on psychiatric conditions in general practice settings since the early 1960s (for example, Kessel, 1960; Shepherd, 1980; and the numerous publications of Goldberg and his

colleagues (cited below)), Burvill (1988) suggests that fundamental issues cannot be addressed satisfactorily with the current level of knowledge, but they are "eminently susceptible to investigation" (Shepherd, 1980).

#### 1.2 Purpose of the study

What then are the fundamental issues and priorities for research in the area of mental health in general practice? Priorities for research on mental health in primary care settings were sought from a multi-disciplinary group of experts who were attending a conference on mental illness in primary care (Wilkinson & Williams, 1985). One of the three areas elicited was the elderly who are mentally ill; and the three priority subjects were the effectiveness of treatment; the mental health problems encountered in primary care; and training general practitioners in psychiatric skills. The aims of this thesis are focused on these priorities. The first objective is to contribute to existing information on how well Australian general practitioners detect dementia and depression, the two most common psychiatric disturbances in the elderly. The second objective is to assess the level of general practitioners' knowledge about dementia and depression in elderly patients.

This investigation is designed to clarify the conflicting data presently available on general practitioners' detection of dementia and depression in elderly patients. In order to do this, the investigation aims to:

- examine the accuracy of general practitioners' detection of dementia and depression (Aim 1); and
  - compare the results with earlier overseas studies (Aim 2).

Training for medical students and general practitioners cannot be modified or developed until the gaps in their knowledge have been determined. The first step was, therefore, to ascertain how well they were informed about dementia and depression. Thus, the study aimed to assess:

- general practitioners' knowledge of dementia, especially in light of (i) the burgeoning aged population; and (ii) the current publicity and public awareness of dementia and related disorders (Attwood (Time), 1989; Ferry (New Scientist), 1988; Beaumont (Ita), 1989; Australian Dr Weekly, 1988) (Aim 3); and
  - general practitioners' knowledge of depression, especially in light of (i) the burgeoning aged population; and (ii) the evidence suggesting that elderly people with medical problems are at high risk of developing depression (Aim 4).

Before exploring the theoretical basis to the above aims, the remainder of this chapter sets the background scene relating to the ageing population with particular emphasis on predictions for social and demographic change in Australia.

#### **1.3** Demographic and social changes

The ageing population has emerged as one of the most pressing and debated public policy issues of the 1990s. The issues involved will continue to be canvassed during the coming decade as they will affect the fabric of our society well into the next century. Cavalier (1988) accurately describes the underlying reasons for this debate: "Medical science and modern technology have transformed the demographic picture. Aging is more than a statistic, however, and more than a problem for the public finances. It is among the most acute of human dilemmas, confronting the years when health and mental vigour inevitably decline." (Cavalier, 1988)

#### 1.3.1 Demography

The aged population of Australia is not only increasing in number but also in relative proportions. In 1986, 10.5% of the population was aged 65 years or over. The proportion of the population aged 65 years and over is projected to increase to 11.4% in 1991, 11.9% in 2001, 13.0% in 2011 and 18.9% by 2031. During this time the aged population will have increased from 1.7 million in 1986 to over 5 million in 2031. It is predicted that there will be two phases of ageing in Australia; up to the year 2001 the population over 70 years, the 'old' old, will increase more rapidly, and between 2006 and 2021 the rate of increase will accelerate and the numbers of people aged 60 to 69 years, the 'young' old, will increase more rapidly than the 'old' old (Kendig & McCallum, 1986; Hugo & Rudd, 1988).

A reduction in mortality for both males and females will continue to contribute to the ageing population: males can expect to live another 17 years after they reach 65 by the year 2021 compared with 14 years during 1980-82; and females can expect to live another 22 years after they reach 65 by 2021 compared with 18 years during 1980-82.

Another factor contributing to the ageing population is the ratio of aged people relative to the working-age population, which is due in part to a decrease in the birth rate. This ratio is expected to increase up to 2001 and to increase more rapidly from 2011 to 2021 (Kendig & McCallum, 1986; Hugo & Rudd, 1988).

#### 1.3.2 Socio-economic factors

There are many economic, social and political implications relating to the changing age structure of our society. Some of the changes which will occur with the ageing population are:

- the continued predominance of females in the aged population. Of the people over 60 years at the last census (2.346 million), 56% were women and of the people over 85 years, 73% were women;
- the numbers of aged migrants, especially those from non-English speaking countries, will double by the year 2001 (Kendig & McCallum, 1986); and
  - an improvement in educational and financial independence for both men and women due to increased employment opportunities.

In a paper which examined the key economic aspects of the long term care of elderly people, Philips (1988) foreshadowed some of the chief impacts:

- more people will be in receipt of an age pension or superannuation;

- as people are living longer they are more likely to require assistance with home care and daily living tasks;

- use of community care services is likely to increase,
  especially with increasing Government funded home care services;
- total government outlays on the aged population are anticipated to increase by 131% between 1981 and 2001.
- as the 'old' old population is increasing rapidly this century, the numbers cared for in nursing homes and hostels are expected to increase; and
- costs of health care are expected to increase due to the ageing population and number of services provided.

These last few factors allude to the impact of a rapidly ageing population on health care in broad terms. But more specifically, they indicate that the responsibilities and practising time of general practitioners will, in the future, be focused to a much greater degree than ever before on the health and social problems of the elderly.

The provision and cost of medical and pharmaceutical benefits for the elderly provide a clear indication of the high level of services which have been provided by physicians in the past and will continue to be provided, to an even greater degree, in the future. Forty eight percent of expenditure by the Commonwealth Government on pharmaceutical benefits is for people over 65 years and 17% on medical benefits (Economic Planning Advisory Council, 1988). Further, in 1985-86, the average number of services per person per year processed

by Medicare<sup>1</sup> for all patients was about 7 (or 8 when those over 64 years are included); 9 for females and 6 for males. Females over 64 years received the highest number of services; they ranged from 13 (65-74 years) to 15 (over 75 years). Males over 64 years received an average of 10 and 12 services for these respective age groups (Health Insurance Commission, 1985-86). The number of services received by elderly people is almost double that of the general population. The level of services provided can be expected to increase especially within the 'old' old population over the coming years.

The cost of the services can also be expected to increase. The average value of Medicare benefit to all patients (including the elderly) was \$161.31 in 1985-86. The average value of benefit for elderly people is substantially more and ranged from \$228.27 for elderly males (65-74 years) to \$291.61 for elderly females (over 75 years) (Health Insurance Commission, 1985-86).

The implications of the "demographic shift are profound for those who will practise medicine in the 21st century" (Henderson & Rosenman, 1989, p. 218) and there is no doubt that general practitioners will be treating more elderly people and at an ever increasing cost.

### 1.3.3 Living arrangements

How much responsibility does the general practitioner have to take for the health of their elderly patients in relation to social factors such as living conditions and community assistance? Nearly all elderly people live in a private dwelling:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Medicare is the Australian Government's health insurance scheme which provides basic health care cover to all Australians.

89% of people over 70 years live in a private dwelling, about 6% reside in nursing homes and 3% in hostels. Of those who live in their own homes, 62% live with someone, a spouse or a close relative, and 38% live alone (Australian Bureau of Statistics Census, 1986). In a survey of *Older People at Home* it was found that the level of home care and assistance provided by agencies increases with age and degree of physical disability and is more likely to be for people who live alone. For people who do not live alone, spouses (and other members of the household or family) provide the majority of assistance. About 50% of people over 75 years have a need for assistance with domestic or other household tasks. On the other hand, the remaining 50% have no such apparent need. Almost 50% of people participate in a social or community group at least monthly (Australian Council on the Ageing (ACOTA), 1985).

According to a survey of health, welfare and family support for the elderly, the majority of elderly people, whether they live with someone or live alone, live in close proximity to children (Gibson, 1983). This suggests that community care primarily by spouses and children is available to most of the surveyed elderly people in a time of crisis. Families provide much of the support for the elderly residing at home but this is sometimes supplemented with other community services. There are, however, a minority who are physically disabled and vulnerable due to little or no family support. In fact only 7% of the elderly people surveyed made use of the three main community services: housekeeping, meals on wheels and home nursing (Gibson, 1983).

Thus it can be concluded of the aged population over 70 years that the majority: live in a private home with someone close; have family residing nearby

who provide the majority of assistance; do not depend heavily on services provided by agencies; and are not socially isolated. General practitioners, therefore, may need to intervene in relation to these aspects of welfare of the elderly in a small minority of cases.

#### 1.3.4 Physical health

It is frequently suggested that the greater the degree of physical morbidity, the more likely it is that a person will consult a doctor (Lurie, 1987). Thus it is of relevance to this study briefly to describe, in general terms, the level of physical health in the aged population.

The majority of people over 60 years who live in the community consider themselves to be healthy and are "relatively unaffected by sickness and disability" (p. 64) and only about 10% were found to be in poor health (Gibson, 1983). About one third of the people who were surveyed to determine their needs and resources had problems with eyesight, hearing, their feet or mobility. These authors also found little evidence for age related decline in physical health.

In some respects it is perhaps of more interest to note that elderly people perceived 'good health' to be related to independence and a sound mental state rather than their physical health *per se*. They also felt that general practitioners were only required for "reassurance and information about illnesses and treatments" (Saltman *et al*, 1989).

## 1.4 Outline of thesis

The next three chapters review the literature encompassing all aspects of

the thesis. Chapter 2 briefly sets the epidemiological scene for mental disorders in the aged population over the coming years. Chapter 3 considers the reasons why patients, not only the aged, do or do not consult a general practitioner. It also examines the factors which influence the detection of mental illness. Chapter 4 focuses more particularly on the elderly and reviews the literature on general practitioners' recognition of dementia and depression in depth. This chapter also highlights some of the issues which may affect recognition of mental illness in the elderly. Finally, it draws together the theoretical framework outlined in the first four chapters and links them in a practical sense to the research plan.

Chapter 5 describes the methods used to examine Aims 1 and 2. Chapters 6 and 7 analyse and discuss the findings of this component of the study on recognition. Chapter 8 presents the methods used to examine Aims 3 and 4. Chapters 9 and 10 analyse and discuss the findings of the second part of the study on knowledge and relate the findings to the first component on detection.

The concluding eleventh Chapter draws together the two components of the study, summarises the principal findings and the limitations, sets the findings within the broader public health framework and suggests extensions and directions for further work.

## **CHAPTER 2**

#### MENTAL HEALTH OF THE ELDERLY

## 2.1 Epidemiology and description of mental disorders in the elderly

Organic brain syndromes, affective disorders, anxiety disorders, hypochondriasis, suicide and paranoid state (delusional disorder) are the main psychiatric illnesses observed in elderly people, the first two being the most conspicuous (reviewed by Henderson & Rosenman, 1989). With the ageing of the population, these two disorders will implicitly increase in prevalence and, therefore, they will be the focus of this thesis.

Epidemiological studies based on community surveys provide most of the data regarding the occurrence of these disorders and they have recently been reviewed by Henderson (1990a) and Jorm & Henderson (1990). Some of their findings on the prevalence of dementia and depression are summarised below.

## 2.2 Dementia

Dementia is not a specific disorder but a group of symptoms or a syndrome. Alzheimer's disease, multiple infarcts, Parkinson's disease, alcohol abuse and depression are some of the disorders which can be associated with dementia (Jorm, 1987). The three conditions which account for most cases of dementia are Alzheimer's disease, which is the most common, vascular dementia and a combination of both of these. The following clinical description of dementia is taken from the Diagnostic Criteria and Guidelines of the Draft ICD-10 on Mental and Behavioural Disorders (May 1990) (p. 31).

> "Dementia is a syndrome due to disease of the brain, usually of a chronic or progressive nature, in which there is impairment of multiple higher cortical functions, including memory, thinking, orientation, comprehension, calculation, learning capacity. language and judgement. Consciousness is not clouded. The cognitive impairments are commonly accompanied, and occasionally preceded, bv deterioration in emotional control, social behaviour, or motivation."

#### 2.2.1 Prevalence of dementia

A statistical integration of data from 22 studies giving age-specific data on

the prevalence of dementia, found that:

- the actual prevalence rates differed greatly from study to study;
- prevalence consistently increased exponentially with age; and

- the prevalence rate of dementia was found to double with every 5.1 years of age (Jorm & Korten, 1988).

Jorm & Korten (1988) used a "baseline model" of prevalence and applied it to age-specific population projections which gives the percentage increase in dementia cases over a base year. The method was applied to recent population projects resulting in the projected increases in dementia cases to the year 2031 (Figure 2.1). The percentage increase in either the total population or the aged



FIGURE 2.1: Projected increases in dementia cases, elderly population and total population for Australia, 1987-2031 (reproduced from Jorm & Henderson, 1990). population will not be as great as the increase in the percentage of cases of dementia. For example, the increase in the total Australian population between 1987 and 2031 is expected to be 65%, the aged population's increase is expected to be 190%, compared with an increase of 245% for the cases of dementia. This marked difference in the percentage increases is due to the concomitant increase in the 'old' old age group, where the prevalence of dementia is highest and is increasing at an even faster rate than the total population or the 'young' old (Hugo & Rudd, 1988; Jorm & Henderson, 1990).

The prevalence of specific dementing diseases, the most common being Alzheimer's disease and multi-infarct dementia, can be estimated with a high level of confidence only by autopsy. In a neuropathological survey of 60 dementia cases in Perth, 73% had changes characteristic of Alzheimer's disease; 45% had neuropathological signs of Alzheimer's disease alone and 28% had Alzheimer's disease as well as other brain pathology (Ojeda *et al*, 1986). This prevalence concurs closely with estimates obtained by Henderson & Jorm (1986) when they summarised neuropathological studies from Europe and concluded that about 70% of patients had Alzheimer's disease or Alzheimer's disease mixed with other dementing disorders. They also concluded that 17% had multi-infarct dementia and the remaining 10% were found to have other related disorders.

The study by Kay *et al* (1985) provides an estimate of 8% as the prevalence of dementia in Hobart, an Australian city, for a sample of community residing, elderly people over 70 years. The authors compared this with similar studies in New York and London and noted that the London prevalence rates were half that of New York and Hobart. The prevalence of dementia, particularly

mild dementia, has also been estimated by Mowry & Burvill (1988) using a random sample of people over 70 years residing in the community in Perth, another Australian city. Their estimates, using the same diagnostic and severity criteria as the Hobart study, were very close to the results of that study. Moreover, they found that prevalence of mild dementia varied greatly depending on the criteria used.

When the prevalence of dementia in general practice settings is examined, considerable variation is also observed. This is due to the methods employed: some studies recruited patients from registers and others from actual consulters. It could be anticipated that the prevalence of dementia amongst patients recruited from a register would be equivalent to that observed in the general population and that it could be higher in consulters. The prevalence observed in comparable studies does not entirely support this idea. Rates observed ranged from about 10% (O'Connnor et al, 1988) to about 20% (Williamson et al, 1964; Parsons, 1965) to over 30% (Mant et al, 1988) where patients were selected from registers. Waxman & Carner (1984) who studied consulters observed a low prevalence of about 7%. Although not addressed in the paper by Mant et al, it is suggested that this prevalence is not a true reflection of an elderly community sample or even a sample of 'consulters' as 78% of the patients resided in hostels or nursing homes where there are high proportions of demented residents (Snowdon, 1986; Snowdon & MacIntosh, 1989). In summary, some studies indicate that the prevalence of dementia amongst consulters is similar to community prevalence rates but other studies suggest that the rate amongst consulters is considerably higher.
## 2.2.2 Alzheimer's disease

Terminology such as "senile dementia of the Alzheimer type" and "atrophic brain syndrome" (Comfort, 1980) have been replaced in recent years by *Alzheimer's disease*.

> "It is a slowly progressive disorder with an insidious onset. Usually the first signs are impairment of recent memory and of the ability to process As the disease progresses, the information. individual's thinking becomes increasingly limited and the ability to retain information deteriorates further. This leads to impaired performance in daily living, such as shopping or the handling of money, holding a conversation, cooking or dressing and behaving in Parietal involvement is an appropriate manner. indicated by difficulty in the use of words (dysphasia), leading to the use of clumsy circumlocutions; or of simple motor acts, such as dressing (dyspraxia). Frontal damage shows as impaired ability to behave appropriately, leading to tactlessness, disinhibition and loss of finer feelings and self-awareness, particularly in company, together with impairment of initiative and planning." (Henderson, 1984)

Certain diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease whilst the patient is alive is impossible and can only be made following the examination of neuropathological changes found at autopsy (McKhann *et al*, 1984).

# 2.2.3 Vascular dementia

Vascular (including multi-infarct<sup>2</sup>) dementia was formerly termed "arteriosclerotic dementia" or "cerebral atherosclerosis" (Comfort, 1980, p. 41).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Multi-infarct dementia is only a subset of vascular dementia. Since 1974, it has become apparent that vascular disease can cause dementia in several different ways, not just through multiple infarction.

It was, however, concluded by Hachinski *et al* in 1974 that infarcts or strokes rather than arteriosclerosis were the cause of dementia.

"The patient usually has a history of hypertension and previous small strokes. With accumulated damage, the picture appears of impaired memory and cognition, pseudobulbar palsy with dysarthria and dysphasia, emotional incontinence ... and a characteristic gait..." (Henderson, 1984)

The progress of multi-infarct dementia is classically described as episodic or stepwise which is in contrast to the steady deterioration observed in Alzheimer's disease.

The prevalence of both Alzheimer's disease and multi-infarct dementia increases with age and so the likelihood of both disorders occurring together also increases.

The definitive clinical description of and diagnostic criteria for dementia of the Alzheimer type and multi-infarct dementia used in this thesis are from the American Psychiatric Association's (APA) *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (3rd Edition-Revised (DSM-III-R), 1987).

## 2.3 Depression

The clinical description and diagnostic criteria for a Major Depressive Episode used in the thesis are also from the APA's DSM-III-R criteria (1987). There are nine possible criteria for depression. To be diagnosed as having a Major Depressive Episode, five symptoms must have been present during the same two-week period and one of the symptoms must be depressed mood or loss of interest or pleasure in activities. The other criteria are weight change; changed sleeping patterns; restlessness or agitation other than as a subjective complaint, but which has been noticed by other people; loss of energy; feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt; reduced ability to concentrate and recurrent thoughts of death or suicide.

To be diagnosed as having dysthymia or symptomatic depression, at least two of the above criteria, as well as depressed mood, must have been present for two years or more.

#### 2.3.1 Prevalence of depression

As Blazer and Williams (1980) point out "depression is one of the most important psychiatric disorders of late life, but the true prevalence of depressive symptoms in the community is unknown." There is evidence to suggest that the prevalence ranges from 5% to as high as 44% in the elderly (Blazer & Williams, 1980; Blazer, 1982). In the Australian Health Survey of 1983, about 9% of people over 65 years experienced nerves, tension or depression during the two weeks prior to the survey. Blazer & Williams' (1980) observed a slightly higher prevalence in a study of almost 1,000 elderly people residing in the community. The authors confirmed previous findings of a high level of depressive symptoms (that is, the elderly individuals displayed depressive symptomatology but not high enough to be "operationally defined in DSM-III") in about 15% of their sample. However, major depression, defined by DSM-III, had a prevalence of only about 2%. In addition, other recent research indicates that depressive disorders in the elderly are probably not as common as in younger age groups (Swartz & Blazer, 1986; Copeland *et al*, 1987; Hendrie & Crossett, 1990; Feinson, 1989). These authors cite evidence similar to that obtained by Blazer & Williams (1980), which suggests that about only 3% were categorised as having a DSM-III 'major depressive episode' but that a much greater proportion suffered from dysphoria, depressive symptoms and a mixed depression-anxiety syndrome which was not severe enough to warrant a DSM-III diagnosis.

Contrary to the above findings, a considerably higher prevalence of major depression was observed in one Australian community sample of elderly people. The prevalence of major depression was found to be about 10% and the rate for dysphoric mood was also comparatively higher, at 19% (Kay *et al*, 1985).

Similar results to the Australian study were obtained in a study of the prevalence of chronic mild depression in elderly Finns with a prevalence of 21% for dysthymic disorder (Kivela & Pahkala, 1989). They also found more elderly women with dysthymia than men, especially in those over 70 years. Widowhood was much more common in this group of women and may contribute to the increase in dysthymic disorders in elderly females.

As a result of this conflicting evidence on the prevalence of depression, Snowdon (1990), in a recent editorial, challenged the findings of low prevalence of major depression in old age. He stated that "Dementia, disability, physical illness, bereavements, and loss of independence and security, are all much more common in old age" and that suicide reaches a peak. "It just does not make sense (especially if clinical experience is taken into account) to suggest that depressive disorders do not also increase with age." He warned that some findings, which have been derived from the "widely-quoted and influential Epidemiologic Catchment Area (E.C.A.) study<sup>"3</sup>, may jeopardise the recognition of treatable depression by recently graduated physicians as they will not be aware that it is a common disorder in the elderly. Snowdon concluded by suggesting the E.C.A. data be reanalysed, especially those relating to physical illness or cognitive impairment because they may be masking depression.

The prevalence of depressive symptoms increases in elderly people who suffer a bereavement and "The presenting symptoms and the underlying dynamics are frequently difficult to disentangle" (Blazer, 1982, p. 164). In addition, the prevalence of major depression has been found to increase with age in the elderly residing in the community (Kay *et al*, 1985). In the U.S.A., fewer elderly people with depression seek help or are given a referral for psychiatric care and mental health facilities are used half as much by the elderly when compared with the general population (Hendrie & Crossett, 1990; Feinson, 1989; Jorm & Henderson, 1989).

There is little information available on the prevalence of depression in the *elderly consulting* patient in primary care settings. In *consulting* samples of patients of all ages, there is considerable variation in the prevalence which ranges from 14% to over 30%. Blacker & Clare (1988) propose that depression, much of it mild, is the most common psychiatric disorder encountered by general practitioners and that 5% of consulting patients suffer from major depressive disorder. Most studies carried out in a general practice setting suggest that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The use of the Diagnostic Interview Schedule (DIS) probe flow chart in the ECA studies disregards depressive symptoms associated with physical illness and may, therefore, falsely reduce the prevalence of diagnosable depression, particularly in older persons.

prevalence is higher than 5%. An indication of prevalence can be obtained from the studies which examined general practitioners' recognition of depression. However, the sample sizes of these studies are small when compared to the large scale community prevalence studies (such as, Copeland *et al*, 1987). Waxman & Carner (1984), using Zung's Self-Rating Depression Scale<sup>4</sup>, observed a prevalence of 17%. Macdonald (1986) found a high prevalence of 31% using the depression scale from the Comprehensive Assessment and Referral Evaluation (CARE) schedule. Pond *et al* (1990) obtained a prevalence of 14% for depression using the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). As a high proportion of patients in this study were from residential care where it is recognised that depression is commonplace (Snowdon, 1986; Snowdon & Donnelly, 1986; Snowdon & MacIntosh, 1989), it might have been expected to find a higher prevalence.

Due to the conflicting evidence and opinions on the prevalence of depression in the elderly, not only in *community* studies but also studies based on *consulters*, the prevalence is not easily determined. The conflict in the evidence appears to be related to the degree to which the elderly present with a depressive syndrome (ranging from major depressive disorder to dysthymia) as well as whether or not the elderly are more depressed than younger people. Further, the question arises whether the *same* diagnostic criteria used for younger people should be applied to the elderly. In summary, the Australian studies suggest that a minimum prevalence for major depression in the *community* may be about 10% and for depression amongst *consulters* may be 14% or more.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The Zung SRDS, CARE and GDS do not *diagnose* depression. The prevalence relating to each scale are, therefore, estimates based on the various cut-points on the respective scales.

# 2.3.2 Management of depression

The treatment and management of depression have recently been extensively reviewed (for example, Johnson & Wilson, 1989; Williams, 1989). Management of depression can be by pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments or a combination of both (Johnson & Wilson, 1989). Diagnostic assessment must be made to ascertain the type and severity of depression, especially to determine if suicidal risk is involved, and identify problems relating to social functioning. This will assist in the decision on the form of treatment (Johnson & Wilson, 1989). The prognosis for elderly people with depression is dependent upon the initial severity of the depression, the physical health of the patient and whether there have been severe life events (Murphy, 1983; Williams, 1989). Elderly men who have a severe physical and/or mental illness, and the threat of institutionalisation are more at risk of suicide than women (Williams, 1989). In a prospective study of 92 elderly depressed in- and out-patients, Murphy (1983) confirmed previous findings that the prognosis for depression in the elderly is poor compared to younger patients. All forms of treatment were available to this group of patients but with disappointing results. Elderly people are less likely to recover from a major depression than younger patients and are more likely to experience further episodes (Blacker & Clare, 1987).

# 2.4 Dementia and depression

Overlapping symptomatology can make it difficult for general practitioners to decide whether a patient suffers from depression with cognitive impairment, dementia with depressive symptoms, or coexisting dementia and depression (Rubin *et al*, 1988). However, the distinction between the two is critical in clinical practice because Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia are progressive<sup>5</sup> and irreversible with no specific treatment but depression is, at least potentially, reversible.

Reports of the prevalence of depression coexisting with Alzheimer's disease have varied markedly from almost zero to over 50% (Rovner *et al*, 1989). Further research on the co-occurrence of depressive and cognitive symptoms is warranted in light of the scarcity of information (reviewed by Henderson, 1990).

In addition, there appears to be very little consensus in this area due to differing sampling methods, diagnostic criteria and various antidepressant strategies (Reynolds *et al*, 1988). However, one point is certain: "a mistaken diagnosis of dementia in such a case may lead a patient with a treatable illness to be inappropriately consigned to nursing home care. Hence, it is best to err on the side of over-diagnosing depression in the elderly." (Henderson & Rosenman, 1989, p. 224)

## 2.5 Anxiety disorders

Although anxiety disorders are not specifically examined in this thesis, they are briefly mentioned here because "Major depressive illness frequently presents with anxiety as its principal manifestation" and anxiety is frequently observed in elderly patients (Henderson & Rosenman, 1989). Many elderly people are continually highly anxious (Blazer, 1982) especially in new situations. Hendrie &

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The progression of vascular dementia can be slowed by anti-platelet reduction (for example, aspirin) (Kellett, 1988; Stirling *et al*, 1989).

Crossett (1990) point out that when elderly patients present with both anxiety and depression, it is the anxiety which appears to be the more disabling and, therefore, the condition which is treated. In fact, it is the depression which should be treated initially not the anxiety (Henderson & Rosenman, 1989; Watts, 1982).

# 2.6 Summary

The majority of elderly people over 70 years of age do not have dementia or depression or any other psychiatric disorder. Nevertheless, with the ageing population there will be more 'old' old people which implies that there will be an exponential increase in physically frail elderly people with dementia or a combination of dementia and depression. Based on current evidence, it is more difficult to make similar predictions on the prevalence of depression. Nevertheless, dementia and depression are, and will probably continue to be, the major mental health problems in the elderly. Dementia and depression, within the general practice setting, therefore, will be the focus of this thesis. The ensuing chapter examines the general practitioners' role in mental health care.

# CHAPTER 3

# ROLE OF GENERAL PRACTITIONERS IN MENTAL HEALTH CARE

## 3.1 General practitioners

General practitioners are the first point of contact for patients; they manage common problems by assessing, treating or counselling patients; they provide or co-ordinate further health care; and they maintain contact with the patient (Petersdorf, 1975; Andersen *et al*, 1986).

General practitioners are thus considered to be the linchpin to mental health care and services (Anonymous, BMJ, 1964). Psychological and emotional problems consume a considerable proportion of their time and effort. They, therefore, require a broad knowledge of psychiatric conditions in order to effectively deal with all aspects of mental health in primary care. For example, familiarity with normal and abnormal psychological conditions from the young to the elderly is essential if general practitioners are to treat mental health conditions effectively (Adams *et al*, 1978).

British researchers initiated research into psychiatric disorders in primary care over three decades ago (for example, Kessel, 1960; Shepherd *et al*, 1966). The results of research into the detection of psychiatric disorders indicate that

many cases do not present to or remain undetected by general practitioners (Shepherd *et al*, 1966; Brody, 1980; Goldberg & Huxley, 1980; Dunn, 1985). Similarly, in Australia there have been a few investigations of general practitioners' detection of psychological disorders in their patients (Chancellor *et al*, 1977; Brodaty *et al*, 1982).

There have been fewer studies on the detection by general practitioners of mental disorders in elderly patients and the most frequently cited studies have all been carried out in the United Kingdom (Williamson *et al*, 1964; Parsons, 1965; Macdonald, 1986). The only known study undertaken specifically on the aged population in Australia was by Mant (1988) and Pond (1990) and their colleagues. These studies on elderly people will be explored in depth in the next Chapter. This Chapter deals primarily with a review of general practice studies in respect of the younger adult.

## 3.2 Conceptual model of primary care

From the research on samples of the general population, it has become evident that:

- psychiatrists and other mental health professionals are consulted by a small, atypical segment of the general population; and
- the majority of people with mental disorders consult their general practitioners.

The National Health Service (NHS) in the United Kingdom has a number of similarities, but is far from being the same as the health care system in Australia.

For example, the concept of general practitioners being the gate-keeper to specialist care is the same but the funding mechanism is very different. In the U.S.A., general or family practitioners, for the most part, are not the gate-keeper to specialist care, which can be obtained without referral. This appears to be changing and the gatekeeper concept is being tested in the hope that health care can be provided more cost-effectively (Eisenberg, 1985).

In the U.K., the majority of people are registered with a general practitioner who represents "a common channel through which individuals may obtain medical advice and care; [and] his records offer a potentially unique opportunity" for research (Dunn, 1985). The health care system in the United Kingdom has distinct advantages for research as the denominator is known thereby allowing a methodical and more precise investigation to be undertaken on patients registered with a general practice. The work of Goldberg & Huxley (1980) is an example of research undertaken within the health care system of the United Kingdom. They devised a model which conceptualises the 'selection processes' for psychologically disordered individuals who must pass through a range of filters in order to obtain different levels of care. This model provides the theoretical framework for the present study. Goldberg & Huxley (1980) illustrated their model with a Venn diagram, which has been modified for the purposes of this thesis (Figure 3.1). The present study deals directly with only part of the framework, that is, 'Level 1' and 'Levels 2 and 3', and the concomitant first and second filters. Level 1 represents psychological morbidity in the general community; Level 2 represents psychological morbidity among patients attending general practitioners regardless of whether or not the general practitioner has



are indicated by shading. Specialist mental health care could be obtained from neurologists, geriatricians or psychiatrists for example. detection of mental illness in general practice (adapted from Goldberg & Huxley (1980)). The steps which are the focus of this study FIGURE 3 . 1 : Pathway to mental health care: diagrammatic representation of a conceptual model of "selection processes" for the

detected the disorder; and Level 3 represents patients who are assessed by general practitioners to have a psychological disorder or 'conspicuous psychiatric morbidity', a phrase coined by Kessel in 1960.

The present study is primarily focused on the 'first filter', that is, the consulting population who has psychological disorders which may or may not be recognised by their general practitioners and the subsequent second level which consists of the consulting population with 'conspicuous psychiatric morbidity' and 'hidden psychiatric morbidity' (Goldberg & Blackwell, 1970).

# 3.3 Non-consulters and the decision to consult

In focusing on the so called 'first filter' and subsequent Level 2, it must be recognised that there are people with psychological disorders who do not present at their general practice (Level 1). Factors determining whether medical help is sought may include the lack of a general practitioner in close proximity combined with inadequate transport; lack of assistance or interest by the general practitioner in the past; a perceived deficiency in or lack of knowledge of services; an unwillingness or an inability to face or accept symptoms; perhaps an unwillingness to burden others; or there may be financial disincentives. Elderly people in particular may attribute their symptoms to their age, or an appointment with a general practitioner may be too difficult or too exhausting (Henderson & Rosenman, 1989) (discussed further in Section 4.1).

As the severity of symptoms (either physical or mental) increases, the likelihood of a consultation increases. Factors associated with self-referral to general practitioners were examined by Ingham and Miller (1982) who concluded that symptom severity was the main determinant of a person seeking a consultation. In addition they showed that, if the patient thought that there was a physical cause of her/his problem, s/he were more likely to consult than if s/he thought it was a psychological cause.

People visit general practitioners primarily because they are experiencing symptoms which relate to a physical disorder. However, evidence has been gradually built up to suggest that a significant proportion of such patients have coexisting psychological symptoms (Burvill, 1988). Somatic presentation of psychiatric illness in primary care settings is the single most common reason why psychiatric disorders remain undetected in general practice (Goldberg & Bridges, 1985).

Shepherd and his colleagues (1966) found that "in the majority of cases of minor psychiatric disorder ..... the main burden of medical care rests on the general practitioner." (p. 163) They also stressed that the "implications for the medical care of mentally disturbed patients" delineate into two distinct categories: "indications for referral to a psychiatric specialist, and the function of the general practitioner in relation to those psychiatric conditions which he must treat himself." (p. 172-3).

If a general practitioner has been alerted to a 'hidden' psychiatric disorder, patients were more likely to recover quickly (Johnstone & Goldberg, 1976). Over 1,000 consecutive consulters at a general practitioner's surgery in Yorkshire were screened using the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ). Thirty two percent were found to have a 'conspicuous' psychiatric disorder and 11% were 'hidden'. Those with a 'hidden' disorder were split into two groups: treated and control. As a result of the case identification, treatment was shown to be "beneficial and immediate". The duration of the disturbance was significantly shorter in the treated group.

There will always be a group of people in the community who choose not to consult a general practitioner for a range of reasons. But as mental or physical symptoms worsen, the likelihood of a person consulting a general practitioner increases. However, psychological disorders may be masked by physical symptoms. This may be particularly so in the elderly with their higher level of physical morbidity. General practitioners must, therefore, be alert to the symptoms and signs of psychological disorders.

# 3.4 Detection of psychological disorders in general practice

"Detection", defined by The Oxford Dictionary, is to "discover the existence or presence of" and "recognition" is "to acknowledge the existence of or discover the nature of". Since the definitions are synonymous, detection and recognition will be used interchangeably throughout the thesis. This section reviews a selection of the evidence which shows that general practitioners frequently miss a significant proportion of patients with psychiatric disorders and vary greatly in their recognition rates when compared against the data obtained with case-finding instruments. As Sanson-Fisher & Hennrikus (1988) point out "The general practitioner... is in an advantageous position to detect disturbance, and there are a number of potential benefits of accurate detection... [but] there is evidence to suggest that the first component of treatment, that is, detection, is not adequately carried out." Goldberg and his colleagues (Marks *et al.*, 1979; Goldberg & Huxley, 1980) have proposed that there are two components to under-recognition or misclassification. The first is the degree to which general practitioners' assessment or diagnosis agrees with patients' self-assessment such as the GHQ, or with an independent psychiatric assessment. The second component is a bias which is a general practitioner's consistent tendency to make, or avoid making, a diagnosis. Bias relates to the general practitioners' personality, attitudes and experience, and accuracy of diagnosis is influenced by how a consultation is conducted. This component, and possible reasons for it, are discussed below in Section 4.5.

Sanson-Fisher & Hennrikus (1988) have compared the results of studies into the detection of psychological disturbances in primary care and found a large variation in rates of psychological disorders. The proportion of patients with a psychological disturbance (scored on a case-finding instrument) correctly identified by the general practitioners (sensitivity) ranged from 27% to 74%. In other words, some detect disorders accurately but in the majority of cases there is significant disagreement with instruments. Marks *et al* (1979), in a large and much cited study carried out in Manchester on the determinants of the ability of general practitioners to recognise psychiatric disorders, compared doctors' ratings of 'conspicuous morbidity' with patients' responses to the GHQ. The sensitivity was 54% which meant that the general practitioners missed almost half of the possible cases.

Shepherd and his colleagues (1966) found a nine-fold variation in the recognition of psychological morbidity by 14 general practitioners in London. Having analysed data on the characteristics of general practitioners and their

practices, they concluded that the difference was primarily due to variation in the ability of general practitioners to recognise psychiatric symptoms and not to differences between practices in the prevalence of disorders.

Skuse & Williams (1984) screened 272 patients for psychiatric disorder through one general practitioner in a London practice. In this particular study, the general practitioner's rating was compared with the GHQ and an independent psychiatric assessment. The general practitioner identified only 51% of the psychiatric morbidity in his practice.

The results obtained by Sireling *et al* (1985) with 36 participating general practitioners were of the same order, as major depression was more often missed than detected. This study compared three groups of patients: two in whom depressive symptoms had been recognised and treated with antidepressants or other treatments by the general practitioners; and the third comprised missed cases. The general practitioners prescribed antidepressants for eight cases and nine others received another treatment. Twenty four cases of major depressive disorder were missed. It is also important to note that about a quarter of the patients treated by the general practitioners did not meet diagnostic criteria for depression and that, even though the majority did satisfy the criteria, the cases were considered to be mild compared with cases treated by psychiatrists.

Borus *et al* (1988), in a study of primary health care providers' recognition and diagnosis of psychiatric disorders in Boston, compared assessments by the providers of the emotional state of their patients with mental health professionals' assessments of the same patient using a structured clinical interview. The primary care providers did not recognise 64% of their patients with a psychiatric disorder and were unable to identify the specific mental disorder in the majority of cases.

Defining 'recognition' and how often a 'mental diagnosis' should be made is difficult in a general practice setting. This point was demonstrated by Jencks (1985) when he analysed data obtained in an American survey of 45,000 patients' visits to primary care physicians in office practice. This survey of visits, rather than patients, found that a high proportion of visits recorded treatment (either psychotropic drugs or psychotherapy) without a diagnosis of a mental disorder; the patients tended to be older, established patients who saw the physician for a short time and were more likely to have a follow-up visit. Jencks (1985), however, was unable to clarify whether treatment without a diagnosis resulted from an inadequate diagnostic system or inadequate physician knowledge and skills. It may be that general practitioners consider psychiatric symptoms are combined with certain somatic disorders or that there are limitations to the psychiatric classificatory systems currently in use in primary care (discussed in detail in Section 3.3.5 below).

In perhaps the first of the Australian studies into general practitioners' identification and management of emotional disorders, 15 general practitioners' opinions on the nature of problems underlying a consultation were sought (Chancellor *et al*, 1977). The problem could have been physical, emotional or social and the management planned could have been counselling and/or the prescription of psychotropic drugs. The general practitioners' opinions were compared with the patients' scores on the GHQ-30. The general practitioners identified 60 of the 225 people assessed as emotionally disturbed by the GHQ (27% sensitivity). The GHQ identified young women to be more psychologically

disturbed and elderly people to be less psychologically disturbed. In contrast, the general practitioners assessed elderly women to be more disturbed than young women (Chancellor *et al*, 1977).

In an extension of the above study and using the same sample of general practitioners, 13 general practices were surveyed to determine why general practitioners miss psychiatric disorders in many of their patients (Brodaty et al, 1982). Two hundred and fifteen patients were categorised as either having a psychiatric disorder or not by the general practitioner and by a psychiatrist, and this was compared with the GHQ score. The general practitioner missed about half the patients with significant psychological symptoms. The observing psychiatrist did not differ greatly from the general practitioners and did not identify many more cases. The patient or general practitioner attributes, and psychological attitude scores, did not determine accuracy, but inadequate information being obtained from the patient by the general practitioner did. The authors suggested that if the observing psychiatrist had conducted the consultation, the detection rate would have improved because that was how the GHQ was validated. Thus, they imply that the general practitioners were not obtaining adequate information from the patient and the patient was not forthcoming with the necessary information.

More recently, Hennrikus *et al* (unpublished) compared 56 general practitioners' ratings of pscyhiatric disorders in about 1700 patients. Their results were similar to the above studies as the general practitioners did not identify about one quarter of the patients who scored 11 or more on the GHQ-30. These authors also observed considerable variation in levels of accuracy and suggested

that attitudes of general practitioners to the treatment of psychiatric disorders and doctor patient communication influenced accuracy.

As concluded by Sanson-Fisher & Hennrikus (1988), "it is clear that GPs do not detect psychological disturbance in a large proportion of their patients whose scores on a screening questionnaire are in the probable case range" (p. 248) and that there is great variability in the accuracy of general practitioners. The critical question then, is: Why do general practitioners miss such a high proportion of psychological disturbances?

# 3.5 Factors which influence recognition

There are more possible reasons for poor recognition rates of psychiatric disorders in general practice other than those mentioned above. First, knowledge of or interest in psychiatric disorders by general practitioners may be minimal; second, short consultations or financial constraints prevent them from giving sufficient time to patients; third, the manner and attitude of the general practitioner towards a psychologically disturbed patient can influence whether or not the disturbance is raised by the patient or detected by the general practitioner; and, fourth, general practitioners may have reservations regarding the efficacy of the range of treatments available, and therefore overlook psychological disturbances. (These factors are discussed in relation to elderly patients in Section 4.5 below). Recognition could also be influenced by a combination of two or more of these reasons.

Information from families and friends assists in the recognition of psychological disturbances. It is widely acknowledged that family members and friends, rather than patients, provide reliable and accurate information, especially in relation to cognitive impairment, for example (O'Connor *et al*, 1990). However, there is little reported evidence in the literature of informants being a formally accepted source of reliable information in the general practice setting and thus a valuable aid to accurate recognition of psychological illness.

Wilmink and his colleagues (1989) in a recent investigation in the Netherlands, examined general practitioners' characteristics in relation to their assessment of psychiatric illness. A sample of 25 general practitioners was divided by the researchers into three groups: clinical orientation, intermediate, and family medicine orientation. Then a sample of 2237 patients, who were consecutive consulters on ten days over four weeks, was divided into subgroups according to their GHQ score, general practitioner rating and whether they were 'old patients' (with a previous mental health problem) or 'new patients' (without a problem). They found that general practitioners under-identified psychiatric disorders in 'new' and over-identified them in 'old' patients and that there were no differences in the general practitioners' assessment behaviour between the three categories.

In an important study aimed at finding how patients communicate psychological distress and the ability of general practitioners to recognise verbal, vocal, postural and body movement cues given by the patient to their distress, Davenport and his colleagues (1987) found that some patients with psychiatric disorders exhibited fewer cues whilst consulting with a general practitioner who was less accurate in his/her detection of psychiatric disorders than the others in the study. This indicates that such a general practitioner *suppresses the expression* of verbal and vocal cues. The more able general practitioner actively facilitates the expression of verbal and vocal cues. The conclusion drawn from this study is that many psychiatric illnesses that were 'hidden' from general practitioners and hospital-based doctors might be detected if patients were interviewed in a different way.

Patients are, to some extent, aware of general practitioners' communication shortcomings. About 100 consecutive patients from 31 general practices in Adelaide, South Australia, were questioned about dissatisfaction with aspects of care provided by general practitioners (Steven & Douglas, 1988). Patients were satisfied with the time they spend with their doctor but they were concerned about feeling rushed during the consultation and being "discouraged from asking questions".

As Davenport and his colleagues (1987) found and Tanner (1976) has explored in some depth, messages transmitted without words are an important aspect of doctor-patient communication. Non-verbal communication can be performed both vocally ('mmm') or non-vocally which encompasses a range of different modes of communication. Verbal communication encompasses a range of behaviours. Tanner (1976) suggested that there are three main behaviours: doctor-centred (which includes directing, clarifying, doubting, justifying self and terminating); patient-centred (which includes offering, exploring, accepting patient ideas, using silence); and negative behaviour (for example, rejecting patient offers, evading patient questions, not listening, confused noise). T a n n e r (1976) has also examined non-verbal communication in general practice in some detail. He lists and discusses a range of factors which are non-verbal and which may affect communication during a consultation. These factors include clothing, the configuration of surgery furniture, time, facial expressions, body posture, eye contact and hand gestures.

*Clothes*: He asks the question: "The white coat of the hospital doctor for example may identify the doctor for the patients and other staff, but is this to facilitate or inhibit communication?" (p. 166)

*Position of furniture*: The doctor should arrange chairs and desk so that he is accessible to the patient and the patient feels at ease.

*Time*: "Patients generally accept that if they go to see a doctor they will have to wait whether or not an appointment has been made. No other profession uses time so effectively as a weapon as the medical profession." (p. 169) The non-verbal message conveyed by waiting is that the doctor is busy and does not have a lot of time to spend with a patient.

Facial expression and body postures: Head and facial expressions have been found to convey information about affect (for example, anger or pleasure) and body postures express the degree of affect (that is, how angry or how much pleasure).

Eye contact and hand gestures have both been shown to be important instruments of communication (Tanner, 1976). These two forms of communication have been suggested by Goldberg and his colleagues to be highly important in the detection of mental illness in general practice.

Many of these points have been affirmed by Goldberg (1990) who cites recent work which suggests that general practitioners who identify true cases correctly make more eye contact with their patients, interrupt the patients less and make more "facilitative noises". He also cites evidence that general practitioners who accurately detect a psychological disorder, manage the case better.

Marks and his colleagues (1979) (cited above), also examined characteristics of the general practitioners and patients to endeavour to determine the reason for the variation in the detection rate. They concluded that the general practitioner's accuracy in the detection of psychiatric illness depended on three factors: "the way in which the doctor interviews his patients, his personality, and his academic ability." In relating the general practitioner's accuracy in detection of psychiatric disorders to his/her attitude, 'interest and concern' correlated positively with accuracy, but 'conservatism' correlated negatively. The manner in which the general practitioner interviewed patients was found to be important.

In an innovative study undertaken in Edinburgh, Walton (1966) investigated the influence of general practitioners' personality factors on psychological aspects of general practice. He found that there were two types of doctor: those who were 'psychologically oriented' and those who were 'somatically oriented'. He observed that there was a difference between the two groups and that 'psychologically oriented' doctors were more reflective and interested in abstract ideas than the 'somatically oriented'.

As Goldberg & Huxley (1980) state, patients who present with physical symptoms will not be forthcoming about their mental condition until the general practitioner makes a pointed enquiry. Perhaps that is one reason why females are more likely than males to have their disturbances detected (Redman *et al*, 1991)<sup>6</sup>,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Redman *et al* (1991) found no statistically significant difference between the level of psychiatric disturbance in male and female patients using the GHQ-30.

as are middle-aged rather than young or elderly patients (Chancellor *et al*, 1977). It is not only the general practitioner, therefore, who can influence the assessment of psychiatric illness but also the patient.

Goldberg (1990) concludes a review of reasons for misdiagnosis by listing three skills which he thinks will improve general practitioners' recognition rate:

> "first, how to interview in such a way that emotional distress associated with presenting symptoms will be elicited; second, how to assess the severity of distress and the need for various types of intervention; and third, how to counsel patients with psychosocial distress."

In order to improve general practitioners' recognition of psychological disorders, it is apparent that it is these three skills which must be emphasised in curricula for students and in courses for trained general practitioners. Gask *et al* (1987, 1988) evaluated such courses and found that these skills improved significantly. Rutz *et al* (1989) pointed out that evaluation is difficult but that they succeeded in improving diagnostic and treatment skills; decreasing inpatient care and sick leave; and having a beneficial effect on the prevention of suicides. They also found that the general practitioners appreciated the educational program.

On the other hand, an American training course which was designed to enable primary care physicians to assume a comprehensive and active psychiatric role with patients was found to be unsuccessful (Jones *et al*, 1988). On evaluation, they found that a high proportion of the participants did not recognise, diagnose or treat the majority of patients with serious psychopathology.

Perhaps the most sensible and successful approach to training of general practitioners is to "encourage physicians to do more than they now do, but .... not foster unrealistic expectations that can only lead to frustration and disappointment for patient, doctor, and teacher." (Feldman, 1978).

## 3.6 Defining a 'case'

"The concept of a case ... is a man-made construct, imposed by setting a threshold on what is a continuum of symptom severity" (Henderson, 1988, p. 125). In other words, psychiatric disorders lie on a continuum from normality to severe disorders and a 'case' is selected by an arbitrary cutoff on the continuum. The general practitioner has not only to determine where *illness* and *distress* lie on the continuum but determine where the respective treatment thresholds lie. Thresholds used in primary care settings may be inappropriate and different to those used in other settings. Differing concepts of psychiatric caseness by general practitioners may also contribute to the under-recognition of psychiatric disturbances in consulters. As Sanson-Fisher & Hennrikus (1988) point out, the general practitioner may have a different idea of what comprises psychiatric disorders especially when compared with standardised questionnaires.

A classification system has been designed by Goldberg (1982) to assist general practitioners 'label' the 'distress' of their patients in order to devise a plan of management for them. The 'labels' or classifications range from major syndromes to distress syndromes: (i) major psychiatric illnesses, for example, schizophrenia and psychotic depression, which should be 'labelled'; (ii) psychological distress not requiring specific intervention, that is, distress considered to be at a 'subclinical' level where a 'label' should be avoided but problems should be aired; and (iii) psychological distress requiring intervention where 'labelling' and specific interventions may be required. Goldberg considers this latter group to be large and the most important group. They generally have a depressive illness and benefit from antidepressant medication or social and psychological intervention. As Goldberg points out, patients describe a range of physical illnesses and stressful life events which make it much more unlikely that a patient's distress will be recognised by the general practitioner.

## 3.7 Classification and screening questionnaires

The variability in recognition of psychiatric morbidity in elderly people and low diagnostic agreement between general practitioners discussed above indicate that the systems of classification for psychiatric disorders may be inadequate for use in general practice (Clare, 1983; Jenkins *et al*, 1988; Henderson, 1988).

Jenkins and her colleagues (1988) suggest that the current systems of classification hinder general practitioners in their diagnosis of psychiatric disorders. Further, in a recent Australian study of general practitioners recognition and management of psychiatric illness, the general practitioners said that they found traditional psychiatric systems of classification unhelpful (McNamara & Lewin, 1989). These difficulties may arise because fully developed illnesses are rare and the "frequency with which patients present symptoms and signs which do not fit established hospital diagnostic patterns conspire to force the general practitioner to bypass diagnosis, preferring to temporize and move directly from symptoms, signs and investigations to treatment" (Jenkins *et al*, 1988, p. 41).

In order to overcome these problems of diagnosis it is necessary to have a "systematic method for determining, firstly, the likely presence of a psychiatric

43

disorder, and secondly, what diagnosis can be made." (Henderson, 1988, p.22) The tools used to facilitate this approach are questionnaires (or instruments) and standardised interviews. Screening instruments, such as the well-established GHQ (Goldberg, 1972) have enabled general practitioners to detect previously unsuspected psychiatric disorders (for example, Johnston & Goldberg, 1976).

As Goldberg & Huxley (1980) point out, the simplest and least expensive method of measuring the accuracy of physicians' diagnoses is to compare their assessment of a patient with the patient's reported symptom levels on a screening questionnaire. The aim of screening "is to identify patients so that they can be treated rather than simply counted". A very valid point has been made by Cooper (1989) regarding the actual administration of an instrument. He feels that if such screening instruments are administered by nurses or receptionists routinely, there is a risk of distressing or alienating patients.

Jenkins and her colleagues (1988, p. 43) suggest that "a more comprehensive system of classification", (than, for example, DSM-III) which is tailored to the multidimensional requirements of primary care is necessary. To this end, they have devised a quadraxial classification schema for primary care which encompasses psychological, social, personality and physical axes. "Without a commonly accepted diagnostic language in general practice, it is impossible to communicate about patients, to establish reliable standards of care, to evaluate advances in treatment or to practice development of primary care health services." (Jenkins *et al*, 1988, p. 41)

ļ

# 3.8 Treatment and referral

There are two important factors at the 'conspicuous psychiatric morbidity' level (Level 3) which impinge on this study. The first is the treatment provided by the general practitioner and the second is the outcome for patients with a mental illness.

## 3.8.1 Why treat mental disorders?

Shepherd and his colleagues (1966) found that "no treatment recorded", sedatives and reassurance were the most common treatments (p. 153) and that the type of treatment was related to the age and sex of the patient. Hence, the rather critical conclusion that "Treatment of minor psychiatric disorders in general practice is often haphazard and inadequate" (Shepherd et al, 1966, p. 175). The second point relates to the outcome for patients with psychiatric disorders seen in general practice. Why is it worthwhile detecting mental disorders in the general practice setting? Johnstone & Goldberg (1976) demonstrated that recognition of 'hidden' psychiatric illnesses did reduce the length of the emotional disorder and detection significantly reduced the length of the disorder in more severe cases. But Hoeper and his colleagues (1984) when screening with the GHQ were unable to repeat this finding. The primary care physicians' identification of disorders was not influenced by the patient's GHQ score. They did not alter their attitude toward patients with high GHQ scores. However, Goldberg (1990) (and Goldberg & Williams, 1988) suggested that there were flaws in the design of the study and that the patient would not benefit unless the general practitioner used the knowledge of a high GHQ score in a constructive way. For example, symptoms were not discussed with or assistance offered to the patients with high scores. In addition, Freeling *et al* (1985) demonstrated that undetected depressive illness tended to last longer than detected depressive illness. These authors felt that the failure to recognise depression was not related to skills or attitudes but rather to the general practitioners knowledge of depressive symptoms.

In a review of depression in the elderly, Hendrie & Crossett (1990) cited evidence which suggested that if treatment was well after the onset of symptoms, the prognosis was the worst and "that early intervention could be effective in reducing chronicity".

The use of prescribed drugs increased with the age of the patient, whilst advice, reassurance, psychotherapy by the general practitioner or psychiatric referral became less likely with advancing age (Shepherd *et al*, 1966).

# 3.8.2 The decision to refer

The effect of the general practitioners' treatment on mentally disturbed patients who have been identified (second filter) is critical within the model as it determines whether or not the general practitioner refers a patient to specialist mental health care (third filter). Surveys (reviewed by Goldberg & Huxley, 1980) suggest that only 1% of up to 15%, diagnosed as a psychiatric case, were referred to a psychiatrist and that they were more likely to be chronic than acute cases. In Shepherd and his colleagues' (1966) study on psychiatric illness in general practice, they found at least 15% of the patients who consulted over a period of 12 months had consulted, at least once, for a disorder diagnosed as primarily psychological. However, only 5% (of the 15%) of these patients were referred to

a mental health specialist.

Some possible reasons for non-referral are that general practitioners:

- are dissatisfied with the lack of collaboration with psychiatrists;
- are aware of long delays for consultations (Langsley, 1982);
- are of the view that the patients would not like to be referred; and
- feel that the care of the mentally disturbed is their function (Shepherd *et al*, 1966).

There is evidence to suggest that there may be some justification to the last point. Findings by Hopkins and Cooper (1969) in a study of psychiatric referral patterns and outcomes in London found that the majority of patients did not keep their first appointment with a specialist or did not continue attending. In addition, at the termination of hospital care, a small proportion (8%) were considered to have recovered, a third were considered to be 'relieved' but almost 60% were considered to be unimproved.

It is also possible that some general practitioners avoid patients with psychological disorders and refer them to a psychiatrist. In an attitudinal survey of general practitioners and specialists carried out in New York, over half of the general practitioners avoided psychiatric patients because they lacked knowledge and patience or were unable to understand emotional suffering. It was suggested that such attitudes could be related to personality factors (Krakowski, 1973).

# 3.9 Summary

This chapter has examined the underlying principles and factors relating to the role and performance of general practitioners in the detection of psychological disturbances. The evidence confirms that general practitioners are the gatekeeper for mental health care (that is, they are in the optimal position open the gate at Level 2 to facilitate entry to the second filter) but that there are limitations to their ability to detect psychological disturbances. Many factors which inhibit entry to the second filter have been presented. Perhaps the most positive and pragmatic approach to improvement is to further develop general practitioners' communication and consultation techniques and in so doing enhance their performance.

It is not until patients have passed the second filter that treatment or referral can be obtained. General practitioners treat the majority of patients before they reach the third filter as relatively few patients are referred to a mental health specialist. Thus it is imperative that patients with 'conspicuous psychiatric morbidity' are treated seriously and appropriately by general practitioners. With a commonly agreed diagnostic schema for primary care, decisions on diagnosis would become more accurate, and treatment and referral would become more standardised.

## 3.9.1 The future of general practice

"General practitioners in the years ahead will be servicing a more demanding and discerning population with far more competition both from within the profession and without." (Andersen *et al*, 1986, p. 115) This statement is true for people of all ages but particularly so in relation to our ageing population. They will be more demanding and discerning for a range of reasons: for example, they will probably be better educated, be more financially secure, more economically and physically independent than previous generations. And so it would be true to say that "...the ultimate survival of general practice in Australia will depend on the capacity of the individual general practitioner to project an attitude of caring whilst attending to the needs of individuals and families." (Andersen *et al*, 1986, p. 115)

Research on the detection of psychological disorders in the consulting population has shown that there is room for improvement in general practitioners' accuracy at identification. In order to improve the detection rate, general practitioners must first be convinced that the time spent in diagnosing and then treating a psychological disturbance is worth it in terms of their patient's recovery and their monetary return. Training in techniques which have been demonstrated to improve detection of psychological disorders (for example, Gask *et al*, 1987, 1988) will be successful only when general practitioners have been convinced that the detection of psychological disorders, especially in their elderly patients, is worthwhile.

#### CHAPTER 4

## GENERAL PRACTITIONERS AND

## MENTAL HEALTH CARE OF THE ELDERLY

## 4.1 Introduction

General practitioners are in a unique position to detect, diagnose and treat mental illness within their practices, but from the evidence from research undertaken over the last three decades, it seems that this is more easily said than done. This appears to be particularly so when the aged population is studied specifically. These aspects will be reviewed in this chapter.

For elderly people to live in the community in most Western countries, they need to be independent and this hinges on three factors: physical, psychological and social.

> "The various forms of handicap - chronic physical illhealth, sensory and cognitive impairment, emotional disturbance, social isolation - tend if unchecked to lead by a final common pathway to disability, dependence and institutional care. It can thus be argued that a logical first step in preventive action is the *identification* [my emphasis] of those elderly members of a population who stand at increased risk of becoming chronically disabled and dependent, and that mental disorders represent one important group of risk-factors in this context." (Cooper & Schwartz, 1982)

As general practitioners are regarded as the key to the first step to

identification of mental disorders in the elderly (Henderson, 1990), it is of particular interest to examine their performance. This Chapter examines and reviews the literature on general practitioners' recognition and diagnosis of dementia and depression in elderly patients which, for the most part, is in addition to physical disabilities. Although psychiatric disturbances in elderly people are influential in determining whether they consult a general practitioner (Brodaty et al, 1990), a substantial number with disturbances do not consult (Morgan et al, The latter authors surveyed a large sample of elderly people in 1987). Nottinghamshire regarding their mental and physical health and also regarding their contact with primary care and social services. It was found that more than half the patients assessed as 'psychiatrically ill' did not consult their general practitioners in the previous month and were not receiving treatment. In terms of Goldberg & Huxley's model, there is a substantial proportion of the aged population who remain at Level 1 and do not proceed to the first filter (Goldberg & Huxley, 1980).

General practitioners are clearly the linchpin in the mental health care of their elderly patients. Many general practitioners have had long-term involvement with elderly patients and their families; they know their medical history; and they know about their resources, attitudes, behaviours and living conditions.

Further, 91% of people over 60 years surveyed in Sydney in 1981 had consulted a general practitioner in the preceding 12 months (Gibson, 1983). In addition, elderly people consult doctors more frequently as their age increases. Fifty two percent of people between 65 and 79 years consulted a doctor at least monthly compared with 66% of those over 80 years. The frequency of home visits
by doctors also increases with the age of the patient (ACOTA, 1985).

It is commonly understood but not often documented that elderly people:

- often do not report disabilities until they are well advanced (Williamson *et al*, 1964);
- are "reluctant to bother doctors" (Freer, 1985); or
- are highly unlikely to report failing memory and reduced cognitive functioning (Henderson, 1984).

Demented people are often unaware of their own cognitive decline and are not, therefore, motivated to seek assistance. Depressed elderly people, on the other hand, are more likely to seek help from their general practitioners (O'Connor *et al*, 1990). Complaints of impaired memory can reflect depression. These authors warn, therefore, that health professionals should always be alert to complaints of impaired memory because not all depressed people complain of an impaired memory and that some people with dementia are aware of their deteriorating memory.

In a study in Melbourne (cited by Dudgeon *et al*, 1986), which examined the prevalence and incidence of confused elderly people living in the community, they found a low rate of presentation of new cases. This finding suggests that many elderly people become moderately demented before it is diagnosed and that a consultation with a doctor is sought as the result of a crisis. This interpretation supports the above suggestion (by Henderson, 1984) that elderly people are unlikely to report symptoms of dementia. Thus, it is imperative that general practitioners detect mental and physical impairments as early as possible during routine consultations in order to provide timely medical or social interventions.

### 4.2 Recognition of dementia and depression in elderly patients

The most frequently cited studies on the detection by general practitioners of mental illnesses in elderly patients have all been carried out in the United Kingdom (Williamson *et al*, 1964; Parsons, 1965; Macdonald, 1986). All the known studies on the recognition of psychiatric disorders in elderly people are discussed and compared in this section.

The first of the frequently cited studies, by Williamson et al (1964), examined records from three general practices of patients over 65 years in Scotland and randomly selected 200 of them for assessment by a geriatrician and The researchers also interviewed the general practitioners to a psychiatrist. enable them to fill in gaps or add information to the summaries of practice records which had been prepared by the researchers. They found that general practitioners missed 87% of dementia cases and 76% of depressed patients. In addition, the general practitioner was unaware of one in three physical disabilities. The poor performance of the general practitioners in this study may have been partly due to the fact that they had not seen the patients as recently as had the specialists. O'Connor et al (1988) and Cooper (1989) have sounded a cautionary note regarding these findings. They suggest that the semi-structured interview and a short cognitive test were inadequate, when compared with recent research standards for the diagnosis of mild dementia and that the general practitioners' diagnoses were, therefore, assessed against a spurious standard.

Despite some defects in methodology, the study by Williamson *et al* is likely to remain as a classic in this area of psychiatric and geriatric epidemiology. Its effect has been to emphasise how neither the elderly nor their general practitioners are able to give a valid picture of the morbidity present.

The other two well-known studies reported much lower rates of nonrecognition of cases. The first of these is a study by Parsons (1965) which produced comparatively low levels of prevalence and which may have contributed to the higher recognition rate. He examined the mental health of 288 people 65 years or over residing in the community in Swansea and found that the general practitioners missed only two of the eight assessed cases of dementia and one of the two cases of endogenous depression. However, only 7% of cases of previous affective disorder were recognised and three of the four cases of anxiety neurosis, which was markedly influencing the subject's behaviour and life, were missed.

Another study which found that there was only minimal disagreement between general practitioners and a depression scale was carried out on 235 elderly patients in London (Macdonald, 1986). He found that general practitioners missed only 12 out of 68 cases (18%) of depressed patients. When patients who were considered to be marginally depressed by the assessment scale were excluded, the proportion of cases missed by the general practitioners' decreased to 9%. However, in both instances specificity was relatively low, that is, the general practitioners diagnosed a high proportion of patients to be depressed when they were not. Macdonald (1986) calculated the "missed" cases in a slightly unusual manner and reported them as the "proportion of disagreement due to 'missed' depression": the proportions being 19% and 11% respectively. Nevertheless, he too observed low rates of referral and of treatment for depression in the elderly.

Several other recent studies have also shown a greater awareness of

psychiatric disorders, in particular dementia, by general practitioners than was originally found by Williamson and his colleagues (Weyerer, 1983; Philp & Young, 1988; O'Connor *et al*, 1988; Brayne & Calloway, 1990).

More recently, O'Connor *et al* (1988) in Cambridge carried out a study on the recognition of dementia in registered patients by general practitioners and community nurses. They found that 121 of the 208 cases (58%) (using the Cambridge mental disorders of the elderly examination (CAMDEX)) were correctly identified by the general practitioner as at least having possible dementia. They missed 42%. The community nurses correctly identified dementia as at least a possibility in 64 of the 74 patients with dementia known to them. Both the general practitioners and the community nurses mistakenly identified as demented several people with functional disorders, particularly depression.

In an audit in Scotland of a six-partner primary care team's knowledge of the existence of dementia in their patients over 75 years of age, 25 of the sample of 60 were identified as having a "suspected diagnosis of dementia" by the Mental Status Questionnaire (Philp & Young, 1988). When surveyed, no patient with symptomatic dementia was found who was not known to the team. However, 19 of the 21 confirmed cases of dementia were moderate to severe and many of those with mild cognitive impairment (33%) went undetected by the general practitioners and the practice nurse. The involvement of community nurses in this and the previously cited study appears to have had a beneficial effect on the recognition rate.

In an epidemiological study in Cambridgeshire on the cognitive functioning

of 365 women between 70 and 79 years of age, Brayne & Calloway (1990) found relatively high rates of agreement between general practitioners (who rated each subject) and a diagnostic instrument (CAMDEX). The MMSE is part of the CAMDEX and the Information/Orientation scale from the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE) was also included. They found significant disagreement between the various scales especially in cases of mild dementia. Examinations using the CAMDEX detected 19 subjects as demented, while the general practitioners rated 19 subjects as demented but they were not all the same subjects. They did, however, agree on 10 of the cases having dementia.

A random sample of 295 elderly people over the age of 65 years residing in Upper Bavaria was examined by psychiatrically trained physicians who used the Clinical Psychiatric Interview as an aid to determine caseness (Weyerer, 1983). Additional information on 91% of the sample was obtained from the general practitioners and the case rate determined by the general practitioners was only slightly lower than that of the interviewers (1% less of 65 to 74 age group and 3% for the 75 and over age group). However, Weyerer also found that there were a significant number of cases which were not detected by either the interviewer or the general practitioner but he does not say how he found this out.

In addition, Weyerer found that, due to multimorbidity, the average annual usage of general practitioners by those over 65 years of age was very high in comparison with younger age groups. He then presented several hypotheses which might explain why outpatient psychiatric services are under-utilised by the over 65 year group. Hypotheses for the low referral rate included financial restrictions; lower recognition by general practitioners of mental disorders; reluctance of the general practitioners to refer for a range of reasons; reduced access due to distance from services; and that people over 65 years were less informed of the services compared with younger people. This last point suggests that lack of knowledge regarding care and services amongst the elderly may influence not only referrals but also the provision of services.

In a more recent study presently being carried out in Mannheim (Cooper, 1989), about 6% of the 105 consulting patients assessed to date were rated as moderately or severely demented and a further 56% were considered to be suffering from mild memory deficits or mild dementia. When compared with only the moderate to severe dementia cases, assessed by the research interview which was based on CAMDEX criteria, general practitioners detected 55 of the 56 (98%). The sensitivity fell to 71% when patients with mild memory deficits only were included with the mild, moderate and severe cases. Perhaps of equal interest in this study is that the general practitioners tended to over-diagnose, with 22 false positives (55% specificity) when only the moderate and severe cases were included. Specificity improved to 98% when the mildly demented were included.

In another recent European study by Engedal *et al* (1989), about 11% of 334 elderly people residing in the community in Oslo were diagnosed as mentally impaired by a general practitioner with some experience in geriatrics. The general practitioner's ratings were compared with a psychogeriatric assessment resulting in a sensitivity of 79%. The relatively high sensitivity in this study suggests that training in geriatrics improves the recognition rate.

In one of the few American studies similar to those already reviewed, Waxman & Carner (1984) assessed the prevalence of psychiatric symptoms in 140 patients who were over 64 years of age and waiting for a consultation with a physician. Subsequently (about a week later), recognition rates and management strategies were obtained by questioning the 14 participating physicians. No fewer than fifty eight other physicians had refused to participate. Of eight patients with evidence of cognitive impairment, one had been diagnosed as *depressed*; of 18 patients with depressive symptoms, two had been diagnosed as *depressed*; and of six patients with evidence of both depression and cognitive impairment, one had been diagnosed as depressed. Five of the 32 patients with evidence of a psychiatric disorder were receiving treatment, four with antidepressant medication and one by counselling. As this study appears to be the only American study analogous to present one, it is important to highlight the findings of exceptionally low recognition rates and the difficulty in persuading physicians to participate in research.

Another American study is of interest, although the subjects were inpatients of a Veterans' Administration Hospital. Rapp and his colleagues (1988) assessed 150 male inpatients who were 65 years or over for depression. They had been selectively screened for dementia prior to participation. Results of a range of diagnostic and screening interviews were compared with whether or not the disorder had been detected by physicians (house staff). Two of the 23 depressed patients (9%) were identified correctly by the house staff and they concluded that all the screening instruments were much more sensitive to depressive disorders than the procedures used by the house staff.

In an evaluation of a new multidisciplinary Ambulatory Geriatric Evaluation Service (AGES), set up by the Department of Family Medicine at the University of East Carolina, sixty patients were assessed using a range of instruments including the Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire and psychometric testing (Kallman & May, 1989). Among their results, they found that the patients' physicians did not suspect cognitive decline in 30 of 41 affected patients. The physicians did not detect multi-infarct dementia in 5 out of 5 patients; Alzheimer's disease in 16 out of 24; and 9 out of 12 of those with impairments due to medication.

In the only similar study to be undertaken in Australia (Mant *et al*, 1988), a sample of over 200 residents<sup>7</sup> of a retirement village were administered two measures of cognitive impairment: the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and the Blessed Dementia Rating Scale (informant-based data on personal and social functioning). The general practitioners missed 35 of the 77 (45%) patients rated as demented by the two screening instruments.

In a corresponding study (Pond *et al*, 1990), 133 residents<sup>8</sup> 70 years and over were screened for depression using the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). Only four of the 19 (21%) patients who scored in the depressed range of the GDS were detected by their general practitioners. Of particular note in this study is that the general practitioners assessed 10 depressed patients to be normal. Only 4 of the 14 (29%) patients assessed to be depressed by the general practitioners scored in the depressed range on the GDS. As in the previous study, they rightly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The majority (78%) of the subjects resided in an institutional setting: 57% in hostels and 21% in a nursing home. The remaining 22% resided in independent living units.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Although the authors state their sample comprised "non-institutionalised aged residents", over a third of the patients (38%) resided in a hostel of the Anglican Retirement Villages in Sydney, New South Wales.

concluded that the screening instruments for dementia and depression, used in the study, would assist general practitioners to recognise dementia or depression in their elderly patients.

# 4.3 Comparative analysis of general practitioners' accuracy

Most of the above studies on the detection of psychiatric disorders in the elderly by general practitioners are summarised in Table 4.1. This table highlights the considerable variability between the different studies especially in the sensitivity (proportion of true cases correctly identified) and specificity (proportion of correctly identified non-cases) of the general practitioners to psychological disorders in their patients. There are several possible reasons for this variation. First, the design of each of the investigations was not the same. Second, the screening instruments used in the studies were different in most cases, although there were some common tests such as the MMSE. This point is particularly relevant when screening for dementia, as it is very difficult to detect mild dementia using screening instruments in community settings (Kay et al, 1985; Henderson & Jorm, 1987). Third, although over half the studies were carried out in the U.K., there was variation in the location of the general practices and the type and age of patients involved. Finally, the level of physical morbidity may have differed across studies. This may have changed the base-rate, particularly of depressive symptoms. Therefore, the studies are only indirectly comparable. It is also noteworthy that, since the original studies carried out in the mid-1960s, little work has been done in this field until the mid to late 1980s.

In an attempt to ascertain comparative levels of general practitioners'

TABLE 4.1: SUMMARY OF STUDIES ON RECOGNITION OF PSYCHIATRIC DISORDERS IN THE ELDERLY IN GENERAL PRACTICE IN CHRONOLOGICAL ORDER

٠

AUTHORS AND ORIGIN	AGE OF Patient Sample Years	METHOD OF COMPARISON	SAMPLE SIZE OF ATIENTS	GPs		D sensitivit	RECOG DEMENTIA Ly specifity 1	NITION RATES DEPRESSIC sensitivity \$pe	on ' scificity	PSYCHIATRIC DISORDER sensitivity
Milliamson et el. (1964) U.K.	>64	Semi-structured interview & brief psychological,test by psychiatrist	200	3 practices		13	1	24	ı	ı
Parsons (1965) U.K.	>64	Psychiatrist	228	Not available	Current condition: Historical:	60 <sup>(1)</sup> 40 <sup>(1)</sup>		50 (2) B		, ,
Weyerer <sup>(3)</sup> (1983) Germany	65-74 >74	Goldberg's Clinical Psychiatric Interview	295	Not available		a (	F 4		11	66 76
Maxman & Carner (1984) U.S.A.	>64	Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale/ Kahn 6 Goldfarb Mental Status Questionnaire	140	14	·	14 (4)	t			ı
Macdonald (1986) U.K.	>64	Semi-structured interview & Depression Scale of Comprehensive Assestment & Referral Evaluation (CARE)	. 552	12		F	1	Marginal Depression excluded: 91 All cases: 82 .	72 66	
Mant et al. (1988) Australia	>74	MMSE & Blessed Dementia Rating Scale	226	17		45	95			r
Phílp 6 Young (1988) U.K.	>74	MSQ	60	vo		100 (5)	'	·		
O'Connor et al. (1988) U.K.	414	Screening interview CAMDEX	ŧ	6 group practices	Moderate/ Severe: Mild/Mod/ Severe:	65 58	86 (6) 78 (6)			, ,
Brayne & Calloway (1990) U.K.	70-79	CAMDEX	365 women	Not available		35	94	ı	1	1
Cooper (1989) Germany	<b>1</b> 9×	Hierarchic Dementia Scale Diagnoais made using CAMDEX diagnostic criteria	105 (to date)	v	Mod/severe: mild/mod/ severe: Mild cog. deficit/ Mild/mod/ severe:	98 94 71	55 71 98		i i - 1	1 I I
Pond et al. (1990) Australia	70-84	Gerlatric Depression Scale diagnostic criteria	133	25		ŀ	1	29	87	·

61

# FOOTNOTES TO TABLE 4.1

- (1) 2 out of 10 and 2 out of 5 nil response from GPs respectively.
- (2) 1 out of 2 cases involved nil response from GP.
- Weyerer found that there were many cases undetected by both instrument and GP. (3)
- Patients diagnosed by GP to be depressed not cognitively impaired included as it is published. (4)
- (5) Authors report mild cases undetected.
- (6) GPs ratings include possibly and definitely demented.

accuracy between the various studies and whether their performance has improved over time, sensitivities and specificities derived from the various papers were calculated. The specificity in several papers, especially the earlier ones, could not be calculated due to lack of information. General practitioners' level of accuracy cannot be truly assessed without specificity. An example which illustrates the necessity to provide the numbers of correctly identified non-cases is that of Cooper (1989). The general practitioners were very accurate in their detection of moderately to severely demented patients (98% sensitivity) but only correctly identified 55% of the non-demented patients. As specificity cannot be calculated for the early studies, there is insufficient information to compare all the studies to determine whether general practitioners' accuracy has improved over time.

To compare general practitioners' accuracy between studies, Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) analyses have been performed. ROC analyses were originally used in radar studies in World War II. More recently, this form of analysis has been used as a technique to evaluate psychiatric tests or scoring thresholds for a test (that is, clinical decision analysis). 'Sensitivity' and 'specificity' are values which are "measures of a test's ability to identify illness among the ill ... and wellness among the well ..." respectively (Murphy *et al*, 1987) (see also sections 6.7 and 6.8).

> "The ROC analysis extends the evaluation of test performance beyond sensitivity and specificity by providing, in an easily comprehended format, information relevant to the full range of scores that need to be taken into account in making a decision about a threshold for separating illness from wellness."

In this particular analysis, ROC points have been used as a tool to predict

whether general practitioners will detect psychological disturbances in their patients (Figure 4.1). The area under each point (not curve in this instance) has been determined in a similar manner to the calculation of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve (McNicol, 1972). The area provides an indication of diagnostic accuracy. The closer the area under the curve is to 1.0, the greater degree of accuracy and 0.5 is diagnostic accuracy equivalent to chance. In all the studies which could be examined in this manner, general practitioners' accuracy was better than chance. However, only two studies appear to have high levels of accuracy: Cooper (1989) on the detection of dementia with areas under the ROC ranging from 0.88 to 0.92 and Macdonald (1986) on depression with areas from 0.82 to 0.89 (Figure 4.1). The other studies produced areas ranging from about 0.70 to 0.80. Conclusions are difficult to draw from this analysis as there are so few studies and great variability between them. Nevertheless, these two facts alone indicate that there is a pressing need to clarify these disparate results.

### 4.4 Significance of findings relating to recognition

The recent research reviewed above indicates that, for the most part, general practitioners recognise dementia and depression more accurately than initially reported in the early study by Williamson *et al* (1964). There remains, however, conflicting evidence on the degree to which general practitioners accurately recognise depression and dementia in their elderly patients. This is particularly so in Australia with the only recent study finding relatively low recognition rates for dementia and depression (Mant *et al*, 1988 and Pond *et al*,



FIGURE 4.1: ROC points and areas under them (McNicol, 1972) comparing levels of accuracy ratings included (1) moderate/severe cases; (2) mild/moderate/severe cases; and (3) mild in the detection of dementia and depression by general practitioners. General practitioner's cognitive deficit/mild/moderate/severe cases. 1990). As comparatively little research has been carried out in this area, especially in Australia, in the past two decades, it is clear that further research is required to clarify and explain the reasons for the discrepancies in detection rates of psychiatric disorders in the elderly.

# 4.4.1 Screening for dementia and depression in general practice

There are three areas where general agreement emerges. Firstly, screening instruments are considered to be highly useful aids in the detection of psychiatric disorders and that regular screening and review, especially of the elderly most at risk, would be of significant advantage to not only the general practitioners but the patients and their relatives as well. In the study by Kallman & May (1989) mentioned above, they found the use of formal screening instruments to be beneficial for families in three ways. The results of the tests enabled families "to appreciate and accept that a significant cognitive change had indeed occurred ... [and] ... that the patient had minimal judgment and poor memory". They were then able to accept that inappropriate or abnormal behaviour was unintentional and related to their cognitive decline. This knowledge enabled families to plan for the future (for example, examine legal issues) and arrange suitable forms of care.

Bergmann (1983) suggests that "a public health approach to the psychiatric problems of the elderly .... with screening and assessment of vulnerable groups" would assist general practitioners in the detection of early or less severe psychiatric disorders. He defines the vulnerable group as being elderly people (over 75 years) who:

- live alone;
- have been recently bereaved or discharged from hospital;
- need home care and community services; and
- seek residential care or want to relinquish their home.

Henderson (1984) recognised the significance of Bergmann's argument, and advocated that "it is the doctor who should initiate periodic review" of elderly patients by instituting a screening procedure especially for those at greatest risk. He also suggested that all elderly people within a practice should be screened annually for unreported disorders, including cognitive impairment and depression. If such impairments are missed by the general practitioners, "the patient and his family are at a disadvantage, because they are deprived" of the treatments and services involved in the management of such conditions.

### 4.4.2 Benefits of detection

The second point on which agreement emerges is that there are distinct advantages in the recognition of dementia and depression for not only the patients and their families but also the general practitioner. Awareness influences the general practitioners' interpretation of the presenting ailments; prescription of drugs, as many could exacerbate cognitive impairment; ability to eliminate other potentially treatable conditions; and planning of a management strategy for patients and their caregivers (Henderson, 1984). If cognitive impairment is detected at a sufficiently early stage, the future can be discussed and planned in conjunction with the patient and family (Almind, 1985). However, to help maintain whatever autonomy remains in a patient, the general practitioner must ascertain the types of decisions a patient is capable of participating in (Taler & Waymack, 1989). This point is critical when legal issues, such as power-ofattorney, are involved. Although there is at present no medication that can cure dementia<sup>9</sup>, there is a promise of memory enhancing drugs in the future. These are all compelling reasons for the screening and early detection of dementia by general practitioners.

Undetected depression can cause needless distress to patient and family especially if it is wrongly ascribed to age, physical disorders or cognitive impairment. There is a substantial range of effective treatments now available for depression including pharmacological, psychological (Johnson & Wilson, 1989) and electroconvulsive (The Quality Assurance Project, 1983). Recognition and accurate diagnosis of both depression and dementia are, however, the critical issues. Once a condition is diagnosed, prompt and effective management can be instigated in the majority of cases (Waring, 1980).

The third area of agreement is that there is insufficient emphasis placed on the treatment of elderly patients. Generally, up-to-date knowledge of drugs; access to psychogeriatricians or mental health services for consultation and/or referral; availability of support and care services are essential to the management of elderly patients. More specifically, the general practitioner has a central role to play in the management of dementia. Advice and support to caregivers; advice on a safe but stimulating environment for the patient; referral to home care services; minimal prescription of anticholinergic medication; and continuing assessment and support are the basis for effective management of dementia by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Comment for footnote 5 also applies.

general practitioners (Henderson, 1984).

### 4.5 Factors affecting recognition

Many factors may influence the level of awareness of mental disorders and care provided to mentally ill patients in primary care settings. Fundamentally, the factors involve the general practitioner's personal attributes and attitudes, the patient's personality, the disorder and the availability of care and services. Comfort (1980) in his textbook on the *Practice of Geriatric Psychiatry* succinctly ties together a range of factors which affect general practitioners' identification of mental illness in the elderly. Geriatrics is not only a distinct speciality, but

> "also an attitude of mind - one which runs, in many respects, counter to cultural indoctrination and to what one learns in medical school. One major reason to address the study of geriatric psychiatry [in general practice] lies in its effect on doctors themselves, on their capacity to examine their attitudes toward aging in themselves and others, and consequently on their entire practice of medicine with this particular age group. The wholly erroneous notions that "the old" are untreatable, and for biological reasons not worth treating, that infirmity in later life can be explained by chronology alone, and that what cannot be cured is best addressed by sympathy and benign neglect have been signally exploded in European medical education by the growth of a vigorous, curative, and supportive geriatric medicine which produces results." (Comfort, 1980, p. vii)

More specifically, however, knowledge of symptoms and signs and aetiologic factors are essential requirements for recognition of disorders (Burns & Burke, 1985; Rapp & Davis, 1989). There is considerable variability in the detection of dementia and depression in elderly patients and in very few studies was the detection rate close to 100% (Table 4.1). The performance of general practitioners in this regard could perhaps be improved by providing them with appropriate information regarding these conditions. However, a prerequisite to any training is to find out where the gaps are in the general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression.

# 4.5.1 Gaps in general practitioners' knowledge

Very few studies have been undertaken on general practitioners' knowledge of psychiatric disorders in elderly patients. In one recent American study, Rapp & Davis (1989) assessed 49 medical residents' knowledge of symptoms and signs of depression by administering a questionnaire which included questions on diagnostic criteria for depression, aetiologic factors, assessment practices and treatments. The investigators found that the medical residents "lacked important information that is prerequisite to proper diagnosis and care" and that "educating physicians and altering their perceptions about and practices toward comorbid depression is sorely needed".

No study has been found which specifically examined general practitioners' knowledge of dementia. However, Rubin and her colleagues (1987) carried out a study which focused on physicians' awareness of dementia. They assessed 50 family practitioners' and internists' awareness of dementing disorders and found considerable variation in the physicians' knowledge of *causes* of dementia and of diagnostic procedures. Ninety two percent of the physicians thought that "other specific causes" such as tumours, infections and subdural haematomas were the cause of dementia. Alzheimer's disease, metabolic disorders and drug toxicity

followed as the most frequently indicated causes of dementia. They also found that older physicians had less knowledge of dementing disorders than the recently graduated physicians. However, the older physicians felt more comfortable in making a diagnosis, probably because the younger physicians had fewer aged people in their practices and less experience. Although, the younger physicians had better recall of the causes of dementia, neither the young or old were more likely to routinely screen for dementia using a mental status test. Only 12% used a formal cognitive screening instrument. They concluded that recent medical graduates had better knowledge of dementing disorders than the experienced physicians and they felt that disseminating information to experienced physicians was a problem.

As there have been so few studies on general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression, and only in the U.S.A., there is insufficient evidence to suggest that general practitioners are poorly informed about or do not remember symptoms and signs of these conditions. However, there is sufficient evidence to suggest that further research should be carried out in this area to substantiate or refute these findings of limited knowledge.

#### 4.5.2 Diagnostic processes

"The desired outcomes of medical education are to produce doctors who are (a) sensitive to patient and community problems, (b) able to apply basic behavioural and scientific principles to identify and treat such problems, and (c) able to make decisions under conditions of uncertainty. The attainment of these goals requires that medical students recognize the uncertain nature of scientific knowledge, while at the same time being able to use that knowledge to make important clinical decisions. Beyond and above recall of specific facts and acquisition of scientific principles, students need to acquire behavioural, problem-solving and decision-making skills throughout the medical school curriculum." (Schiffman, 1978).

Not only is it essential that general practitioners acquire knowledge about psychological disorders but also it is of equal importance that they acquire 'problem-solving and decision-making' or 'diagnostic processing' skills (Adams et al, 1978). 'Diagnostic processing' is a term used to describe the diagnostic thought processes which are used to interpret the knowledge physicians have acquired during a consultation. In an examination of "the relative effects of medical education and clinical experience on the diagnostic thinking process" (p. 177), Gale & Marsden (1984) studied the contribution of different types of knowledge to the prediction of physicians' diagnostic ability and then made a comparison of their abilities in two specialities of internal medicine. The subjects included students, house-officers and registrars. The students were found to display all the cognitive processes of the experts (house-officers and registrars) but there was an increase in the frequency with which they "failed to make a specific enquiry". The authors suggest this failure in the students' 'cognitive structure' "lies in the breadth, depth, and extent of knowledge" but perhaps "More importantly, it lies in the storage structure and use value of that knowledge." (p. 151)

In summary, there is a major difference between knowledge and ways of dealing with that knowledge which together comprise the 'cognitive structure' (Gale and Marsden, 1984). Students (and recent graduates) possess the first component of cognitive structure, knowledge, but do not have sufficient experience to completely fulfil the second, diagnostic processing.

The diagnostic thinking process comprises three stages involved in a clinician's train of thought on the interpretation of information: 'initiation', 'progress', and 'resolution'. These stages are not mutually exclusive and at any time during the diagnostic thinking process the clinician may be interpreting information relating to one or all of the three stages (Gale & Marsden, 1984).

As pointed out by Barrows *et al* (1982), there must be an appreciation of these processes in any evaluation of clinical competence. These authors examined the clinical reasoning processes of 37 randomly selected physicians in general medical practice, using simulated patients and 4 standardised problems. They observed that the physician generates multiple hypotheses early in the consultation (the 'initiation' stage) which leads the 'problem-oriented' investigation to the other stages. The correct hypothesis arose between 1 and 7 minutes into the consultation. There was a transitional (or perhaps 'progress') stage which was 'devoted to establishing rapport' and a culminating stage (or 'resolution') which prepared the patient for the management of the problem and allowed the physician to gain confidence in his diagnosis by reviewing the facts.

It is clear that diagnosis is a complex problem solving process. Problem solving in general practice is not only based on recall of basic knowledge but also how that knowledge is retrieved and interpreted.

#### 4.5.3 'Ageism' and other discriminating factors

It has often been suggested that as our society values youth and vigour, there is frequently societal bias against elderly people. This bias is also of concern in general practice and is usually discussed in some depth in textbooks (Bellak, 1976; Comfort, 1980; Tahka, 1984). It is possible that general practitioners have entered medicine with or acquired these biases; and in turn this may have affected the manner in which they interact with elderly patients. Bellak (1976) provide some examples of the complexities of doctor-patient relations, for example, "if the physician feels like a child in relation to the patient it will be difficult to maintain the gratifying feeling of authority and omnipotence that many doctors enjoy" (p. 17); or if a general practitioner fears his own ageing and death, contact with elderly people could engender such feelings; or if negative countertransference has been derived from a parental relationship (Brodaty & Snowdon, 1989).

The general practitioner may be one of the few contacts that elderly people have and, therefore, s/he may feel even more pressured due to the patient's increasing dependency and the time required for the consultations. It is possible, then, that general practitioners, as a result of these personal biases and pressures, may have limited interest and knowledge of the emotional or psychological disorders in their elderly patients.

It is, no doubt, difficult and disheartening for some general practitioners to treat elderly people. Even though many physical and mental disorders can be successfully treated in elderly people, not all their illnesses can be cured. Elderly patients frequently present with multiple pathologies and chronic disease. Perhaps some general practitioners feel there is futility in treating elderly patients with so many problems, or perhaps some are impatient to succeed in removing symptoms. Whatever the reason, some general practitioners may experience an "undeserved sense of failure" (Bellak, 1976, p. 19) which may prevent them from having a positive attitude to recognition, diagnosis and treatment of disorders in elderly patients.

"Doctors very rarely receive ... feedback from their patients because patients feel it may be dangerous or unwise to criticize a person in whose hands they have placed their health." (Tahka, 1984, p. 25) It is not easy to be aware of one's limitations and deficiencies and hence studies such as the present one, fulfil a crucial role in the evaluation of general practitioners' performance.

In a study entitled *Life After A Death*, which included an examination of the role of general practitioners in relation to elderly people who have been widowed, Bowling and Cartwright (1982) found that the majority of those who had reported nerves or depression since their bereavement had not brought it up with their doctor (p. 104). The ones who did discuss their depression with the doctor were patients who considered their doctor to be very sympathetic. This implies that there is something in the manner, attitude or interviewing skills of the doctor which invites or empowers elderly patients to raise their problems.

Over the last two decades, the role of the general practitioner has been changing. The patient has become more autonomous (Taler & Waymack, 1989), more involved in decision making and treatment (Cockburn *et al*, 1987) and more in control of his/her health and well-being (Rodin, 1980). Greater patient independence or, to use a very modern term, 'empowerment' (Clark, 1989), has significant ramifications for the elderly and has recently been described by Taler & Waymack (1989):

> "After long centuries of essentially paternalistic practice, the medical profession is now considered ethically obliged to solicit and obey the decisions of the patient. Not only has this been a difficult change

of practice style for the majority of established physicians, it also places greater decision-making responsibilities and burdens on those patients who have been long accustomed to the paternalistic style of medical practice. Therefore, one challenge that faces the physician caring for elderly patients is finding ways to enhance the autonomy of elderly patients in a system long used to not doing so, and for patients for whom this may be a frightening and threatening experience."

It is now appropriate to consider the question: "Are physicians sensitive to the special problems of older patients?" posed by Radecki and his colleagues (1988). They reanalysed data from a national study of physician practice to examine this question and found "signs of ageism". Firstly, they observed a significant decrease in diagnostic testing for patients over 75 years. Secondly, they found that "the 'least useful' and numerous tests (routine procedures) were generally used more frequently in the elderly" and "In contrast, tests that were more likely to be particularly helpful to older patients were used less frequently and thus perhaps less appropriately." The response to their question, therefore, appears to be in the negative. The authors concluded that primary care physicians in general need more training in health care for the elderly.

In an important study, Radecki and his colleagues (1988) posed another question: "Do physicians spend less time with older patients?" and examined it in a similar manner to the report cited above. They hypothesised that elderly patients would require more of a physician's time due to possible physical or sensory deficits, longer history to record and the complexities of presenting complaints. No significant differences in the time spent on initial consultations was found and further, there was a tendency towards short consultations for older patients for follow-up visits. Elderly patients were not receiving more of the physician's time despite their greater morbidity.

# 4.6 Rationale for the study

General practitioners, therefore, have a demanding task if they are to identify successfully and treat psychological disorders in elderly people. They must have positive attitudes towards the elderly, provide empathy when required, understand the multiple problems which may be both physical and psychological, provide more consulting time, involve patients in decision making if they wish and not suppress the patients verbal and vocal cues during a consultation. Perhaps all these attributes or roles are not practicable or cost-effective when considered in terms of our current health and welfare system. If this is the case, then these challenges have to be confronted if Australia is to meet effectively the mental health needs of our rapidly increasing aged population.

The above attributes and attitudes combine to provide a picture of general practitioners who may approach gold or realistic standard (Sanson-Fisher & Hennrikus, 1988) for detection and management of psychological disorders in elderly patients. In a pragmatic sense such a standard may be impossible and unrealistic. The underlying question to this type of study is then: What is an appropriate standard against which to compare general practitioners performance? Is a gold standard equal to 100%? Or is it a more realistic standard and if so, what should that be? As these questions do not have answers yet and as there is a dearth of information in Australia on the topics raised in the preceding chapters, it was timely to conduct the present study. With the rapidly ageing population soon to affect our community in many ways:

- data on issues of public health, relating especially to elderly people, enables cost-effective planning and development of services and care strategies by Governments and service providers; and
- information on the performance of general practitioners enables educators to develop courses or refine and emphasise components of courses in areas where shortcomings have been identified.

The aims and objectives of the present study were developed and explored in light of a complex range of factors relating to general practitioners and their patients. Despite the complexity of the issues and questions raised above, there are three central elements which connect the relationship of general practitioners to their elderly patients: the presentation of *symptoms and signs* of disorders, in particular, dementia and depression by patients; the *detection* of those symptoms and signs by general practitioners; and, once recognised, the general practitioners' *management* of the disorders. In addition to these three central elements there are range of variables which relate to the general practitioners' detection and management of psychiatric disorders include the general practitioners' knowledge of the symptoms and signs of dementia and depression, their interpretation of that knowledge and their interest in geriatrics. Variables which relate to the patients include co-morbidity; socio-demographic information; information obtained from an informant; and level of care and support. The central elements and the variables are set out schematically in Figure 4.2. The variables are linked to the central elements by the instruments and questionnaires described in detail in the next chapter. The aims of the present study are examined by analysing the associations between the central elements and the general practitioner and patient variables. Chapter 5, therefore, describes the procedures used in the present study to explore the complex theoretical issues which have been encapsulated in the three *elements* and the range of *variables*.

# (CHAPTER 1)





FIGURE 4.2: Schematic presentation of rationale for this study illustrating general practitioner and patient variables and their relationship to symptoms and signs, detection and management of dementia and depression. Numbers attached to arrows represent the instruments and questionnaires used to obtain data which are listed below (and attached as Appendix 5).

- 1. Information about GP
- 2. GPs rating of dementia and depression in patient and action taken
- 3. Structured questionnaire including symptoms and signs of dementia and depression and vignettes.
- 4. Demographic information about patient from patient
- 5. Diagnostic Interview for Depression
- 6. General Health Questionnaire
- 7. Mini-Mental State Examination and Information/Orientation scale from CAPE
- 8. Demographic information on patient and informant from informant
- 9. Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly

# CHAPTER 5

# METHODS: RECOGNITION OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

#### 5.1 Introduction

A sample of general practitioners and a consecutive sample of their elderly patients participated in this research. The patients were assessed by their general practitioner, who used four point rating scales, and JB, who used a range of instruments, to assess their level of dementia and depression. The general practitioners were also asked about symptoms and signs of dementia and depression and the management of these disorders in elderly patients.

# 5.2 Pilot study

A pilot study of the patient and general practitioner questionnaires (described in detail in Section 5.5.4 and 5.4/5.6 respectively below) was undertaken prior to the commencement of the research. Six elderly subjects volunteered to participate in the piloting of the questionnaires. No general practitioners were requested to recruit patients for the pilot study as it was decided that it was important to retain the general practitioners and their patients for the study proper. Three general practitioners and two psychiatrists were, however, requested to examine the questionnaires which had to be completed by the participating general practitioners. As a result of the trials, several minor modifications were made to the respective questionnaires before the study commenced.

# 5.3 Recruiting of general practitioners

To achieve the aims and objectives of the research described in Chapter 1, a group of general practitioners who were either Fellows or Members of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) were approached initially by Dr Peter Harris (then the State Director of the Family Medicine Programme of the RACGP and Chairman of the A.C.T. Sub-Faculty of the RACGP). All the general practitioners approached by Dr Harris agreed to participate.

Five of the general practitioners practised on the inner north side of Canberra and six of the general practitioners practised on the inner south side. Appointments were made and, at the first meeting, the objectives and procedures of the study were explained briefly to them. The meetings with general practitioners were usually short as they were within usual consulting hours, before consulting hours or at lunch time.

General practitioners practising in the inner suburbs of Canberra were selected as the aged population is up to 20 times higher in these areas than in the newer suburbs of the satellite townships in Canberra. The inner suburbs of Canberra included in this study are outlined in Appendix 5.1. In this part of the study there was not a random sample of general practitioners from the inner suburbs of Canberra but rather a 'volunteer' or 'convenience' sample.

The selection of the inner suburbs of Canberra was important because:

- the knowledge of and interest in the health and problems of elderly was expected to be much greater in general practitioners practising in these areas; and
- the numbers of elderly patients consulting would be proportionally much higher than in the new outer suburbs, allowing the target sample of elderly patients to be recruited over a shorter period of time.

After the research was explained to the general practitioner, they were asked to complete a short questionnaire which requested information on their qualifications, age, the nature of their practice and special interests in medicine (Appendix 5.2).

# 5.4 Recruiting of patients

Each general practitioner was requested to ask the first ten patients over 70 years of age who consulted them, from a predetermined date, whether they would be willing to participate in the research. If the patient consented, the general practitioner addressed and signed a letter which introduced JB and briefly explained the research and gave it to the patient with a verbal, brief explanation of the study. The patients were also told that they would be contacted by telephone in the near future (if the patient had the telephone connected) to arrange an interview time. After the consultation, the general practitioner filled out a questionnaire regarding the level of depression or dementia of the patient, whether the general practitioner had noticed depression or dementia previously and the type of action which s/he had taken if the patient was depressed or demented. The general practitioners had a choice of "not at all", "mild", "moderate" or "severe" for levels of dementia and depression, while the management question included options such as "specialist referral", "counselling", "continuation of basic health care" (Appendix 5.2.1).

This form was filled out regardless of whether or not the patient agreed to participate. However, if they did not agree to participate, the patient's name was omitted and the reason for non-participation was recorded. Also, on completion of each consultation, the patient's name, address, telephone number and date of consultation were entered on a separate schedule (Appendix 5.2.2).

When the general practitioner had 10 patients willing to participate, JB was notified by the general practitioner or his/her secretary that the schedule was complete. The name, address and telephone number of the patient was given to JB over the telephone or the completed forms were picked up from the general practitioner. Each patient was contacted by telephone (if a contact number was provided) and an appointment was made at a mutually convenient time as soon as possible after the consultation with the general practitioner. If the patient did not have a telephone, the patient was visited as soon as practicable after the consultation. If they were not at home, a calling card was left with a note explaining the visit and requesting them to ring. These patients were visited again either at a pre-arranged time or when convenient.

#### 5.4.1 Patient interview procedure

On arriving at the patient's home, JB introduced herself to the patient (and other members of the household when appropriate). There was often considerable interest in the research not only by the patient but also other members of the household. So the interview usually commenced with a brief description of the research and the reasons for it. This was followed by a period of general discussion which often centred on the health of the patient or the patient's spouse.

After asking the patient's date of birth and marital status, the patient was asked if there was someone who had known them well for 10 years or more and who would be willing (if the patient was) to fill out an informant questionnaire on health and memory changes (Appendix 5.3). If the informant was present (usually a spouse, son or daughter), the importance of the informant questionnaire was explained to them and they were requested to either fill out the informant questionnaire during the interview or afterwards and post it in the stamped, addressed envelope provided. If, however, the informant was not present, for example, a child, sibling or friend, the informant questionnaire and a covering letter (Appendix 5.3) was either left with the patient who was requested to give it to the informant or the informant questionnaire was posted to the informant at an address provided by the patient. Immediately after each interview, an interviewer rating of the patient's ability to see, hear, write and concentrate was made (Appendix 5.4).

If the informant questionnaire had not been received within a reasonable period, either the patient or the informant were contacted by telephone or by letter and reminded that the informant questionnaire had not been returned.

On receipt of the completed informant questionnaire, all the data for each patient were assembled and entered onto the ANU VAX/VMS computer. The data were anlysed using SPSS-X (SPSS, 1983).

# 5.4.2 Patients' instruments (Appendix 5.5)

Three indices for dementia and depression were used to ascertain levels of psychiatric impairment in the patients. Socio-demographic information and levels of assistance required with activities-of-daily-living were also obtained. The indices for dementia were the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), the Information/Orientation scale from the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE) and the Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE). The indices for depression were the Diagnostic Interview for Depression, the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) and an indication from the informant as to whether or not s/he thought the patient had been or was depressed. A detailed description of these indices follows.

#### Socio-demographic information

Information was obtained on demographic characteristics which included, for example, date of birth, marital status, living arrangements and living conditions and educational level. In addition, information was obtained on services, professional care and informal assistance received by the patient.

# Activities of Daily Living (ADL)

The level of assistance needed with activities of daily living was obtained from each patient. In addition, the same activities-of-daily-living questions were also asked of the informant. The daily activities measures were: showering/bathing, dressing, eating/feeding, getting around and out home/flat, walking 200m, walking up and down stairs and using public transport. They were rated on a scale which ranged from "unable to manage at all", "require help/supervision", "require no help but have difficulty" to "have no difficulty".

#### Dementia Instruments

Three different indices of dementia were used.

The Mini-Mental State Examination (Folstein *et al*, 1975) is a widely-used, brief screening instrument for dementia which tests a wide range of cognitive functions such as orientation, recall, attention and language. Its efficiency as a screening test has been demonstrated (Anthony *et al*, 1982) and it has been used extensively in community surveys (Folstein *et al*, 1985; Weissman *et al*, 1985; Kramer *et al*, 1985).

The MMSE has been demonstrated to be highly sensitive (that is, the proportion of true cases identified correctly) and specific (the proportion of noncases identified correctly). Recently O'Connor *et al* (1989) found estimates of sensitivity and specificity in the community which were very close to those of Anthony *et al* (1982) in a hospital sample. Both studies used the recommended threshold of 23/24, where 0-23 suggests probable cognitive impairment (and this cut-point has also been employed in the present study). The sensitivities obtained
in these studies were 86% and 87% respectively, and the specificities were 92% and 82%. In another recent study which compared methods of diagnosing dementia in a population of elderly women in rural England, Brayne & Calloway (1990) came to a similar conclusion to Kay *et al* (1985) regarding the performance of the MMSE in the identification of people with mild dementia. Both studies reported poor agreement between the MMSE and the different diagnostic methods when mild dementia was included with levels of moderate and severe dementia.

MMSE scores appear to be influenced by age, level of education, ethnicity and gender (Anthony *et al*, 1982) as well as the performance of instrumental activities of daily living (Fillenbaum *et al*, 1988). O'Connor and his colleagues (1989) found in a study of 1865 general-practice patients over 75 years from Cambridge that education and social class, but not the gender of the patient, influenced the total MMSE score.

The 12-item Information/Orientation scale from the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE) which measures cognitive impairment (Pattie & Gilleard, 1979; Pattie, 1981) was administered. This instrument is also useful in community surveys because it is brief and acceptable to the general public. It has been demonstrated to be a valid measure of dementia in field surveys (McPherson *et al.*, 1985; Morgan *et al*, 1987). A cut-point of less than or equal to 7 was employed: that is, a patient was considered cognitively impaired if the score was below or equal to 7.

Pattie & Gilleard (1976) found that the Information/Orientation scale from CAPE had a sensitivity of 92% and specificity of 92%. More recently Morgan *et*  al (1987) obtained similar results; 92% sensitivity and 95% specificity for dementia (using a threshold of less than or equal to seven) when compared with clinicians' ratings of mild, moderate or severe dementia and depression or normal. Morgan *et al* (1987) classified their survey respondents into groups: cognitively impaired with a threshold of less than or equal to 7; borderline impaired with scores of 8 or 9; and normal with scores of 10, 11 or 12. If such a scoring system was employed by general practitioners, it may provide a useful, initial indication of cognitive impairment.

The Information/Orientation scale appears to be less valid when screening for mild dementia. Brayne & Calloway (1990) report a sensitivity of only 21% and a specificity of 100% when using the Information/Orientation scale to discriminate a mildly demented elderly community sample from normals. However, sensitivity increased markedly when those with moderate to severe dementia were included: sensitivity 80% and specificity 90%.

As mentioned in Section 5.4.1 above, patients were also asked if someone who had known them well over a ten year period, such as a spouse or child, could complete an **Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly** (Jorm & Korten, 1988; Jorm *et al*, 1989). The Informant Questionnaire correlates well with the MMSE and clearly discriminates dementing patients from normals. In addition, the Informant Questionnaire does not appear to be contaminated by the premorbid ability of the patient, unlike conventional screening instruments such as the MMSE (Jorm & Jacomb, 1989).

89

#### **Depression Instruments**

Three different indices of depression were used. First was a highly structured Diagnostic Interview for Depression, similar in style to the Composite International Diagnostic Interview Schedule (Robins et al, 1988). The Diagnostic Interview for Depression was the depression component of the Canberra Interview for the Elderly developed in the N.H. & M.R.C. Social Psychiatry Research Unit. It covered the symptoms listed in the DSM-III-R criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 1987) in a rigorous manner and was constructed for use by non-clinicians. However, the Interview did not use the exclusion criteria (B, C and D) because these are of little relevance in the context of general practice. The instrument has subsequently been tested in Sydney with depressed patients and found to perform satisfactorily. Formal evidence of reliability and validity is currently being produced by its authors. Appendix 5.6 sets out the questions from the Diagnostic Interview for Depression, how they relate to each DSM-III-R criterion and the algorithm used for making a diagnosis. The algorithm reached a diagnostic decision for each case and also gave a continuous score from 0 to 9 for the number of DSM-III-R depression symptoms present.

All patients who were capable were asked to complete the 12-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12) (Goldberg, 1978). This short, self-administered screening instrument is used to measure non-psychotic mental illness in general practice settings and the community. In the present study, the GHQ-12 was used to determine whether it could be beneficially used by general practitioners during consultations as an indicator of psychiatric disturbance, particularly depression, in elderly patients. In the present study, a cut-point of greater than 2 was used, that is, if a patient scored 3 or more they were rated at having a psychiatric disturbance.

The GHQ-12 has been used in many community surveys, has been shown to be valid and reliable and has good sensitivity (89%) and specificity (80%) when judged against a psychiatrist's diagnosis of depressive illness (Williams *et al*, 1987, cited in Goldberg & Williams, 1988).

There are two factors which have to be taken into account when selecting and later analysing the GHQ. First, it is well known that physical illness is a source of mis-classification for the GHQ (Goldberg & Williams, 1988). Finlay-Jones & Murphy (1979) found that physical illness was most common among the false positive normals than among the true negatives. In addition, Burvill *et al* (1984) found in a factor analytic profile of people's responses to the GHQ that there were distinct differences in the profiles of 'cases' and 'non-cases'. It is noteworthy that *non-cases* comprised "sub-clinical cases" as well as a group who suffered from "various degrees of physical illness and have symptoms which warrant a positive answer to ... GHQ questions". Age does not appear to have a significant effect on the GHQ score (Cavanaugh, 1983) but the score does rise in people over 75 years of age (Goldberg & Williams, 1988).

Second, prevalence rates tend to be high when the GHQ-12 is used instead of one of the longer versions (Burvill & Knuiman, 1983). In an analysis comparing the various versions of the GHQ (GHQ-60, GHQ-30, GHQ-28 and GHQ-12), Burvill & Knuiman (1983) conclude "that the 60-item GHQ is the best version to used under most circumstances, although there may be certain situations in which the shorter version is preferable." As the GHQ was to be used (i) as a tentative indicator of non-psychotic mental disorders with a view to the potential for its use in general practice; and (ii) in conjunction with a range of other instruments, it was considered that the GHQ-12 would be the most appropriate instrument for the present study.

The informants, as part of their questionnaire, were also asked to state whether or not the patient had had a diagnosis of depression in their lifetime and whether or not they thought the patient was depressed at the time of completing the Informant Questionnaire.

#### 5.5 Follow-up visit to general practitioners

As patient interviews were completed, a follow-up visit was made to each general practitioner. At this interview, the general practitioners were asked questions about the diagnosis of dementia and depression in their elderly patients; the percentage of people over 70 years they estimated they had in their practice and the percentage of them with dementia and depression; whether they had difficulty in diagnosing dementia or depression; and what management problems they encountered (Appendix 5.7). The method used to score and analyse the general practitioners' responses to these question is described in Section 8.4.

On completion of the interview, the general practitioners were left with a questionnaire containing three vignettes (attached as Appendix 5.7.1 but described in detail in Section 8.3), the clinical details of which were derived from DSM-III-R criteria for a major depressive episode or dementia (APA, 1987).

General discussion on the research and any comment from the general

practitioners or their patients was sought at this meeting. Where there was comment from patients, it was generally positive and most patients recalled their interview with pleasure.

Also at this meeting, general practitioners were invited to attend a lunch at the N.H. & M.R.C. Social Psychiatry Research Unit to meet the Director and staff, to ask any questions regarding the research and to become more familiar with work carried out at the Unit.

#### 5.6 Ethical approval

Prior to the commencement of the study, a research proposal was submitted to the Ethics in Human Experimentation Committee of The Australian National University and approval was given on 30 September 1988. In summary, the research proposal outlined the experimental design of the study, stated the purposes of the research, the foreshadowed ethical considerations relating to the study and listed the investigators. The Committee also approved a letter for the general practitioner to sign and give the patient which introduced JB and briefly explained the research (Appendix 5.8).

#### 5.7 Summary of methods

In the manner described above, information on 101 patients who were referred by 11 general practitioners was assembled. The data on the patients provided sufficient information regarding their demographic details, physical impairments and levels of dementia and depression to compare them with the general practitioner's ratings and similar studies reported in the literature. Data obtained from the general practitioners allowed tentative conclusions to be drawn on their level of knowledge of dementia and depression, thus suggesting that further investigation on this aspect of the study was warranted.

The flow diagram in Figure 5.1 below summarises the sequence of procedures involved in this, the first component of the study. Data obtained are listed under the relevant components of the procedure.

This component of the study on detection, which includes a summary of the methods, selected results and a condensed discussion, is summarised in a paper published recently in the Medical Journal of Australia (Appendix 5.9).



#### FIGURE 5.1: Flow diagram summarising methods

#### **CHAPTER 6**

### RESULTS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' DETECTION OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION

#### 6.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the results relating to the first part of this study of which there are two major components: (i) a description of the characteristics of the general practitioners and their patients; and (ii) findings pertaining to the recognition of dementia and depression by the general practitioners.

#### 6.2 General practitioner characteristics and participation

Of the 11 general practitioners who participated in this part of the study, five were female and six were male. Five were Fellows of the RACGP. The mean age was 46 years (range 35 to 64 years, SD=11.3). Years of practising ranged from 11 to 40, with a mean of 22 years (SD=3.3). All the general practitioners had practices in the inner suburbs of Canberra (Table 6.2 and Appendix 5.1). Four practised alone, four had one partner and the remaining three had more than one partner. Seven had studied at Australian universities, three were from Scotland and one from Northern Ireland. The general practitioners were asked to provide the total number of current patients and an estimate of the number of patients over 70 years of age. Only one general practitioner was able to do this with any accuracy as his files were on a computer. The rest provided an estimate but the estimates ranged from 75,000 people to 1,500 family units, thereby making comparisons almost impossible. Estimates of patients over 70 years of age were given in percentages and made it easier for comparisons. The general practitioners estimated that about 30% of the patients in their practices comprised people over 70 years of age. Further information on results relating to the general practitioners is set out in Chapter 9.

#### 6.3 Patient participation

There were a total of 115 patients who were potential subjects for inclusion in the study, as determined by the sampling method. There were, however, 109 patients referred by the general practitioners, 101 of whom were interviewed. Eight were unable to be interviewed for a range of reasons: three patients were excluded because they were below 70 years of age; two could not be contacted despite repeated visits; and three went on extended vacations almost immediately following their consultations.

Six patients were not referred by the general practitioners for participation in the study because four refused to participate (each being rated by the general practitioner as depressed) and two were considered by the general practitioners to be too difficult to be interviewed. A contact rate of 88% was thus achieved.

Ninety four percent of the sample agreed to provide the name and address of an informant. The other patients either felt they had no one who had known them well for ten years or more, or refused to provide the name of an informant.

#### 6.3.1 Comparison of sample with aged A.C.T. population

When the percentage of patients in the study sample are compared with the equivalent A.C.T. population, it can be concluded that 'older' people were over-represented in this study and that the 'younger' were under-represented (Table 6.1).

# TABLE 6.1: Proportion of elderly people over 70 years ofage in the A.C.T. at 1986 Census compared with proportionin study sample (ABS, 1988)

Age	Percentage of ACT population over 70 years	Percentage of on study sample
70-74	50.5	35.6
75-79	28.9	31.7
80-84	13.8	9.9
85-89	5.2	14.9
90 +	1.6	7.9
Total	100	100

#### 6.3.2 Interval between consultation and interview

This part of the study was designed so that the time between consultation and interview would be minimised. It was important to visit the patient as soon as practicable after his/her consultation so that a reliable comparison of the general practitioners' assessment could be made. The mean interval was 19 days with a range of 1 to 140 days (SD=22.8). The reasons for delays included hospitalisation, 'too busy' and 'away for a few days'.

#### **6.4 Patient characteristics**

The mean age of the patients was 79 years (SD=6.9) and ranged from 70 to 99 years. There were 66 females and 35 males.

#### 6.4.1 Where patients lived

Although the general practitioners practised in the areas within postcodes 2600 to 2604, it is of interest to note that their patients resided in a wider range of suburbs. Ten patients lived in suburbs away from their general practitioners. Most of the patients had previously resided in the inner suburbs and subsequently moved further out, but in so doing they had retained their general practitioners (Table 6.2).

Postcode	Number of patients	Number of GPs
2600	17	2
2601	24	2
2602	18	3
2603	18	3
2604	14	1
2605	1	
2606	1	
2607	3	
2609	2	
2611	1	
2615	1	
2617	1	
Total	101	11

TABLE 6.2: Postcodes indicating areas in which patients resided

#### 6.4.2 Living conditions of patients

The majority of patients lived in their own homes (61 patients). Many people of this generation moved to Canberra in the 1940s and 1950s to take up positions with the Commonwealth Government. They were provided with new houses to rent or buy and many of those interviewed still lived in these houses. The other patients lived in a range of dwellings and these are set out in Table 6.3.

#### TABLE 6.3: Types of residence of patients

Types of residence Number of patients

Separate house	61
Flat attached to house	1
Semi-detached house	1
Terrace or townhouse	7
Low-rise flat	11
High-rise flat	3
Caravan	2
Nursing home	9
Hostel	3
Retirement village unit	3
Total	101

#### 6.4.3 Patients' living arrangements

About one third (34) of the patients lived alone and the remaining two thirds lived with someone, primarily with a spouse (Table 6.4).

#### TABLE 6.4: Living arrangements of patients

Description of living arrangements	Number of patients
Alone	3/
With a spouse	, J.+ AA
With their family	44 0
With non family (nursing	7 homes
and hostels includes)	12
Other	2
Total	101

#### 6.4.4 Marital status of patients

Almost half of the patients were married (46) and the other half widowed (47), five were divorced or separated, 2 never married and one lived in a de facto relationship.

#### 6.4.5 Level of education

Less than one quarter (21) of the patients matriculated from high school or received any tertiary education. The majority of the patients did not reach the Intermediate level at secondary school. Table 6.5 summarises the level of education achieved by the patients.

<b>TABLE 6.5:</b>	<b>Highest</b> qualifica	tion obtained	by patients.	, (Figures
in brackets p	rovided by inform	ants and the	other by the	patients.)

Level of education	Number of	of patients
No schooling	0	(1)
Attended primary school	10	(7)
Completed primary school	32	(20)
Attended secondary school	17	(18)
Intermediate Certificate	21	(24)
Matriculation	10	(9)
Attended tertiary college	1	(2)
Completed tertiary college	8	(12)
Could not be ascertained (or nil response)	2	(12)
Total	101	(101)

Informants also provided the age at which they believed their friend or

relative to have left school. Forty eight percent of the patients left school at or before the age of 14 years; 27% were 15 or 16 years when they left; and 20% were between 17 and 20 years.

#### 6.4.6 Physical health

Table 6.6 summarises the levels of assistance required by the patients to carry out activities-of-daily-living (ADL) according to the patients and their informants. It is noteworthy that, for most activities, more patients felt they had 'no difficulty' than did the informant. Additionally, more informants than patients thought that in seven of the eight activities the patients 'required no help but had difficulty' in performing their daily functions. Both these results suggest that the elderly patients did not admit to their difficulties with activities-of-daily-living or that the informants were over-cautious or over-protective of their friend or relative. Almost three-quarters of the patients reported that they had no difficulty or required no help with their daily activities and just over a quarter reported that they required assistance (Appendix 6.1). TABLE 6.6: Percentages of patients requiring the various levels of assistance for activities-of-daily-living. (Figures in brackets provided by informants.)

Level of difficulty

		ci of unitedity		
Activity	No difficulty	Difficulty	Requires help	Unable to manage
		Percenta	ges of patients	
Showering	1			
bathing	69 (65)	13 (15)	9 (15)	9 (5)
Dressing	71 (67)	15 (23)	7 (7)	7 (3)
Eating/ feeding	89 (85)	9 (10)	1 (4)	1 (1)
Getting around ho flat	me/ 71 (71)	10 (21)	16 (5)	3 (3)
Getting ou	ıt			
of home/ flat	63 (60)	9 (13)	19 (23)	9 (4)
Walking 200m	46 (48)	25 (25)	16 (11)	13 (16)
Walking w & down stairs	ap 43 (34)	23 (40)	20 (14)	14 (12)
Using public transport	49 (45)	16 (19)	16 (8)	19 (28)

If patients needed high levels of assistance such as requiring help with their daily activities or could not manage them at all, the patients and informants provided estimates of time that the patient had been requiring help. Most patients requiring help with activities-of-daily-living had done so for between one and three years but two smaller groups have needed help for less than a year and more than seven years. The latter group comprises primarily hostel and nursing home residents (Appendix 6.2).

Physical changes observed by the informants indicate that the maximum deterioration had been in the patients' vision and the use of their legs. Almost half the informants reported that their friend or relative had experienced no change in their hearing, vision, ability to use their fingers and hands or ability to use their legs. On average, only about 3% improved their physical functioning. For the most part this appeared to be the result of operations, for example, the removal of cataracts. The other half deteriorated in their physical functioning; about one third became a bit worse and 20% much worse (Appendix 6.3).

The correlations between the informant's opinion and the patient's on the level of assistance required for activities-of-daily-living was very high (r=0.92, p<0.001). As would be anticipated, physical health declines with age, the level of service provision increases with age and as physical health deteriorates (Table 6.7).

TABLE 6.7: Analysis of patients' age, physical health(ADL) and service provision using PearsonCorrelation Coefficients

Physical<br/>healthService<br/>provisionAge of<br/>patient0.58\*\*\*0.24\*\*Physical<br/>health0.28\*\*

\*\*\* p<0.001, \*\* p<0.01

#### 6.5 Community services and assistance received by patients

As over 60% of the patients live in their own homes, it is not surprising that the services most frequently received are home help and maintenance. However, it is probably even more significant that almost half of the patients receive no services and those that do require assistance receive very few services (Table 6.8). The mean number of services received by patients was 0.7 (SD=1.1) with a range from 0 to 6 types of services.

#### TABLE 6.8: Community services received by patients

Service type	Number of patients using service
Home help	27
Home nursing	7
Home/centre paramedica	1 0
Home based respite	2
Home delivered meals	3
Home maintenance	17
Day care centre	4
Transport services	5
Other services purchased	4
No services received	48

The majority of patients who needed assistance and were in receipt of services, found out about the services for themselves (48%), 25% were referred by relatives, 17% by general practitioners and 10% were referred by the home nursing service or a nursing home.

Table 6.9 presents the range of professionals from whom advice or

assistance was obtained by the patients in the month preceding their interview. Thirty seven patients consulted another doctor apart from their general practitioners in this period. The 'other doctor' was usually a specialist other than those listed. Fifteen and 12 patients consulted an optometrist or podiatrist respectively in this period. It is perhaps or more interest, however, to note the types of professionals who were rarely consulted by elderly patients. For example, only one patient sought a consultation with or advice from either a psychiatrist, nurse, social worker, psychologist or a clergyman.

## TABLE 6.9: Number of patients\* who received assistance or advice from a professional person in the month prior to the interview.

Type of professional	Number of patients
General practitioner	100
Psychiatrist	1
Other doctor	37
Chiropractor	0
Nurse	1**
Chemist	3
Social worker	1
Psychologist	1
Clergyman	1
Natural health practitioner	5
Physiotherapist	8
Occupational therapist	2
Optometrist	15
Speech therapist	1
Dentist	8
Podiatrist	12
Other	6

\*12 patients were visited more than four weeks after their consultation. However, all but one of them had had another visit to the general practitioner prior to the interview.

\*\*Patients underestimated nursing assistance as 7 patients indicated they were in receipt of home nursing (Table 6.8).

#### 6.5.1 Summary of patients' characteristics

The majority of patients lived in their own homes, were physically independent, received a low level of service provision and very few sought professional advice or assistance other than that of the general practitioner.

The age of the patients was highly correlated with physical health, the number of services received and whether or not they lived with their spouse. The younger patients tended to live with their spouse; but, as expected, the older the patient, the poorer the level of physical health and the greater level of service provision. A patient was more likely to receive a higher level of service provision if his/her physical health was poor and if s/he lived alone.

#### 6.6 Informant responses and characteristics

A 91% response rate (92/101 responses) was obtained for the Informant Questionnaire. The mean age of informants was 63.8 years and the range was from 34 to 90 years (SD=13.0). Forty-three percent (38) of the informants were 70 years or over. Seventy-six percent (70) of the informants were females and 24% (22) were male.

Forty-five percent of the informants were spouses and 37% were sons or daughters. The relationships of the informants to the patients are set out in Table 6.10.

Relationship	Percentage
Spouse	45
Son/daughter	37
Friend	11
In-law	4
Sibling	1
Other or not known	3
Total	101

#### TABLE 6.10: Relationship of informants to patients

#### 6.7 General practitioners' detection of dementia

#### 6.7.1 Patients diagnosed as demented

The general practitioners assessed a quarter of the sample of patients to have some degree of dementia. Table 6.11 sets out the general practitioners' rating of the severity of dementia in their patients.

<b>TABLE 6.11:</b>	Rating of severity of dementia	by	the	general
practitioners				

Rating Number of patients

Not at all		76
Mild		13
Moderate	$\frac{10}{m_1} = \frac{10}{2} \frac{1}{10} = \frac{10}{10} \frac{1}{10} 1$	8
Severe		4
<b>-</b>		
Total		101

The general practitioners stated that they noticed a degree of dementia in two of these patients for the first time during the consultation.

Of the 25 patients who were diagnosed as having some form of dementia

by the general practitioners, either at this consultation or a previous one, two were given prescriptions for medication; four were referred to a specialist; seven were referred to community support services and/or for residential care; 15 received "continuation of basic health care"; four patients and five caregivers received counselling from the general practitioner.

#### 6.7.2 MMSE

The mean score for the MMSE was 24.9 with a range of scores from 0 to 30 (SD=6.2). The internal consistency of the MMSE was high (Cronbach's alpha=0.84). Twenty eight patients scored less than 24 on the MMSE; 20 were females (or 30% of the females) and eight were males (or 23% of the males). The prevalence of cognitive impairment in this group of consulting patients was thus 28%. (As the MMSE is a brief screening instrument and *does not diagnose* dementia, the terms 'cognitive impairment' or 'probable dementia' are used instead.)

### 6.7.3 General practitioners' detection of dementia measured by the MMSE

Table 6.12 compares the patients' level of cognitive impairment measured by the MMSE with the severity ratings by the general practitioners. When compared with the MMSE, the general practitioners detected dementia in 11 of the 28 cases, providing a sensitivity of 39% (proportion of true cases of dementia identified correctly). General practitioners correctly identified 72 of the 73 nondemented patients providing a specificity of 99%. When the general practitioners' ratings of mild dementia were also included as cases, their sensitivity improved to 54% against the MMSE and specificity declined a little to 86%.

### TABLE 6.12: General practitioners' detection of cognitiveimpairment compared with the MMSE

MMSE results	GPs' assessme ratings of mod severe demen	ent (includes derate and tia)
	Not demented	Probable dementia
	(n=89)	(n=12)
Not demented	1	
(n=73)	72	1
Probable dem	ientia	
(n=28)	17	11

#### 6.7.4 Influence of other variables on the MMSE

Age, marital status and physical health influenced the total MMSE score (r=-0.55, p<0.001; r=0.28, p=0.006; r=-0.53, p<0.001 respectively). If the patient was married, s/he was less likely to be cognitively impaired. MMSE scores were not correlated with gender, level of education or the age at which the patient left school.

#### 6.7.5 Information/Orientation scale from CAPE

The mean score for the Information/Orientation scale was 10.6 with a range from 0 to 12 (SD=2.7). The reliability of the Information/Orientation scale was high (Cronbach's alpha=0.91). The Information/Orientation scale identified 10 patients as having probable cognitive impairment. The prevalence of dementia using the Information/Orientation scale on this sample of patients was 10%.

### 6.7.6 General practitioners' detection of dementia measured against the Information/ Orientation scale

iudged against cutoff of less When а seven or on the Information/Orientation scale of the CAPE, the general practitioners had a sensitivity of 80% (8 out of 10 patients correctly identified) and specificity of 96% (87 out of 91) (Table 6.13). The better performance of the general practitioners against the Information/Orientation scale compared to the MMSE reflects the well recognised but little documented fact that the Information/Orientation scale is a higher-threshold instrument which is poorer at detecting milder cases (Brayne & Calloway, 1990). When the general practitioners' ratings of mild dementia were also included as cases, their sensitivity improved to 100% against the Information/Orientation scale and the specificity, as against the MMSE, declined a little to 84%.

# TABLE 6.13: General practitioners' detection ofcognitive impairment compared with theInformation/Orientation scale of CAPE

Information/	GPs assessment (includes
Orientation	ratings of moderate and
results	severe dementia)

	Not demented	Probable
	der	mentia
	(n=89)	(n=12)
Not demented		
(n=91)	87	4
Probable dementia		
(n=10)	2	8

#### 6.7.7 IQCODE

The mean score for the IQCODE was 3.3 (no change) with a range of

scores from 2.3 (slight improvement) to 5.0 (marked deterioration) (SD=0.6). The reliability of the IQCODE was also high (Cronbach's alpha=0.98) and similar to the alpha of 0.95 reported by Jorm & Jacomb (1989). The prevalence of dementia using an IQCODE cutoff of four is 13.5%.

## 6.7.8 General practitioners' detection of dementia compared with the IQCODE and informant report

When the general practitioners' assessment was compared with a cut point of four on the IQCODE, the sensitivity was 69% and the specificity was 97% (Table 6.14). When the general practitioners' rating of mild was added, sensitivity increased to 85% but specificity fell to 84%.

### TABLE 6.14: General practitioners' detection of cognitiveimpairment compared with the IQCODE

IQCODE results	GPs assessment ( ratings of modera severe)	includes te and
	Not demented	Probable
	(n=89)	(n=12)
Not demented (n=88)	85	3
Probable dementia $(n-12)$	:	0
(11-13)	4	7

Only four informants stated that the patient had been diagnosed as having dementia: two were diagnosed by a general practitioner and two by a specialist.

#### 6.7.9 Influence of other variables on IQCODE

The informants' rating of dementia via the IQCODE was not correlated with the patient's gender, level of education, the age at which s/he left school or the level of services provided to the patient. The rating was, however, related to age (r=0.50, p<0.001) and level of physical impairment (r=0.51, p<0.001). These results are similar to those obtained in studies in which the reliability and validity of the IQCODE were examined (Jorm *et al*, 1989; Jorm & Jacomb, 1989).

#### 6.7.10 Summary of general practitioners' detection of dementia

ROC curves have been used here (as in Section 4.3) to demonstrate whether the general practitioners will detect a psychiatric disorder in their patients. The area under the curve provides an indication of diagnostic accuracy. Figure 6.1 illustrates the general practitioners' detection of dementia (using the range of ratings from mild to mild/moderate/severe) when compared with the three dementia instruments: MMSE, Information/Orientation scale and the IQCODE. The areas under the respective ROC curves are: 0.73, 0.97 and 0.89. Detection of dementia by the general practitioners is considerably better than chance (0.5) when judged against the three instruments.

General practitioners' ratings of dementia (on the four-point scale) were highly correlated with the MMSE, the Information/Orientation scale and the IQCODE and to a lesser degree with the level of patients' physical impairments. The various instruments for detecting cognitive impairment were also highly intercorrelated with each other (Table 6.15). They were also correlated with physical impairment, reflecting the well-known association between dementia and physical disability (Milne, 1985).





TABLE 6.15: Correlations between general practitioner ratings of dementia, dementia screening scales and physical impairment

1.	2.	<b>.</b>	4.	5.
GP rating	Mini-Mental State	Information/ Orientation	Informant Questionnaire	Physical Impairment
(n = 101)	(n = 101)	(n = 101)	(06 = u)	(n = 101)
1.	-0.76*	-0.76*	0.65*	0.42*
2.		*00	-0.75*	-0.53*
3.			-0.78*	0.52*
4.				0.51*

\* All correlations significant at p < 0.0001</pre>

Negative signs are due to direction of scoring.

117

General practitioners' assessments of dementia were not affected by the patients' co-morbidity; the proportion of elderly people in their practice; their knowledge of dementia; or whether they were a Fellow of the RACGP. A multiple regression was carried out in order to determine whether general practitioners' ratings of dementia could be predicted by schooling, gender and age, once cognitive impairment (MMSE) was taken into account. It can be seen that the MMSE is a predictor of dementia but that schooling, gender and age have no additional predictive value (Table 6.16). In other words, general practitioners' ratings are not affected by patients' schooling, gender or age.

TABLE 6.16: Examination of socio-demographic factors on general practitioners' ratings of dementia by multiple regression

	Beta	T S	lignificanc	e
MMSE	-0.78	-9.87	0.00	
Level of				
schooling	0.11	1.69	0.09	
Sex	-0.07	-1.09	0.28	
Age	-0.35	-0.44	0.66	

#### 6.8 Depression and general practitioners' recognition of depression

#### 6.8.1 Depressive symptoms in the patient sample

The mean score for the 9 items in the diagnostic algorithm was 2.2, with a minimum of 0 and a maximum of 8 (SD=1.1). Eighty five patients had scores of four or less depressive symptoms, 22 of whom had no symptoms. The remaining 16 had five or more depressive symptoms (Table 6.17).

0		22
1		22
2		2
3		13
4		5
5		7
6		4
7		3
8		2
	Total	101

Number of symptoms

Sleep disturbance, followed by having little energy, difficulty concentrating or making decisions and thoughts of death were the most frequent symptoms which scored positively (Table 6.18). The reliability of the symptom count from the Diagnostic Interview for Depression was satisfactory (Cronbach's alpha=0.70).

#### TABLE 6.17: Number of patients with depressive symptoms

Number of patients

TABLE 6.18: Patients who scored positively on thediagnostic criteria for DSM-III-R criteria for MajorDepressive Episode (MDE)

Diagnostic criteria for MDE	Number of patients
Complaints of depression (MDE1)	18
Loss of interest/interests (MDE2)	21
Weight or appetite change (MDE3)	26
Sleep disturbance (MDE4)	45
Slow/lethargic or restless/ fidgety (MDE5)	9
Tired (MDE6)	39
Low self-opinion or Felt blame (MDE7)	6
Difficulty concentrating or making decisions or Mixed up	21
thoughts (MDE8)	31
Thoughts of death/suicide (MDE9)	28

Fifteen patients (15% prevalence) were found to reach the criteria for a major depressive episode, 9 being female and 6 male. The 2-week prevalence of major depressive episode was 13% in women and 17% in men.

The symptom count from the Diagnostic Interview for Depression was highly correlated with the GHQ (r=0.72, p<0.001) and not so highly correlated with physical impairment (r=0.38, p<0.001).

#### 6.8.2 Patients diagnosed as depressed

The general practitioners considered that 41 of the patients were depressed. Eight patients were assessed by the general practitioner as depressed for the first time at the consultation. Table 6.19 shows the extent to which the general practitioners thought the patients were depressed.

### **TABLE 6.19:** Rating of severity of depression by the generalpractitioners

Rating	Number of patients
Not at all	60
Mild	29
Moderate	11
Severe	1
Total	101

In the examination of their overall diagnostic practices, general practitioners were asked: "If you have noticed depressive symptoms, either now or in the last 4 weeks, what action has been taken?" When the general practitioners identified patients with depressive symptoms in the previous four weeks, they referred three patients to a specialist; 12 were given counselling by the general practitioner; 34 received "continuation of basic health care"; and five received other forms of assistance. Some patients received a combination of these treatments. Eleven patients had been prescribed antidepressant medication (see Section 6.8.7 for further details).

### 6.8.3 General practitioners' detection of depression compared with the Diagnostic Interview for Depression

The patients who were diagnosed as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview were compared firstly with the general practitioners' ratings of moderate and severe depression (Table 6.20). The general practitioners missed 12 of the 15 patients assessed as depressed by the diagnostic algorithm. Therefore, sensitivity for the detection of depression by this criterion was 20%. Specificity was 90%, as they correctly identified 77 of the 86 patients who were not depressed. When the general practitioners' ratings of mild depression were included as cases, sensitivity improved to 60%, but specificity declined to 63%.

#### **TABLE 6.20:** General practitioners' detection of depression

Results from	GPs' assessment (includes
Diagnostic	ratings of moderate and
Interview for	and severe depression)
Depression	

	Not depressed (n=89)	Depressed (n=12)
Not depressed (n=86)	77	9
Depressed $(n=15)$	12	3

### 6.8.4 General practitioners' detection of depression compared with the GHQ

The recognition of depressive symptoms or a 'psychiatric disorder' by general practitioners, when compared with the GHQ, is less accurate than it is for the Diagnostic Interview. The sensitivity is 15% as they detected only 5 of the 34 patients scoring positively on the GHQ and they detected 60 of the 67 patients who were not depressed providing a specificity of 90% (Table 6.21). Sensitivity increases to 60% and specificity decreases to 69% if the general practitioners' ratings of mild are included.

<b>TABLE 6.21:</b>	<b>General practitioners'</b>	detection of depression
compared wit	h the GHQ-12	

Results from GHQ-12	GPs' assessment (includes ratings of moderate and severe depression)	
	Not depressed (or mild)	Depressed
	(n=89)	(n=12)
No psychiatric disorder (n=67)	60	7
Psychiatric disorder (n=34)	29	5

The mean score for the GHQ was 2.5 with a range from 5 to 10 (SD=2.9) and the reliability was satisfactory (Cronbach's alpha=0.84).

#### 6.8.5 Informants' opinions

Eleven informants stated that the patient had been diagnosed as having had depression at some time in their lives: nine by a general practitioner and two by a specialist. The general practitioners' rating of depression compared with the informants' opinions is discussed below (Section 6.8.6).

## 6.8.6 Analysis of general practitioners' ratings with various continuous measures of depression

Table 6.22 shows the correlations between various continuous measures of depression and the general practitioners' ratings. The ratings of depression by general practitioners (on the four-point scale) were correlated with the symptom score from the Diagnostic Interview and with the GHQ, but the relationship was not strong. However, the general practitioners' ratings were more highly
symptom score, the op the 12-Item General H	
ABLE 6.22: Correlations between general practitioner ratings of depression, depression if an informant, whether the patient discussed depression with the general practitioner, uestionnaire, and physical impairment.	

T						
(n = 101)	0.12 n.s.	0.38*	-0.08 n.s.	0.20 n.s.	0.49**	
(u = 97)	0.25*	0.72**	-0.28*	0.04 n.s.		
(n = 101)	0.38*	0.19 n.s.	-0.25 n.s.			
(n = 87)	-0.41**	-0.45**				
(n = 101)	0.36**					
moderate, and severe) (n = 101)	1.	2.	з.	4.	5.	
	modelate, and severe) (n = 101) $(n = 101)$ $(n = 87)$ $(n = 101)$ $(n = 97)$ $(n = 101)$	model at every and severe) (n = 101) $(n = 101)$ $(n = 87)$ $(n = 101)$ $(n = 97)$ $(n = 101)(n = 101)$ $(n = 101)$ $(n = 101)(n = 101)$ $(n = 101)$ $(n = 101)$ $(n = 101)$	$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{moderate}, \\ \mbox{and severe} \\ (n = 101) & (n = 101) & (n = 87) & (n = 101) & (n = 97) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{(} n = 101) & (n = 101) & (n = 101) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{(} n = 101) & (n = 1$	$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{moderate}, \\ \mbox{and severe} \\ \mbox{(n = 101)} & (n = 101) & (n = 97) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{(n = 101)} & (n = 101) & (n = 97) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{(n = 101)} & (n = 101) & (n = 101) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{(n = 101)} & (n $	$\begin{array}{c} \mbox{model acc}, \\ \mbox{and severe}, \\ \mbox{(n = 101)} & (n = 101) & (n = 87) & (n = 101) & (n = 97) & (n = 101) \\ \mbox{1.} & 0.36 \star & -0.41 \star & 0.38 \star & 0.25 \star & 0.12 \mbox{n.s.} \\ \mbox{2.} & -0.45 \star & 0.19 \mbox{n.s.} & 0.72 \star & 0.38 \star \\ \mbox{3.} & -0.28 \star & -0.28 \star & -0.08 \mbox{n.s.} \\ \mbox{4.} & 0.04 \mbox{n.s.} & 0.20 \mbox{n.s.} \\ \mbox{0.04 n.s.} & 0.20 \mbox{n.s.} \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \mboderate, \\ \mboderat$

 Negative signs are due to direction of scoring.

124

correlated with the informant's opinion of whether the patient was depressed and with whether or not the patients reported discussing their depressed mood with the general practitioners. If the patient talked to the general practitioners about feeling depressed, sad or irritable, the depression recognition rate increased. The GHQ correlated highly with the Diagnostic Interview and physical impairment and to a lesser degree with the informant's opinion.

The general practitioners' detection of depression (using the range of ratings) are compared with the Diagnostic Interview on Depression and the GHQ using a ROC curve (Figure 6.2). The area under the Diagnostic Interview curve is 0.63 and the area under the GHQ curve is 0.64, neither being much greater than chance (0.5).

#### 6.8.7 Antidepressant medication

Amongst the questions to be completed at the end of the consultation (Appendix 5.2.1), the general practitioners were asked: "Has this patient had any antidepressant medication in the last 4 weeks?" Eleven patients were on antidepressant medication. Nine of the general practitioners had one or more patients in their sample on antidepressant medication. One general practitioner had four patients who were each on a different antidepressant. The most common antidepressant was doxepin. The next two most common antidepressants were trimipramine and amitriptyline. The other antidepressants prescribed were oxazepam, dothiepin, nortriptyline and imipramine.

It was considered that some patients who had been prescribed antidepressant medication in the four weeks prior to consultation could have





become less depressed as a result of the medication in the interval between the commencement of medication and the screening interview. In order to clarify this point, the data including and then excluding medicated patients were analysed using the ROC curves described in Section 6.8.6 above. Figures 6.3.1 and 6.3.2 illustrate the ROC curves comparing patients interviewed within 14 days of their consultation and more than 14 days after their consultation. There is no significant difference between these curves in either Figure 6.3.1 or 6.3.2. As the area under each curve is approximately 0.6, the general practitioners' detection in each case is not much better than chance (0.5). When the patients who had been prescribed antidepressant medication are excluded (Figure 6.3.2), there is no change to the general practitioners' detection rate.

#### 6.9 General practitioners' detection of a combination of dementia and depression

Seven patients were diagnosed as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview and as probably demented by the MMSE. The general practitioners diagnosed both conditions in two patients and only depression in another patient.

# 6.9.1 Comparison of measures of cognitive impairment with those of depression

There was no correlation between the Diagnostic Interview for Depression and the three dementia screening instruments. However, the GHQ was correlated with not only physical health (ADL), (r=0.50, p<0.001) but also the IQCODE (r=0.39, p<0.001). In turn, the IQCODE was highly correlated with physical health (r=0.51, p<0.001). Physical health was correlated and the GHQ was minimally correlated with the MMSE (r=-0.53, p<0.001; r=-0.23, p=0.022



FIGURE 6.3: ROC curves illustrating general practitioners' detection of depression (severe, moderate/severe, mild/moderate/severe) with the cases of depression diagnosed by the depression diagnostic algorithm. Figure 6.3.1 includes all patients and Figure 6.3.2 excludes patients who had been prescribed antidepressant medication in the four weeks prior to the consultation. respectively). These correlations suggest that when these instruments, particularly the GHQ, the MMSE and the IQCODE, are used within an aged population, the results are appreciably affected by physical health.

# 6.10 Summary

There are complex interactions between the various instruments and the general practitioners' ratings but, despite this, the results clearly indicate a low level of recognition of depression and a higher level for dementia. The factors which affected the recognition, or lack of it, and the issues which they raise, will be discussed in the next chapter.

#### **CHAPTER 7**

# DISCUSSION ON RECOGNITION OF DEPRESSION AND DEMENTIA BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

#### 7.1 Prevalence of depression

The 15 patients rated as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview in this study can be expected to have had an equivalent degree of depression to the 3% to 6% of those with major affective disorder observed by, for example, Copeland *et al* (1987) or Kay *et al* (1985) in community surveys. These would be reasonable comparisons due to (i) the use of a comprehensive instrument which covered DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for major depression and (ii) greater expected prevalence of depression in a consulting sample of elderly people. Although they were not dealing with a true consulting sample of elderly people, Pond *et al* (1990) observed a very similar prevalence for depression (14%) in Sydney.

The slightly higher prevalence for depression observed in males in the present study differs from recent community and general practice studies which show that the prevalence of depression is usually higher in females than males (Blazer *et al*, 1987; Carpiniello *et al*, 1989; Blacker & Clare, 1988). It is also noteworthy that Blacker & Clare (1988) found that men were more likely to have

chronic depression than women.

#### 7.1.1 Detection of depression

The recognition rate for depression in the present study was close to that observed in Australia by Pond *et al* (1990), in the U.K. by Williamson *et al* (1964) and the U.S.A. by Waxman & Carner (1984). It was, however, quite contrary to Macdonald's study in the U.K. on 'missed' depression in general practice (Macdonald, 1986). The general practitioners in his study tended to over-diagnose depression and, as suggested by the author, the sensitivity may have been artificially high and the specificity artificially low.

The general practitioners' poorer detection of depression in the present study may have several explanations. The first is a lack of knowledge of depressive symptoms or failure to enquire about these symptoms in their patients. When the general practitioners were asked about the symptoms they look for in diagnosing depression, many of the major *symptoms* were rarely mentioned. However, the frequency with which the general practitioners mentioned symptoms of depression corresponded reasonably well with the observed symptoms in their patients. Important exceptions were loss of energy, inability to concentrate and recurrent thoughts of death, which were rarely mentioned by the general practitioners but found in their patients (Figure 7.1). These symptoms may warrant more attention in general practice consultations with the elderly (discussed further in Chapter 9).

The second possible reason for low detection of depression might be that they seldom explicitly enquired after depressive symptoms, but relied on the





patients spontaneously raising them. This possibility is supported by the present finding that general practitioners' diagnosis of depression improved if the patient discussed his or her depressed mood with the general practitioner.

The third factor to be taken into account is that DSM-III-R and the Diagnostic Interview for Depression constitute a very high-threshold criterion and maybe this is not realistic. It would be understandable therefore, that if the threshold was lowered to cover less demanding criteria, general practitioners would more accurately and frequently cite the *symptoms*.

Instead of relying on patients' specifically raising their depressed state with their general practitioner or hoping for improved interviewing techniques, the use of a brief instrument to screen elderly patients for psychological disturbances might be expected to increase the depression detection rate.

All the findings of similar studies, including the present one, suggest there are substantial discrepancies between general practitioners' detection rates and screening instruments for psychological disorders. The performance of screening instruments could perhaps set a standard to which general practitioners' accuracy can be compared. This standard or target would provide a more appropriate and realistic comparison thereby eliminating overly optimistic or even false expectations that general practitioners should diagnose as accurately as specialists or standard diagnostic interviews. For example, the degree of agreement between the Diagnostic Interview for Depression and the GHQ using the ROC method of comparison was very high (area under the curve of 0.93). Using the same method, the general practitioners' ratings were not much better than chance when judged against the Diagnostic Interview. The accuracy of general practitioners could, therefore, be increased significantly with the aid of the brief GHQ.

Several other studies, especially by Goldberg and his colleagues, have demonstrated that the GHQ is a reliable and valid screen for depression in general practice. However, this study has highlighted one proviso. It is generally accepted that the physical health of patients negatively influences the GHQ score. However, the influence of physical health on the GHQ score in elderly consulters is less well documented, if at all. Mowry & Burvill (1990) recently suggested that the GHQ would be a suitable screening instrument for the elderly living in the community (especially in conjunction with the MMSE). Further, Goldberg & Williams (1988), when reviewing the literature on the GHQ relating to age, concluded that age does not influence the GHQ score markedly. But they did cite evidence which suggested GHQ scores rise in men and women over 75 years. Despite these limitations, it is clear that the GHQ could be successfully used "to identify cases where psychological distress may be making a strong contribution to the aetiology of the complaints for which help is being sought [and] ...draw the clinician's attention to this distress." (Goldberg & Williams, 1988, p. 93) Mowry & Burvill (1990) found that, as a result of a community survey of 100 people over 70 years, the GHQ (-30) was an acceptable screening instrument for the elderly. In addition, they found it particularly useful in screening for dementia when used in conjunction with the MMSE.

It would be expected that a study such as this would make general practitioners more conscious of dementia and depression in their elderly patients and would, therefore, increase sensitivity to dementia and depression. Only two new cases of dementia were noticed by the general practitioners during the 'study consultation' but perhaps more significantly eight cases of depression were noticed for the first time, thus indicating a possible increase in alertness to depressive symptoms due to the study. It may be that the difference in the initial recognition rate is simply due to the fact that dementia is a chronic condition but that depression for the most part is not. In order to overcome the possibility of this type of sensitisation, Waxman & Carner (1984) kept the physician (and the patients) blind to the exact purpose of the study and to the reasons for questioning the physicians about selected patients. While such an approach may be effective in overcoming such sensitisation, the ethics of it are questionable as it is now encumbent upon researchers to obtain *informed consent* from all participants.

### 7.1.2 Treatment of depression

Of the 41 patients rated as depressed by the general practitioners, almost one third of the patients were treated non-pharmacologically by counselling and continuation of their basic health requirements. Counselling, in the a general practice setting probably equates with non-specific psychotherapy which may only be a placebo treatment. This point is important as it is well recognised that depression can be successfully treated by specific psychotherapy (combined with antidepressants) (for example, Johnson & Wilson, 1989). Non-pharmacological treatments such as counselling may be favoured due to general practitioners' concern regarding side-effects of the various antidepressant drugs; or due to general practitioners' reluctance to use drugs for minor depressive states; or due to people's reluctance to take medication. This point raises questions such as: Is specific psychotherapy within the competence of general practitioners? Does nonspecific psychotherapy given by general practitioners have any effect?

Just over a quarter of the patients rated as depressed by the general practitioners had been prescribed antidepressant medication (in the 4 weeks prior to the consultation). Depression can be treated safely and effectively with a range of antidepressant drugs but the general practitioners displayed reluctance to prescribe antidepressants. It is suggested that this was because some antidepressants, such as the tricyclics, produce side-effects in the elderly (Kim & Hershey, 1988). As outlined in the previous paragraph, 'side-effects' are not the only explanation for reluctance to prescribe. McNamara & Lewin (1989) found that general practitioners prescribed lower than recommended doses of antidepressants due to the concern over too many side-effects and because they considered low doses were effective in the general-practice setting. These beliefs are common in general practice and there is evidence which indicates they are valid. A WHO (1986) study on dose effects of antidepressant medication provides evidence that low doses seem equally effective as recommended doses, at least in On the other hand, Watts (1982) considers that some populations. antidepressants should be given in adequate doses over a period of several months.

#### 7.2 Prevalence of dementia

Using the same cut-point on the MMSE as the only other comparable studies (Mant *et al*, 1988; Brayne & Calloway, 1990), the prevalence of cognitive impairment observed in the present study (28%) is lower than the other two (which were 34% to 37% respectively). There are several possible reasons for the slight difference. The most obvious reason for the variation when compared with the other Australian study is that the majority of the patients were in residential care, where a high proportion of patients have some degree of dementia (discussed further in Section 7.2.1 below). Another plausible reason is that this study involved 'consulters' as opposed to a sample of patients from a register and that demented people are unaware of their condition and do not seek assistance from their general practitioner.

The prevalence of dementia based on the Information/Orientation scale from the CAPE was slightly higher (10%) than in the only other study which used this instrument (3%) (Brayne & Calloway, 1990). The latter study is only indirectly comparable to the present one because it was based on an NHS patient register rather than on consulters and because the patient sample comprised only females between 70 and 79 years of age.

As no other study has used the IQCODE in a general practice setting, the prevalence obtained (14%) has no comparison. Nevertheless, it is worth noting that the IQCODE is not related to variables such as education and could be used more widely to identify patients especially in a general practice setting. This form of screening for dementia may be particularly useful for general practitioners because, at least in this small sample, there was evidence that they would take into account information from informants.

## 7.2.1 Detection of dementia

The general practitioners' hit rate against the MMSE was 39% when

ratings of moderate and severe were included as cases and 54% when ratings of mild were included as cases. These results were similar to the only other study carried out in Australia in which general practitioners had a hit rate of 45% (Mant *et al*, 1988).

The general practitioners' ratings of mild to severe dementia were much more accurate when judged against the Information/Orientation scale. This finding suggests that general practitioners, when selecting a screening instrument for dementia, should look at a *slightly* lower-threshold instrument such as the MMSE for use in their practice.

More than 40% (range 42% to 87%) of cases of dementia in this and the majority of overseas studies were *missed* by general practitioners (Williamsom *et al*, 1964; Waxman & Carner, 1984; O'Connor *et al*, 1988; Brayne & Calloway, 1989) (Table 4.1). Only two studies reported almost 100% recognition but the authors (who were also the general practitioners) in one of them, qualified the high recognition rate by stating that one third of the patients not thought to be demented by them were, in fact, mildly demented (Philp & Young, 1988).

Specificity in the present study was particularly high indicating that general practitioners did not over-diagnose dementia. There is, however, one result from the present study which is intriguing when compared with that of Cooper (1989). When only moderate and severe cases are compared with the general practitioners' ratings, cases of dementia were not erroneously diagnosed (99% specificity) in the present study, but Cooper (1989) found about half to be erroneously diagnosed (55%). When cases of mild dementia were included, specificity decreased slightly in the present study and improved significantly in the

German study. It is almost impossible to interpret this finding due to the different instruments and, thus, different thresholds on the diagnostic continuum employed in the two studies. The instrument used by Cooper (1989) may have been more effective in detecting mild dementia than the screening instruments used in the present study. Nevertheless, it is clear that problems arise in the correct detection of *mild* dementia where there is room for considerably more research.

As discussed in Sections 4.6 and 7.1.1, a realistic or *gold standard* should be set to which general practitioners' accuracy in diagnosing dementia could be compared. For example, the correlation between the Information/Orientation scale and the MMSE in this study was high (0.90). The correlations between these instruments and the general practitioners' ratings were somewhat lower (-0.76). The degree of accuracy was considerably higher for cognitive impairment than for depression but with the assistance of a screening instrument, for example, the MMSE, the detection rate would improve.

The mean age of 77 years observed in this study is less than that in Mant et al (1988) with a mean of 85 years. Several similar studies do not provide mean ages although the minimum age is defined (Table 4.1). Comparisons between studies could be more easily made if these and other such details were provided. It is well established that (i) with increasing age, the prevalence of dementia rises and (ii) patients in residential care have high levels of cognitive impairment. To some extent, therefore, the detection rate of general practitioners could be expected to increase in line with the age of the patient, and especially those in residential care. The detection rate observed by Mant *et al* (1988) was compared with that of the present study to ascertain whether there was, in fact, such a

change. There was no statistically significant difference between the ROCs derived from the two studies (Z-test using the standard error from the present study) (Hanley & O'Neil, 1982), although the accuracy observed by Mant *et al* (1988) was slightly higher than the present study.

#### 7.2.2 Factors influencing the MMSE

Variables such as age, marital status and physical health influenced the total MMSE score but other variables which have been reported to influence the score such as level of education had no influence in the present study. Results obtained by O'Connor *et al* (1989) in a study of general practice patients in Cambridge showed that, as well as age, level of education (and social class) influenced total MMSE scores. As in the present study, the gender of the patient did not affect the MMSE score. In addition, Holzer *et al* (1984) found that the MMSE score and age were strongly related, as was educational level. They also observed that the highly educated received higher scores but that they also experienced "less of an age-related decline than do the less educated". Unlike the above studies, the MMSE score was influenced by neither the patient's level of education nor the age they left school. This result may be attributable to the possibility that the sample population were relatively homogeneous in their level of education which, in turn, may have been above average.

### 7.3 Patient characteristics

There is close agreement between this study and recent surveys of the aged population reviewed in Section 1.4 on patient characteristics. The majority of the patients considered themselves to be physically fit and considered they had no difficulty in carrying out their activities of daily living. Mobility and vision were the main problems encountered.

Eighty eight percent lived in a private dwelling and 12% lived in a hostel or nursing home which are almost the same proportions observed in the last Census (ABS Census, 1986). Similarly, the proportions of elderly people living alone and living with someone corresponded closely with the Census data. It is noteworthy that the 'younger' group were under-represented and the 'older' group were over-represented relative to the population over 70 years in the ACT. This is no doubt because the 85 years and over group are more frequent attenders at general practices.

About half the patients obtained assistance with housekeeping and home maintenance but the other half received no services. The sample of patients was active and independent: for example, several could not be interviewed because they were too busy or away for a short period and three could not be interviewed at all because they went on extended vacations, one of which was overseas. Patients were more likely to receive a greater number of services if their physical health was poor and they lived alone.

When relating these findings to the effect they may have on the role of the general practitioner, it initially appears that the impact of the elderly will not be marked, due to their high levels of independence. However, this predominantly active, healthy and independent sample of elderly people will probably live longer with the increasing concomitant chance of becoming demented. Thus, it is suggested that it is this 'old' old cohort of people who will have the most significant impact on general practitioners during the next decade.

### 7.4 Patient selection

A further major difference between the studies is the method of patient selection. The majority of researchers randomly select patients from a register, for example, a practice's age/sex register in some countries with an NHS or the electoral register (Williamson, 1964; Parsons, 1965; O'Connor *et al*, 1988; Brayne & Calloway, 1990). Only one other study recruited patients who were 'attenders' for a consultation and had the general practitioner assess them at that time (Macdonald, 1986). It is suggested that this method of selection provides a more accurate reflection of the general practitioner's assessment of a patient as s/he makes a decision regarding the patient's level of dementia or depression at the time of consultation, not from memory. Waxman & Carner (1984) recruited patients at the time of consultation but the physicians were not interviewed regarding their assessment of patients until about a week later.

### 7.5 Summary

A sample of Australian general practitioners has been shown to be more accurate in their recognition of dementia in elderly patients than in their recognition of depression. However, the detection rates were not high for either condition in this modest series, and they appear not to have improved significantly since the early studies in the mid-1960s.

General practitioners' detection of dementia and depression in their elderly patients is not highly accurate although it is much better for dementia than depression. Why are the recognition rates not higher? How can they be improved? Aims 3 and 4 (Section 1.2) were tested in a preliminary analysis of the initial 11 general practitioners' knowledge of the symptoms and signs of dementia and depression. The majority of these general practitioners mentioned only two of the possible nine features of dementia listed in the DSM-III-R criteria and three of the possible nine features of depression. These findings suggested a limited knowledge of the symptoms and signs of dementia and depression by the eleven general practitioners. It was considered that these results merited further investigation and it was decided to expand the sample to provide a clearer indication of where the gaps are in general practitioners' knowledge. The aims were:

- to assess general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression in elderly patients using an extended sample of general practitioners; and
- to determine whether the sample of general practitioners, who were involved in the initial study, were representative of all the general practitioners in the inner suburbs of Canberra.

All general practitioners in the inner suburbs of Canberra were requested to participate in an extension of the initial investigation. The following Chapter describes the methods used to explore the above aims.

#### CHAPTER 8

# METHODS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' KNOWLEDGE ABOUT DEPRESSION AND DEMENTIA IN ELDERLY PATIENTS

#### 8.1 Introduction

The first part of the study consisted of a sample of only eleven general practitioners. The results of the initial study indicated that there were significant limitations to the general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression and it was considered that the investigation should be broadened to include all general practitioners servicing the inner suburbs of Canberra to provide a clearer guide to the level of general practitioners' knowledge and to determine whether the 11 general practitioners were a representative sample. The study was, therefore, extended to the larger sample of general practitioners with the assistance of Dr P. Harris.

#### 8.2 Recruitment of an increased sample of general practitioners

All general practitioners with practices in the inner suburbs of Canberra (with the exception of the 11 participating general practitioners) were approached by Dr Harris to seek their agreement to participate in the study. A letter introducing the research and JB was sent by him (Appendix 8.1) to 30 general practitioners on the RACGP mailing list. (The mailing list included all general practitioners known to the RACGP, not only Members and Fellows of the College.) Five general practitioners were unable to participate, either because an interview time could not be made within the timeframe of the study (2), the general practitioner was too busy (1) or they had left the region (2). Thus, 25 general practitioners were recruited to the second part of the study providing a total sample of 36 general practitioners and a contact rate of 92% for the whole study. (The contact rate includes only those currently practising in the region).

It is estimated that 90% of general practitioners practising in the research area were assessed. Whilst visiting the various general practices, JB noted four general practitioners' names not on the RACGP mailing list. On investigation, it was found that this group had recently moved to the area and they were not approached. It is, of course, possible that there were other general practitioners, who were new to the area, unknown to the RACGP or JB.

#### **8.3 Interview Procedure**

As described above, the initial sample of eleven general practitioners had been contacted by telephone and subsequently visited to arrange their participation in the study. The other 30 general practitioners were sent the letter from Dr Harris which requested the general practitioner's co-operation. It suggested that interviews could take place outside consulting hours (for example, in lunch breaks or before consultations in the morning) so that interruption to consultation schedules would be minimal. The letter was followed up by a telephone call by JB to make an appointment.

A structured interview was carried out with each general practitioner. The interview began with items on the general practitioner's age, qualifications and the nature of his/her practice (Appendix 5.2). The interview then followed the format described in Section 5.4 above. In brief, this component included questions on the symptoms and signs the general practitioner looked for when making a diagnosis of dementia and depression in elderly patients, and the management problems they encountered. At the end of the interview, the general practitioners were requested to complete a questionnaire containing three vignettes (Appendix 5.4.2). They were requested to tick boxes which would indicate the course of action which they might pursue or agree with.

The first vignette was a case history of an elderly female patient with typical features of Alzheimer's disease. Questions about diagnosis and case management, for example, referrals, diagnostic tests and future accommodation options, followed this vignette. The second vignette described a depressed daughter who was caring for her elderly dementing mother. The questions ranged from prescription provision to accommodation arrangements. The third vignette was a description of a depressed elderly male with a history of depression and the questions were about diagnosis, referral practice and ongoing support and care. The case histories were left with the general practitioners, together with a stamped, addressed envelope for forwarding when completed.

## 8.4 Scoring of the Interview

The verbal responses to the questions on the symptoms and signs general

practitioners look for when presented with a case of possible depression or dementia were recorded at the time of interview and subsequently scored by a panel comprising JB, and Dr A.F. Jorm and Professor A.S. Henderson. Each general practitioner's response was scored for the number of elements corresponding to the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for dementia and major depressive episode. Responses were allocated to one of the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for the two conditions only when the panel was in unanimous agreement. This was achieved by discussion and consensus of opinion. Thus the DSM-III-R criteria has been used primarily as a scoring system and not in a rigid manner. Scoring was very generous, with credit being given for any criterion mentioned, no matter how imperfectly described. For example, "reports from relatives" when mentioned in relation to dementia, was interpreted as meeting the DSM-III-R requirement that cognitive loss should "significantly interfere with work or social functioning or relationships with others" (APA, 1987). It was considered that, if a relative had been sufficiently concerned to consult the general practitioner regarding the patient, then by implication the patient's cognitive impairment was affecting, at the very least, 'relationships with others'. The number of symptoms and signs was totalled to provide an indication of general practitioners' reported knowledge of dementia and depression.

The data from each interview and the case histories were entered on a computer and analysed using SPSS-X (SPSS, 1983).

## 8.5 Summary of Methods

As described above, an additional 25 general practitioners were recruited

to the study and assessed in the same manner as the original 11 general practitioners, by a structured interview, which covered demographic information, knowledge of dementia and depression and various aspects of management, and questions relating to three case histories (summarised in Figure 8.1). This component of the study, including a summary of the methods, selected results and an abbreviated discussion, has been submitted for publication.

RACGP approached more GPs



#### Appointments arranged with GPs



Scored GP responses



Data analysis

FIGURE 8.1: Summary of method for assessing general practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression

#### **CHAPTER 9**

# RESULTS: GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' KNOWLEDGE OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION

#### 9.1 Characteristics of general practitioners

The characteristics of the 11 general practitioners who participated in the first part of this study are described in Section 6.2. The other 25 general practitioners comprised seven women and 18 men. Nine were Fellows of the RACGP. The mean age was 49 years (range 30 to 68 years SD=2.5). Years of practising ranged from seven to 46 (SD=2.5), with a mean of 23.5 years. The mean age of all the general practitioners was 48 (range 30 to 68 years SD=11.8) and the total mean years of practising was 24, ranging from 7 to 46 (SD=11.7).

To see whether the initial sample of 11 general practitioners was representative of the general practitioners practising in the inner suburbs of Canberra, the first 11 general practitioners were compared with the latter 25 in terms of age, sex, year of graduation, whether or not they were Fellows of the RACGP, the estimated proportion of elderly people in their practices, the university they attended and their knowledge of depression and dementia. There were no significant differences between the two groups on any of these variables. For the purposes of this component of the study, therefore, the two samples of general practitioners have been combined. There were also no significant differences on any of these variables between the general practitioners who returned the vignettes and those who did not.

Twenty two of the general practitioners trained in Australia, half of whom attended Sydney University. The remainder trained at overseas universities, six of whom attended universities in Scotland. Twenty of the general practitioners had postgraduate qualifications, 14 being Fellows of the RACGP. Three mentioned they had a special interest in geriatrics and one had additional training in that specialty. However, the range of the general practitioners' special interests was very broad (29 categories) and they are listed in Appendix 9.1. The most common interests mentioned by the general practitioners were obstetrics and gynaecology followed by 'all aspects of general practice'. The general practitioners estimated that there were on average about 21% of patients over 70 years in their practices and the estimates ranged from a low 8% to as much as 70%. Fourteen of the general practitioners practised alone. The others were in group practices of up to five partners.

# 9.2 General practitioners' knowledge of depression

General practitioners' reported knowledge of symptoms and signs of depression was scored by comparing their responses with DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria. The most frequently cited symptoms for depression included insomnia or hypersomnia, weight or appetite change and the appearance of being depressed (Table 9.1). TABLE 9.1: DSM-III-R Criteria for Major Depressive Episode together with numbers and percentages of general practitioners' reporting each symptom or sign in response to the question: "What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible depression?"

DSM-III-R Criteria	Number of general practitioners reporting each symptom/sign (%)
Depressed mood, most of the day every day	19 (53)
Diminished interest or pleasure, most of the day, every day	15 (42)
Weight loss or weight increase or increase or decrease in appetite	20 (56)
Insomnia or hypersomnia nearly every day	28 (78)
Restlessness or slowed down (observed by others)	5 (14)
Fatigue or loss of energy nearly every day	10 (28)
Feelings of worthlessness or or excessive inappropriate guilt	2 (6)
Diminished ability to think, concentrate or make decisions	4 (11)
Recurrent thoughts of death or suicidal ideation	2 (6)

Thirteen of the general practitioners described three symptoms, 12 described less than three symptoms and 11 described four to six symptoms. The mean score for reported symptoms of depression was 2.9 (SD=1.4). The general practitioners who reported more symptoms of depression were more likely to feel they had no difficulty in diagnosing depression (t=2.17, p=0.037).

Overall, unlike the findings of Rubin *et al* (1987), there was no statistically significant difference between younger and older general practitioners' knowledge. However, general practitioners who graduated from the University of Sydney, and were over the median age of 44 years, knew slightly less about depressive symptoms (t=2.45, p=0.022). On this point also it is noteworthy that the older the general practitioner, the greater the number of elderly patients the general practitioner estimated to be in his/her practice (r=0.40, p=0.031).

#### 9.2.1 Depression and anxiety

As it has been shown that anxiety- and depression-related symptoms are the two major dimensions underlying neurotic disorders and that they are highly correlated (Goldberg *et al*, 1987), the general practitioners' responses to the question "What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible depression?" were scanned for answers relating to anxiety. Eight (22%) of the general practitioners gave responses which included anxiety symptoms (APA, 1987) which included agitation, tension and panic episodes.

# 9.2.2 Depression and physical illness

As elderly people have a high prevalence of physical illness, and as illness is associated with high rates of depression in any age group, it was of interest to examine the responses to the question on depressive symptoms to ascertain the numbers of responses which were 'physical' in nature. A quarter of the general practitioners mention 'multiple minor somatic complaints' and gave examples, such as palpitations and headaches. A further 5 (14%) mentioned that they inquired about bowel habits.

# 9.2.3 Contributory factors to depression

General practitioners were asked to list factors which they considered contributed to depression in their elderly patients. Geographical and social isolation were the most commonly cited factors. The other most frequently cited factors included bereavement, loss of independence and physical deterioration (Table 9.2).

# TABLE 9.2: Factors which general practitioners considered contributed to depression in the elderly

Contributory Factor	Frequency (%)
Isolation	32
Bereavement	16
Loss of independence	15
Physical deterioration	13
Age	8
Financial problems	7
Poor diet	4
Medications	1

# **9.2.4** General practitioners' knowledge compared with depressive symptom prevalence

To a large degree the frequency with which the general practitioners mentioned the symptoms corresponded to the prevalence of the symptoms in the patients, as revealed by the Diagnostic Interview. The exceptions were loss of energy, inability to think or concentrate, feelings of worthlessness or guilt and recurrent thoughts of death (Figure 9.1)<sup>10</sup>. These symptoms were underreported by the general practitioners.

# 9.3 General practitioners' knowledge of dementia

General practitioners' reported knowledge of symptoms and signs of dementia was also scored by comparing their responses with DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for dementia. Twenty two of the general practitioners described two of the DSM-III-R symptoms or signs of dementia, the most frequent being memory impairment and a range of impairments interfering with their daily activities (Table 9.3). Eight general practitioners described one symptom or sign, while six described three or four. The mean score for the reported symptoms of dementia was 2 (SD=0.8).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>In a comparison of Figures 7.1 and 9.1, a higher proportion of the initial sample of general practitioners mentioned depressed mood, and slowing and restlessness. In the second sample, more mentioned loss of interest, appetite or weight change, sleep disturbance, loss of energy and feelings of worthlessness or guilt. These differences were not statistically significant.



FIGURE 9.1: Frequency with which total sample of general practitioners cited DSM-III-R criteria for major depression; and patients scored positively against these criteria.

156

TABLE 9.3: DSM-III-R criteria for dementia together with numbers and percentages of general practitioners reporting each symptom or sign in response to the question: "What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible dementia?"

DSM-III-R criteria	Numbers of general practitioners reporting
	each symptom/sign (%)

Impairment of short- and long-term memory	29 (81)	
Impairment of abstract thinking	2 (6)	
Impaired judgement	8 (22)	
Aphasia, apraxia, agnosia, constructional difficulty	5 (14)	
Personality change	11 (31)	
The above impairments interfere with work or social activities	15 (42)	
Evidence from history, physical examination or laboratory tests	2 (6)	

of an aetiologic organic factor

As with depression, the general practitioners who reported more symptoms of dementia were more likely to feel they had no difficulty in diagnosing dementia (t=2.08, p=0.051).

When asked about what type of dementia general practitioners saw most frequently, fourteen general practitioners correctly cited Alzheimer's disease as the most frequently observed form of dementia. However, the remaining 22 general practitioners cited other forms of dementia or did not know (Table 9.4). The general practitioners who graduated from the University of Sydney were more likely to cite dementias other than Alzheimer's disease (r=-0.47, p=0.004).

TABLE 9.4: Fr	equency of	general	practition	iers' r	esponses
to the question:	"What typ	e of de	mentia do	you :	see most
frequently?"					

Type of dementia	Number of GPs
	(70)
Alzheimer's disease	14 (38.8)
Multi-infarct	6 (16.7)
Arteriosclerosis	6 (16.7)
Cerebral atrophy	4 (11.1)
Don't know	6 (16.7)

Total 36 (100)

The ratios of the types of dementia the general practitioners thought they saw in their practices are set out in Table 9.5. Nine of the general practitioners estimated the prevalence of Alzheimer's and multi-infarct dementia close to reported levels. Four general practitioners over-estimated the prevalence of multi-infarct dementia, leaving 23 (64%) who did not know or who stated that there was only one type of dementia (which they described as either cerebral atrophy or arteriosclerosis). The estimates of the prevalence of Alzheimer's disease within the range 60% to 75% are closest to the levels reported in neuropathological studies, as are 20% to 33% for multi-infarct dementia (Ojeda et al, 1986; Henderson & Jorm, 1986). However, Ojeda and his colleagues found a much lower rate of multi-infarct dementia amongst the 60 cases they examined. Eighteen percent were found to have a combination of Alzheimer's disease with lacunar infarcts (11%) or only lacunar infarcts (7%).

Alzheimer's disease	Multi-infarct or another form	Number of GPs (%)
50	50	3 (8)
60	40	1 (3)
66	33	2 (6)
70	30	1 (3)
75	25	3 (8)
80	20	3 (8)
Did not lik not know o was only o dementia	te to guess, did or thought there ne form of	23 (64)

# TABLE 9.5: Ratio of types of dementia thought tobe seen most frequently in general practice

Total

36 (100)

#### 9.3.1 Problems encountered by general practitioners

General practitioners were requested to list the problems they most frequently encountered when treating a dementing patient. The two most frequently cited problems were dealing with the patients' families and the patient not coping alone. The next two most frequently cited problems were the availability of care services (or lack of them) and danger to the patient resulting
from the dementia (Table 9.6).

# TABLE 9.6: Problems encountered by generalpractitioners with dementing patients

Problem encountered Frequency (%)

Problem associated with patient's families	16
Patient not coping alone	15
Availability of care services	11
Danger to patient (eg wandering)	10
Medication	9
General practitioner's time	3
Making accurate diagnoses	2
Depression	1

#### 9.4 Responses to case vignettes

The three vignettes described case histories of an elderly female with the typical features of Alzheimer's disease; a depressed daughter caring for an elderly dementing mother; and a depressed elderly male. A 72% response rate was achieved for the return of the vignettes. (Ten of the 36 general practitioners failed to return the vignettes even though they were reminded at least once by telephone that the vignettes had not been returned. It is suggested that either these general practitioners were too busy, misplaced the vignettes or were not sufficiently interested in the research to return them.) The following three sub-

sections summarise the general practitioners' responses to the questions on the vignettes.

## 9.4.1 Vignette 1 - Case history of an elderly female with typical features of Alzheimer's disease

*Diagnosis* - The general practitioners were asked to select a multiple-choice range of conditions. Three general practitioners chose multi-infarct dementia and four thought it was a combination of dementia and depression. The remaining 19, who returned the vignettes, correctly selected Alzheimer's disease. It is noteworthy that six of the 19 were unsure about Alzheimer's disease and put a question mark in another box.

*Case Management* - It is of particular interest to note that about two thirds of the general practitioners would refer this patient to the Geriatric Assessment Team (GAT) but less than a quarter would suggest she enter a hostel or nursing home (Table 9.7). It is also noteworthy that almost 60% of the general practitioners would change their course of action if the patient were younger. For the most part, the general practitioners' investigations would be more intensive in a younger patient. A high proportion of the general practitioners would seek further information on the patient (65%), presumably from family and friends (85%). TABLE 9.7:Summary of responses to managementquestions on Vignette 1

Management strategy Number of GP (% of respond			
Seek more information	17 (65)		
Provide a prescription*	1 (4)		
Refer patient to geriatricia or GAT	n 16 (62)		
Refer patient for diagnostic tests	c 19 (73)		
Suggest hostel entry	3 (12)		
Suggest nursing home entry	y 2 (8)		
Assess her current living arrangements	18 (69)		
Contact family member or	friend 22 (85)		
Monitor the patient's situa	tion 16 (62)		
Change the course of action the patient was younger	on if 15 (58)		

\*An antidepressant would have been prescribed.

# 9.4.2 Vignette 2 - Case history of a depressed daughter who is caring for her elderly dementing mother

*Diagnosis* - No diagnosis was required for this vignette as the conditions weas stated in the vignette.

Case Management - A much smaller proportion of general practitioners would seek more information on this case (35%) but a much higher proportion would suggest the dementing mother, being looked after by a depressed daughter, enter a form of residential care (ranging from hospital (27%), nursing home (35%) or hostel (19%)).

Management strategy	Number of GPs (% of respondents)		
Seek further information	9	(35)	
Provide a prescription for depression	10	(38)	
Provide counselling for patient and family	17	(65)	
Refer patient to psychiatrist	1	(4)	
Arrange to see dementing mother	r 14	(54)	
Refer mother to geriatrician or GAT	17	(65)	
Add to home care services	13	(50)	
Suggest mother enter a hostel	5	(19)	
Suggest nursing home entry	9	(35)	
Admit mother to hospital	7	(27)	
Monitor situation	8	(31)	
Change course of action if mother lived with daughter	3	(12)	

### TABLE 9.8:Summary of responses to managementquestions in Vignette 2

# 9.4.3 Vignette 3 - Case history of depressed elderly male with a history of depression

*Diagnosis* - Nineteen of the general practitioners correctly identified the elderly male as depressed in this vignette but the remaining seven general practitioners thought the patient had depression which presented as dementia.

*Case Management* - None of the general practitioners would refer this patient to a GAT and only three to a specialist. However, the majority would provide him with medication for his depression; provide counselling; and contact a family member or friend.

TABLE	9.9:	Summary	of	responses	to	management
question	s in Vi	gnette 3				

Management strategy	Number of GPs
	(% of respondents)

Seek further information	15	(58)
Provide a prescription	21	(81)
Provide counselling	20	(77)
Refer him to specialist	3	(12)
Refer him to GAT	0	(0)
Arrange for home care services	17	(65)
Suggest entry to a hostel	1	(4)
Suggest nursing home entry	0	(0)
Admit him to hospital	1	(4)
Contact a family member or friend	20	(77)
Monitor his situation	17	(65)

#### 9.5 Summary of general practitioners' comments on care and service provision in the Australian Capital Territory (ACT)

#### 9.5.1 Home care and community services

Four general practitioners felt that it was easier to convince Home Care and Meals on Wheels that a patient needed a service if s/he had a physical disability as opposed to depression or dementia. One also mentioned that Meals on Wheels is less eager to help if there is a family who is assisting an elderly patient.

Six general practitioners felt that the District Nursing Service was overloaded with work; had insufficient staff; and unable to supply service 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. In addition, they found having to book a service inconvenient in a crisis and that the current situation discriminates against committed caregivers. The alternative is private nursing care which is very expensive.

The following summarises the most positive comments of the general practitioners regarding community services.

- Red Cross Home Help is particularly useful for dementing patients.

- The Council on the Ageing is very helpful. The Carers Support Group and the At Home Respite Program were mentioned by one general practitioner as being particularly helpful.

- The Emergency Housekeeping Service was considered useful for all types of patients. Not only did it provide practical assistance but company for the elderly patient.

- The Northside Voluntary Service takes patients shopping, to appointments and helped one patient with the provision of firewood.

- The Southside Community Service was frequently contacted by one general practitioner who found it very co-operative.

- District nurses were considered to be particularly useful for controlling dementia patients' medication.

- Two general practitioners mentioned they contacted ethnic groups to provide support for patients at home.

#### 9.5.2 Residential services

Eighteen of the general practitioners mentioned the difficulties associated with placing a patient in a nursing home and 12 mentioned difficulties with hostel placement. One felt there was no problem getting a patient into a hostel. Six mentioned that if a patient was over 70 years it was almost impossible to get a hospital bed. Insufficient respite accommodation at Woden Valley Hospital was considered a problem, as was the need to book so far in advance.

The GAT was considered very helpful by two general practitioners but came under criticism from three others. It was felt that the GAT repeated tests already done by the general practitioner and did not consult with the general practitioner. It was also felt that the GAT was not fully informed on the patients, thereby making it difficult for them to make decisions on care. One general practitioner said that he does not refer elderly patients to any services or specialist and only refers them to the GAT so there is no duplication of services.

Other pertinent points made by the general practitioners relating to residential care were that it is very hard to convince patients to accept help or care; and that general practitioners need to consider the quality of life for children and their families when residential care is being considered.

#### 9.5.3 General comments on service provision

It was frequently mentioned that it was necessary to understand bureaucratic policies and procedures. But not all general practitioners knew the policies or procedures, nor indeed how to acquire basic information. This lack of information and how to obtain it led to specific questions regarding amounts of care patients are entitled to; details of day care and transport availability; and arrangement of respite. The answers to these questions should ideally be known by general practitioners but at the very least they should know how to obtain the answers. These issues are critical because, in the absence of any fundamental cure or treatment for dementia, the main function of the general practitioner will be to maintain elderly people within the community for as long as possible and to "limit and delay dependency and deterioration." (Bergmann, 1983).

#### **CHAPTER 10**

### DISCUSSION ON KNOWLEDGE OF DEMENTIA AND DEPRESSION BY GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

#### 10.1 Introduction

The results of this second stage of the study indicate that general practitioners' knowledge of the symptoms and signs of depression and dementia is limited and, therefore, could be improved. Knowledge of the most common causes of dementia was also limited and frequently erroneous.

#### 10.2 Knowledge of depression

Under the conditions of this study, two thirds of the general practitioners were able to cite three or fewer symptoms of depression. This finding is similar to results obtained in a recent North American study where medical residents (not experienced general practitioners) knew few of the diagnostic criteria and aetiological factors relating to depression in the elderly (Rapp & Davis, 1989). The most frequently cited symptoms for depression in both studies included changed sleep patterns and weight or appetite change. The present study also found that about half of the general practitioners mentioned the appearance of being depressed. When the general practitioners were asked about the symptoms they look for in diagnosing depression, many symptoms were rarely mentioned. However, the frequency with which the general practitioners mentioned symptoms of depression corresponded reasonably well with the observed symptoms in the patients (Figure 9.1). Important exceptions were loss of energy, inability to think or concentrate, feelings of worthlessness or guilt and recurrent thoughts of death which were rarely mentioned by the general practitioners but found in the patients. These symptoms warrant more attention in general practice consultations with the elderly.

The present findings help account for the low recognition rate for depression in the elderly observed in this and the other recent Australian study (Pond *et al*, 1990). Greater knowledge of the symptoms and signs of depression by general practitioners may help to rectify this under-recognition.

When questioned about symptoms or signs of depression, about a quarter of the general practitioners mentioned symptoms related to anxiety as well as depression. The general practitioners seemed uncertain of the distinction between depression and anxiety. This is not surprising as anxiety and depression symptoms are frequently observed to co-exist in the general population and particularly in elderly patients in unfamiliar situations (Bergmann, 1978). In many cases the symptoms of anxiety may appear to be more disabling to the general practitioner and, therefore, anxiety is treated at the expense of the depression (Hendrie & Crossett, 1990).

#### 10.3 Knowledge of dementia

Although the general practitioners' recognition rate was higher for dementia than depression, and similar to another recent study in Australia (Mant *et al*, 1988), their reported knowledge of symptoms and signs of dementia was limited. Thirty general practitioners described two or fewer diagnostic symptoms for dementia. The maximum number of symptoms mentioned was four. The question which arises from these findings is: *Why do general practitioners recognise dementia as well as has been reported, considering their poor knowledge of its features*? The answer to this may be that one sign of dementia, memory impairment, is such a good discriminator that a reasonably accurate diagnosis can be made using it alone. Most general practitioners mentioned memory impairment. Depression, by contrast, may require several features to be identified for accurate diagnosis.

#### 10.4 Types of dementia

When asked about the type of dementia seen most frequently in their practice, 22 general practitioners mentioned dementias other than Alzheimer's disease or did not know. The conception that most dementias are due to multiple infarcts, cerebral atrophy or arteriosclerosis is inconsistent with neuropathological evidence (Ojeda *et al*, 1986; Henderson & Jorm, 1986). These results are not dissimilar to those in a comparable American study where causes other than Alzheimer's disease were thought by physicians to be the primary cause of dementia. The level of knowledge also appears to be similar to that mentioned by Sabin and his colleagues (1982) who observed that "Some [physicians] still believe that all dementia is caused by hardening of the arteries and is a natural consequence of ageing" and were therefore reluctant to diagnose or treat elderly dementing patients.

At present, neuropathological evidence is the most accurate means of determining the proportions of the various dementias in the aged population. In a neuropathological survey of all demented patients who were necropsied in Perth, Western Australia, 73% had changes characteristic of Alzheimer's disease. The remaining cases were found to have miscellaneous causes of dementia (Ojeda et al, 1986). In summarising neuropathological studies from Europe, Henderson & Jorm (1986) concluded that about 70% of patients had Alzheimer's disease or Alzheimer's disease mixed with other dementing disorders; 17% had multi-infarct dementia; and 10% were found to have other disorders.

This finding of limited knowledge of dementing diseases may also help explain the general practitioners' moderate recognition rates. Perhaps it was not recognition *per se* but lack of knowledge of the dementing diseases which led to the poor identification rate. Given that a high proportion of the general practitioners were unfamiliar with the appropriate terminology and diagnostic signs and symptoms, they may have ascribed cognitive impairment to 'senility' or 'normal ageing' rather than to the effects of specific dementing diseases. Whatever the reason, these results provide an indication of a need for the dissemination of information on dementia and its causes to general practitioners.

#### 10.5 Management of depression and dementia

When answering the questions relating to the case histories, the general

practitioners provided information on their management of dementia and depression in elderly patients and the use of specialist services. A number of interesting findings emerged.

First, GATs are seen as appropriate for demented patients but not for those with depression. This perception may be justified. GATs, under the auspice of the Commonwealth Department of Community Services and Health, have taken on the gatekeeper role for residential care in Australia and dementia is a major reason for considering this form of care. However, depression is not generally in itself a reason for considering residential care and its specialist management is more the province of psychogeriatrics. Furthermore, few GATs employ or even consult a psychogeriatrician.

Second, very few general practitioners would refer depressed patients to a specialist. In addition, it is noteworthy that only one of 101 participating patients had been referred to a psychiatrist either at the 'study consultation' or in the previous month. These findings suggests that general practitioners tend to treat common disorders such as depression themselves and refer them to a specialist only when the treatment becomes difficult, fails or is very severe. This result accords with a recent finding by Jorm & Henderson (1989) that elderly people in Australia receive a disproportionately low share of private psychiatric services. They speculated that low referral rates from general practitioners could be an important factor.

Third, the majority of general practitioners would refer an elderly patient with suspected Alzheimer's disease for diagnostic tests. This result is contrary to expectations as it was felt that general practitioners may be less likely to refer elderly dementing patients for tests due to their age, level of cognitive deterioration and the lack of any specific diagnostic test or effective treatment for Alzheimer's disease. However, tests are no doubt undertaken so that treatable causes of dementia can be diagnosed.

Fourth, nursing homes and hostels are considered to be more appropriate for elderly patients when the carer is stressed than for dementia *per se*. The general practitioners' views on this issue are in accord with recent evidence that stress in carers is a major factor in the decision to seek residential care and that residential care is effective in relieving this stress (Jorm, 1988).

#### 10.6 Continuing education

Based on the present findings, and if they are confirmed in future research, the need for further general practitioner training in psychological disturbances of the elderly should be a priority for medical faculties and the RACGP. Further and continuing education should be targeted at the experienced, older general practitioners who have higher proportions of elderly people in their practices and who know less about dementia and depression (Rubin *et al*, 1987). General practitioners acknowledge that they need to continue learning but that continuing education, which in Australia is at their own expense, has to compete with scarce time already consumed by practice and family commitments (Forrest *et al*, 1989)

Communication with patients (or the obtaining of information) and the processing of that information were not specifically examined in this study. These processes do, however, have direct relevance to the recognition of psychological disorders. Three patients were excluded from the present study because, at the commencement of the interview, it was found that they were under 70 years of age. The general practitioners had referred these people for inclusion in the study because they erroneously thought the patient was over 70 years of age. This small, but not insignificant point, suggests that misunderstandings can occur during the 'initiation' component of the diagnostic process and that, perhaps, there is room for improvement in doctor-patient communication.

#### 10.7 The future of geriatrics in general practice

Only three general practitioners stated that they had an interest in geriatric medicine, one of whom had additional training in the field. *Why is there such little interest in geriatric medicine by these general practitioners who have a substantial proportion of elderly patients in their practices?* As elderly people make up a very high proportion of patients in teaching hospitals (Byrne, personal communication), perhaps it is not surprising that young general practitioners, who have spent a considerable amount of their training time caring for elderly people in hospitals, wish to concentrate on other aspects of general practice when they graduate.

A strategy for meeting not only the problems of dementia and depression, but also of all other physical, psychological and social problems in the elderly, is required. One of the priorities should be "to have younger clinicians much more interested in the elderly, with a far higher level of competence in practice, especially general practice" (Henderson, 1983).

Perhaps one of the reasons for lack of interest or up-to-date knowledge of symptoms and signs of dementia and depression observed in this study is that over a third of the participating general practitioners graduated before the middle of the 1950s. These general practitioners were trained during and shortly after the Second World War and it has been suggested that the dominant interest during that time in general practice was in physical illness (Thomas, 1981). Thomas (an English general practitioner) goes on to say that: "Those of us who were studying medicine in the 1940s experienced a curriculum and attitudes that concentrated on the body, and interest in and insight into things of the mind were minimal." He goes on to suggest that attitudes gradually changed after this time and that more doctors began taking an interest in and thus reported more psychological illness.

The results of this component of the study suggest that either the attitudes are still changing; or the attitudes have changed but there is minimal interest in and knowledge of psychological disorders, especially in the elderly. Whichever the case may be, attitudes, interest and knowledge can be improved through education and further training to: close gaps in factual knowledge; enhance interviewing skills (and the use of both verbal and non-verbal cues) employed to elicit information; and also enhance the diagnostic thinking processes used to interpret the information. Improvements to general practitioners' performance in these areas would no only provide substantial, long-term economic and social benefits but also reassurance to patients, their families and the community at large that accurate diagnoses and appropriate care are readily accessible.

#### **CHAPTER 11**

#### **CONCLUSIONS**

#### 11.1 Summary of research findings

There is no dispute that a major demographic change is taking place in Australia. Equally, there is no dispute that, in later life, the chance of becoming demented increases exponentially. There also appears to be little dispute that depression is the most common psychiatric disorder and the one most frequently encountered by general practitioners. Additionally, there is no dispute that there is considerable variability in the detection of these psychiatric disorders by general practitioners and that, for the most part, detection rates have not been of a high order. Other recent Australian investigations suggest that, not only is there considerable variability in the Australian general practitioners' accuracy in the detection of psychological disorders but also, there is room for improvement in their accuracy. General practitioners are more accurate in their detection of dementia than depression. However, the detection rates were not high for either condition. The second component of the study has identified certain deficiencies in the general practitioners' knowledge about dementia and depression in the elderly. These deficiencies explain, to some degree, the inadequate recognition rates for dementia and depression. The questions arising from these findings are: Would similar findings be obtained in larger samples of general practitioners and patients? Why is the detection and knowledge of dementia and depression inadequate? What can be done to improve the situation? And more specifically, how do these findings relate to the theoretical basis of the present study (outlined in Chapters 1 to 4)?

Due to the inadequate detection rates observed in the present study, the progression of patient care through the model described in the rationale for the study (Figure 4.2) from the presentation of symptoms and signs to recognition and management cannot be assumed. This finding confirms Goldberg and Huxley's (1980) theory, conceptualised in the pathway to mental health care (Figure 3.1), that general practitioners miss a substantial proportion of patients with psychological disorders (Level 2). This finding highlights two further points (i) that many elderly people are neither treated by the general practitioner nor referred to specialists (that is, they do not pass either the first or the second filter); and (ii) that one of the variables examined, knowledge about dementia and depression, may be a critical factor in general practitioners' detection of psychological and neuropsychiatric disorders.

#### 11.2 Limitations of the study

While the results of this study have potentially important implications for general practice, there are limitations which must be pointed out.

Firstly, the sample of patients was relatively small in terms of the aged population residing in the inner suburbs of Canberra. Until a larger sample of elderly consulters can be examined in a similarly designed study, the generalised conclusions of this study should be treated with caution. Secondly, the sample of general practitioners, whilst an expanded one, was still only small and drawn from a limited geographical area. These general practitioners were perhaps more aware of the problems of elderly people as they all practice in areas of Canberra with relatively high aged populations and all agreed to participate in a study of elderly patients. Furthermore, in the first component of the study, all but one general practitioner belonged to the RACGP. The study needs to be extended to other States so that the generality of these findings can be confirmed.

Thirdly, there are limitations in the instruments used as a standard to judge the general practitioners' performance. The measures for cognitive impairment were the MMSE, Information/Orientation scale and the IQCODE, none of which can make a diagnosis or fully covers all the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for dementia. Furthermore, these instruments are recognised to be accurate when screening for moderate or severe dementia but may be poor at identifying mild dementia.

However, the Diagnostic Interview for Depression was more comprehensive. It covered the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for Major Depression, thus providing a more thorough measure for depression than for dementia. It is conceivable that this led to the detection of cases of depression more effectively than for cases of dementia. The general practitioners nevertheless seem to be poorer at detecting depression than dementia.

Fourthly, dementia and depression are both states lying on continua from normality to severe disorders. What is a "case" represents an arbitrary cutoff on these continua, established by committees and consensus amongst researchminded clinicians. The general practitioners are likely to differ between themselves in where they place the threshold for defining a case and they may also differ from the thresholds used in the criterion instruments. No threshold can be considered the absolute truth in a Platonic sense; and the thresholds employed by general practitioners may be quite appropriate in general practice, even though they differ from those imposed by researchers specialising in mental disorders. To some extent, then, the present study is about the extent to which the general practitioners' concepts of depression and dementia agree with those imposed by researchers, which may not necessarily be appropriate or optimal for general practice.

Fifthly, the results relating to general practitioners' knowledge may be significant for future training of both newly graduated and experienced general practitioners. However, the mode of questioning may have underestimated the general practitioners' knowledge about dementia and depression. For example, the general practitioners' may have had 'procedural' or 'practical' knowledge of how to recognise these conditions, whereas the oral interview assessed only 'declarative' or 'reported' knowledge of symptoms and signs. Finally, some general practitioners may have been better communicators of their knowledge of these conditions than others.

#### **11.3 Implications of findings**

When dementia is present in a patient, but not diagnosed, the patients, the family and the general practitioner are each at a disadvantage. The interpretation of complaints; providing advice and counselling to the family; invoking and co-

ordinating support from community services; the management of intercurrent illnesses; the deterioration of cognitive impairment if inappropriate drugs are prescribed; and the promise of memory enhancing drugs in the future are all compelling reasons for the screening and diagnosis of dementia by general practitioners (Henderson, 1983).

When depression is present but not formally recognised, needless distress to patient and family occurs, especially if it is wrongly ascribed to age or to physical disorders or if it remains untreated, since there is a range of effective treatments now available, both pharmacological and non-pharmacological (The Quality Assurance Project, 1983; Johnson & Wilson, 1989). As Murphy (1983) concludes, depression has such a poor prognosis in the elderly that more attention should be paid to the prevention of depression. If general practitioners were to become more alert to physical and psychological problems of elderly people, especially at an early stage, they would be in a better position to prevent or at least alleviate morbidity from depression.

If, as a result of a raised awareness of psychological disorders in the elderly, general practitioners do increase their detection rate, what would be the cost implications?

Depression

Antidepressants would probably be targeted more effectively by general practitioners. Truly depressed people would be prescribed more antidepressants, but this would be counteracted by a reduction in inappropriate prescriptions.

#### Dementia

There could be a greater demand for residential and community services

and carer support. Perhaps more tests would be undertaken. Simple dementia screening tests would be cheap and useful, but there is a danger laboratory tests could be overused, for example, thyroid, vitamin- $B_{12}$ , CT. These are only useful in detecting treatable causes of dementia, which Smith & Kiloh (1981) showed were rare in the elderly. Detailed investigation may only be worthwhile in younger cases. Also, Eastwood & Corbin (1981) have pointed out that the cost of testing for treatable dementia would be enormous if applied indiscriminately on a national scale.

In summary, it is highly desirable for health, economic and social reasons, that general practitioners recognise and diagnose dementia and depression early and accurately. It is frequently recommended that short screening instruments should be used as a matter of course in general practice to increase accuracy and efficiency, thereby reducing the need for referral to specialist units for expensive diagnostic testing.

#### **11.4 Practical implications**

The findings point to the need for further training in common psychiatric disorders of the elderly, particularly depression, not only for undergraduates, but for experienced general practitioners who treat a high proportion of the elderly population.

#### Implications for Faculties of Medicine

Attention should be paid to improvement of medical students' knowledge of psychiatric disorders in the elderly; criteria for the basis of diagnoses; skills to make accurate diagnoses; and current management and referral practices. Perhaps, as concluded by Doyle & Ware (1977), emphasis should be placed on interpersonal skills and attitudes of prospective doctors at the time of selection and on 'the art of care' throughout their training.

#### Implications for Royal Australian College of General Practitioners

It is probably more difficult to identify and approach experienced, busy general practitioners with a view to enhancing their knowledge and practices or modifying their communication skills. However, two different approaches to continuing education for general practitioners have proved successful. Courses ranging from five evenings to 18 two-hour weekly sessions have succeeded in improving psychiatric interviewing skills (Andrews & Brodaty, 1980; Gask *et al*, 1987) and a personal approach to physicians succeeded in altering drug-related practices for the better (Avorn & Soumerai, 1983; Ray *et al*, 1986).

#### Implications for general practitioners

Firstly, participation in formal or informal continuing education on psychiatric disorders in the elderly may contribute to their knowledge and interest in this field and their psychiatric interviewing skills.

Secondly, the information provided by the screening instruments used in this study (that is, MMSE and Information/Orientation scale for dementia and the GHQ for depression) would be valuable aids to the general practitioner in diagnosis and treatment. As a high proportion of the general practitioners said that they would contact friends or relatives or relied on them for information in the actual cases and in the vignettes, the IQCODE should be further developed for use in the general practice setting.

Although the focus of the research has been on determining how many demented and depressed patients general practitioners do not identify, the majority of the patients are not demented or depressed; are physically independent; have a person to turn to when in need (informant); and know how to seek services when necessary. To some extent this makes the general practitioners' task even more difficult as s/he has to be constantly alert to the possibility of cognitive impairment and/or depression.

#### 11.5 Future research

Given the dearth of information and data on this topic, especially in the Australian context, and given the urgency with which it is required for timely planning and training, it is essential that research into this field not only continues but expands.

#### 11.5.1 Direct extensions of the study

Initially, in order to confirm these findings, a study should be extended to other Australian states using the same research design but with larger samples of general practitioners and patients. In addition to this (or combined with it), a controlled trial comparing different methods of intervention aimed at improving identification, diagnosis and knowledge should be undertaken. There are a range of possible intervention strategies which could be used. Soumerai *et al* (1989) reviewed the strategies which had been directed at improving the effectiveness and efficiency of drug prescribing practice including dissemination of printed educational material; group education, such as seminars; "academically based 'detailing'" which is a term coined by Avorn & Soumerai (1983) for one-to-one education. Similar interventions could also be developed with a view to improving general practitioners' recognition rate and knowledge. For example, the effectiveness and efficiency of printed material, group education, "academic detailing", or a combination of these interventions could be compared with a control group of general practitioners who received no intervention. Such a study could also provide information on economic aspects of accurate recognition including changes in frequency of diagnostic testing, prescribing patterns and referral practices.

All the studies cited in this thesis, including this one, have compared general practitioners' detection of disorders based on one consultation. As suggested by Blacker & Clare (1987) perhaps a more accurate measure of general practitioners' detection of 'hidden' psychiatric disorders may be achieved if diagnostic accuracy was based on more than one consultation with each patient. They proposed that three consultations may more accurately reflect general practitioners detection of psychiatric disorders. This is a particularly attractive idea but there are two drawbacks to the suggested expansion of consultations. For the most part, general practitioners agree to participate in research freely, but with some reluctance, as it is time consuming and may be intimidating. Any extension to general practitioners' involvement or participating time should be considered carefully. Additionally, in order to obtain a high participation rate for patients, the period of time required to interview patients three times could prove

impractical for research purposes<sup>11</sup>.

An examination of methods to increase general practitioners' recognition rate, heighten their awareness, increase knowledge and interest, change perceptions about elderly patients, provide more information on drugs and treatment, also on the range of care and services available, strengthen and/or clarify the role of Geriatric Assessment Teams and provide general practitioners with more information on residential care options should be undertaken. Some educational options are mentioned above (Section 11.4) but careful consideration should be given to the optimal approach, for example, how the information should be delivered (personally, video, printed etc), by whom (Royal Colleges, Universities), to whom (students, which general practitioners) and how much (level of detail).

The information obtained on the management of depression and dementia by general practitioners raises more questions than are answered and would be another fruitful area for further examination with an expanded sample of general practitioners in other areas.

On a more specific level, it would be useful to explore the interaction between the physical health of elderly people and scores on screening instruments, particularly the GHQ and IQCODE. If these two instruments are to be beneficial to general practitioners, then it would be essential to know the degree to which physical health influences the scores; and how such confounding might be overcome.

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$ It should be noted that in the present study all the patients had visited the general practitioner previously and only 17% had had a consultation the previous month, only 39% in two months and 82% in 12 months.

#### 11.5.2 Broader issues to be covered in future work

Many broader questions arise as a result of this investigation. If recognition of psychiatric disturbances is so poor, is it only psychological disturbances that general practitioners are poor at detecting in elderly patients; how much physical illness remains undetected; how much do general practitioners understand about the elderly in general; and are they really interested? Perhaps these questions will never be fully answered but there are two possible approaches which may throw further light into this area. First, and perhaps the most obvious and researched perspective: that of targeting the general practitioners' knowledge, and identification and diagnostic processes, in relation to the treatment of psychological disturbances in the elderly. The second, and less well explored approach is that of the patient's willingness, confidence and ability to communicate effectively with a general practitioner. These aspects could be examined through a program aimed at empowering the elderly in clinical or medical settings. Philosophical principles which could form the basis of programs to assist the empowerment of elderly patients have already been laid down (Clark, 1989). The third and probably most fruitful avenue to explore, would be a combination of the two approaches. Despite these worthy intentions, it should be recognised that the demented and the depressed are the least likely to become empowered because of the very nature of their condition.

In an attempt to ascertain why there is under-recognition of psychological disorders in the elderly, answers to a range of further questions should be pursued. For example, what cues and symptoms do elderly patients display which alert general practitioners to disorders; what diagnostic thinking processes are most effectively employed; and at what stage and why do general practitioners refer patients to specialists?

Over the coming years, it will be inevitable that general practitioners will be playing an expanded role in the community, particularly in relation to the elderly. An examination of cost-effective ways in which general practitioners can fulfil this expanded role will be essential to health and finance policy makers alike. Such an expanded role has been envisaged by the present Minister for Community Services and Health who contended that general practitioners would be expected to spend more time with their patients, become involved in community groups and develop closer links with other health professionals (Jones, 1990).

#### 11.6 Conclusion

The diagnosis and treatment of dementia and depression in the elderly by general practitioners is a matter of considerable public health relevance. With the ageing of the Australian population, accurate and timely diagnosis and treatment will become increasingly important to the mental health and independence of the elderly. General practitioners will, therefore, have to be prepared to meet the mental health needs of the elderly over the coming years. If the findings of this thesis are confirmed on a larger sample, further and continuing education on psychological disorders in the elderly for medical students and experienced general practitioners alike will be essential if they are to meet that need.

#### REFERENCES

Adams, G.L., Cheney, C.C., Tristan, M.P., Friese, J. & Schweitzer, L.R. (1978) Mental health in primary care training and practice: an innovative approach. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 9: 49-60.

Almind, G. (1985) The general practitioner and the dementia patient. Danish Medical Bulletin 32: 65-67.

American Psychiatric Association (1987) Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. (3rd edn-revised). Washington, DC: APA.

Andersen, N.A, Bridges-Webb, C. & Chancellor, A.H.B. (1986) General Practice in Australia. Sydney: Sydney University Press.

Andrews, G. & Brodaty, H. (1980) General practitioner as psychotherapist. *Medical Journal of Australia* 2: 655-659.

Anonymous. (1964) Mental disease in general practice. British Medical Journal 11: 1347.

Anthony, J.C., LeResche, L., Niaz, U., VonKorff, M.R. & Folstein, M.F. (1982) Limits of the 'Mini-Mental State' as a screening test for dementia and delirium among hospital patients. *Psychological Medicine* 12: 397-408.

Attwood, A. (1989) Scourge of the aged. Time September, 1989: 64-69.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (1988) Australia in Profile: Census 86, Catalogue No. 2502.0, Canberra.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (1983) Australian Health Survey, Catalogue No. 4311.0, Canberra.

Australian Council on the Ageing (ACOTA) and Australian Department of Community Services. (1985) Older People at Home Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

188

Avorn, J. & Soumerai, S.B. (1983) Improving drug-therapy decisions through educational outreach: a randomized controlled trial of academically based "detailing". *New England Journal of Medicine* 308: 1457-1463.

Barrows, H.S., Norman, G.R., Neufeld, V.R. & Feightner, J.W. (1982) The clinical reasoning of randomly selected physicians in general medical practice. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine* 5: 49-55.

Beaumont, J. (1989) Alzheimer's: the disease we can't forget. Ita October.

Bellak, L. (1976) Relating to the aged in *Geriatric Psychiatry: A Handbook for Psychiatrists and Primary Care Physicians*, L. Bellak & T. B. Karasu (eds) New York: Grune & Stratton, 13-20.

Bergmann, K. (1978) Neurosis and personality disorder in old age in *Studies in Geriatric Psychiatry*, A. Isaacs & F. Post (eds) Chichester: John Wiley.

Bergmann, K. (1983) The care of older people, institutional and community considerations. WHO Scientific Group on Senile Dementia, Paris, 30 August-5 September.

Bickel, H. (1989) A study of cognitive disorders in elderly general practice patients: case-identification and diagnostic assessment. WPA Section of Epidemiology and Community Psychiatry Symposium on "Psychiatric Epidemiology and Primary Health Care". Toronto, May 31 to June 2, 1989.

Blacker, C.V.R. & Clare, A.W. (1987) Depressive disorder in primary care. British Journal of Psychiatry 150: 737-751.

Blacker, C.V.R. & Clare, A.W. (1988) The prevalence and treatment of depression in general practice. *Psychopharmacology* 95: S14-S17.

Blazer, D.G. (1982) Depression in Late Life. St Louis: C.V.Mosby.

Blazer, D., Hughes, D.C. & George, L.K. (1987) The epidemiology of depression in an elderly community population. *The Gerontologist* 27: 281-287.

Blazer, D. & Williams, C.D. (1980) Epidemiology of dysphoria and depression in an elderly population. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 137: 439-444.

Borus, J.F., Howes, M.J., Devins, N.P., Rosenberg, R. & Livingston, W.W. (1988) Primary health care providers' recognition and diagnosis of mental disorders in their patients. *General Hospital Psychiatry* 10: 317-321.

Bowling, A. & Cartwright, A. (1982) Life After a Death. London: Tavistock.

Brayne, C. & Calloway, P. (1990) The case identification of dementia in the

community: a comparison of methods. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 5: 309-316.

Brodaty, H., Andrews, G. & Kehoe, L. (1982) Psychiatric illness in general practice I. Why is it missed? *Australian Family Physician* 11: 625-631.

Brodaty, H., Griffin, D. & Hadzi-Pavlovic, D. (1990) A survey of dementia carers: doctors' communications; problem behaviours; and institutional care. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* (in press).

Brodaty, H. & Snowdon, J. (1989) The practice of psychogeriatrics in *Textbook* of *Psychiatry*, P.J.V. Beumont & R.B. Hampshire (eds) Melbourne: Blackwell Scientific, 228-235.

Brody, D.S. (1980) Physician recognition of behavioral, psychological, and social aspects of medical care. Archives of Internal Medicine 140: 1286-1289.

Burns, B.J. & Burke, J.D. (1985) Improving mental health practices in primary care: findings from recent research. *Public Health Reports* 100: 294-300.

Burvill, P.W. (1988) Psychiatric disorders in primary care in Handbook of Social Psychiatry, A.S. Henderson & G.D. Burrows (eds) Melbourne: Elsevier Science 221-231.

Burvill, P.W. & Knuiman, M.W. (1983) Which version of the General Health Questionnaire should be used in community studies? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 17: 237-242.

Burvill, P.W., Knuiman, M.W. & Finlay-Jones, R.A. (1984) A factor analytic study of the 60-item General Health Questionnaire in Australian community and general practice settings. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 18: 256-262.

Byrne, G. (1990) Personal communication.

Carpiniello, B., Carta, M.G. & Rudas, N. (1989) Depression among elderly people: a psychosocial study of urban and rural populations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 80: 445-450.

Cavalier, R. (1988) The politics of aging. *Financial Review*, Friday, October 28, Weekend 1 and 3.

Cavanaugh, S.A. (1983) The prevalence of emotional and cognitive dysfunction in a general medical population: using the MMSE, GHQ and BDI. General Hospital Psychiatry 5: 15-24.

Chancellor, A., Mant, A. & Andrews, G. (1977) The general practitioner's

identification and management of emotional disorders. Australian Family Physician 6: 1137-1143.

Clare, A.W. (1983) Psychiatry in general practice. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners 33: 195-198.

Clark, P.G. (1989) The philosophical foundation of empowerment. Journal of Aging and Health 1: 267-285.

Copeland, J.R.M., Dewey, M.E., Wood, N., Searle, R., Davidson, I.A. & McWilliam, C. (1987) Range of mental illness among the elderly in the community: prevalence in Liverpool using the GMS-AGECAT package. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 150: 815-823.

Cockburn, J., Killer, D., Campbell, E. & Sanson-Fisher, R.W. (1987) Measuring general practitioners' attitudes towards medical care. *Family Practice* 4: 192-199.

Comfort, A. (1980) Practice of Geriatric Psychiatry. Elsevier North Holland: New York.

Cooper, B. (1989) Early detection of dementia in the primary care setting. 5th European Symposium on Social Psychiatry: "Social Psychiatry and Public Health". Manchester Institute of Science & Technology 12-14 April, 1989.

Cooper, B. & Schwarz, R. (1982) Psychiatric case- identification in an elderly urban population. Social Psychiatry 17: 43-52.

Davenport, S., Goldberg, D. & Millar, T. (1987) How psychiatric disorders are missed during medical consultations. *The Lancet* ii: 439-441.

Doyle, B.J. & Ware, J.E. (1977) Physician conduct and other factors that affect consumer satisfaction with medical care. *Journal of Medical Education* 52: 793-801.

Dudgeon, P., Dussuyer, I, Frank, L., Howe, A.L. & Wrennall, J. (1986) Assessment and services for the confused elderly. Occasional Paper in Gerontology 12. National Research Institute of Gerontology and Geriatric Medicine.

Dunn, G. (1985) Records of psychiatric morbidity in general practice: the National Morbidity Surveys. *Psychological Medicine* 15: 223-226.

Eastwood, R. & Corbin, S. (1981) Investigation of suspect dementia. *The Lancet* i: 1261.

Economic Planning Advisory Council (1988) Economic Effects of an Aging Population Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

Eisenberg, J.M. (1985) The internist as gatekeeper: preparing the general internist for a new role. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 102: 537-543.

Engedal, K., Gilje, K. & Lilleaas, F. (1989) Diagnostic evaluation of the mentally impaired elderly living at home. *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care* 7: 5-11.

Feldman, A. (1978) The family practitioner as psychiatrist. American Journal of Psychiatry 135: 728-731.

Ferry, G. (1988) Alzheimer's disease: a new age. New Scientist 12 November, 44-47.

Feinson, M.C. (1989) Are psychological disorders most prevalent among older adults? Examining the evidence. *Social Science and Medicine* 29: 1175-1181.

Forrest, J.M., McKenna, M., Stanley, I.M., Boaden, N.T. & Woodcock, G.T. (1989) Continuing education: a survey among general practitioners. *Family Practice* 6: 98-107.

Fillenbaum, G.G., Hughes, D.C., Heyman, A., George, L.K. & Blazer, D.G. (1988) Relationship of health and demographic characteristics to Mini-Mental State Examination score among community residents. *Psychological Medicine* 18: 719-726.

Finlay-Jones, R.A. & Murphy, E. (1979) Severity of psychiatric disorder and the 30-item General Health Questionnaire. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 134: 609-616.

Folstein, M., Anthony, J.C., Parhad, I., Duffy, B. & Gruenberg, E.M. (1985) The meaning of cognitive impairment in the elderly. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 33: 228-235.

Folstein, M.F., Folstein, S.E. & McHugh, P.R. (1975) "Mini-Mental State" A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 12: 189-198.

Freeling, P., Rao, B.M., Paykel, E.S., Sireling, L.I. & Burton, R.H. (1985) Unrecognised depression in general practice. *British Medical Journal* 290, 1180-1183.

Freer, C.B. (1985) Care of the elderly. The Lancet i: 268-269.

Gale, J. & Marsden, P. (1983) Medical Diagnosis From Student to Clinician. London: Oxford University Press.

Gask, L., Goldberg, D., Lesser, A.T. & Millar, T. (1988) Improving the psychiatric skills of the general practice trainee: an evaluation of a group training

course. Medical Education 22: 132-138.

Gask, L., McGrath, G., Goldberg, D. & Millar, T. (1987b) Improving the psychiatric skills of established general practitioners: evaluation of group teaching. *Medical Education* 21: 362-368.

Gibson, D.M. (1983) Health status of older people in *Health, Welfare and Family* in Later Life Kendig, H.L., Gibson, D.M., Rowland, D.T. & Hemer, J.M. Ageing and the Family Project, RSSS, Canberra: ANU.

Goldberg, D.P. (1972) The Detection of Psychiatric Illness by Questionnaire. Maudsley Monograph No. 21. London: Oxford University Press.

Goldberg, D. (1978) Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. Berkshire: NFER-Nelson.

Goldberg, D. (1982) The concept of a psychiatric "case" in general practice. *Social Psychiatry* 17: 61-65.

Goldberg, D. (1990) Reasons for misdiagnosis in *Psychological Disorders in General Medical Settings*, N. Sartorius (ed) Geneva: World Health Organisation (in press).

Goldberg, D. & Blackwell, B. (1970) Psychiatric illness in general practice: a detailed study using a new method of case identification. *British Medical Journal* 2: 439-443.

Goldberg, D.P. & Bridges, K. (1985) Somatic presentations of DSM-III psychiatric disorders in primary care. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 29: 563-569.

Goldberg, D.P., Bridges, K., Duncan-Jones, P. & Grayson, D. (1987) Dimensions of neuroses seen in primary-care settings. *Psychological Medicine* 17: 461-470.

Goldberg, D. & Huxley, P. (1980) Mental Illness in the Community: The Pathway to Psychiatric Care. London: Tavistock.

Goldberg, D. & Williams, P. (1988) A User's Guide to the General Health Questionnaire. Berkshire: NFER-Nelson.

Hachinski, V.C., Lassen, N.A. & Marshall, J. (1974) Multi-infarct dementia: a cause of mental deterioration in the elderly. *The Lancet* ii: 207-210.

Hanley, J.A. & McNeil, B.J. (1982) The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. *Radiology* 143: 29-36.

Health Insurance Commission (1985-86) Annual Report. Canberra: Australian

Government Publishing Service.

Henderson, A.S. (1983) College Address: The coming epidemic of dementia Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 17: 117-127.

Henderson, A.S. (1984) Disorders of memory and cognition: the dementias and other causes in *WHO Manual on Mental Disorders in the Elderly*, S. Kanowski (ed) Copenhagen: World Health Organisation.

Henderson, A.S. (1988) An Introduction to Social Psychiatry Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Henderson, A.S. (1990a) The social psychiatry of later life. British Journal of Psychiatry 156: 645-653.

Henderson, A.S. (1990b) Co-occurrence of affective and cognitive symptoms: the epidemiological evidence. *Dementia* 1: 119-123.

Henderson, S., Duncan-Jones, P., Byrne, D.G., Scott, R. & Adcock, S. (1979) Psychiatric disorder in Canberra. A standardised study of prevalence. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 60: 355-374.

Henderson, A.S. & Jorm, A.F. (1986) The Problem of Dementia in Australia. (1st edn) Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

Henderson, A.S. & Jorm, A.F. (1987) Is case-ascertainment in field surveys practicable? *Psychological Medicine* 17: 549-555.

Henderson, A.S. & Rosenman, S.J. (1989) Psychogeriatrics in *Textbook of Psychiatry*, P.J.V. Beumont & R.B. Hampshire (eds) Melbourne: Blackwell Scientific 218-227.

Hendrie, H.C. & Crossett, J.H.W. (1990) An overview of depression in the elderly. *Psychiatric Annals* 20: 64-66, 69-70.

Hennrikus, D., Reid, A.L.A., Gibberd, R.W. & Sanson-Fisher, R.W. The detection of psychological disturbance in general practice patients: detection accuracy and doctor characteristics (Unpublished manuscript).

Hoeper, E.W., Nycz, G.R., Kessler, L.G., Burke, J.D. & Pierce, W.E. (1984) The usefulness of screening for mental health. *The Lancet* i: 33-35.

Holzer, C.E., Tischler, G.L., Leaf, P.J. & Myers, J.K. (1984) An epidemiologic assessment of cognitive impairment in a community population. *Community and Mental Health* 4: 3-32.

Hopkins, P. & Cooper, B. (1969) Psychiatric referral from a general practice.

British Journal of Psychiatry 115: 1163-1174.

Hugo, G. & Rudd, D. (1988) *Demography of Ageing in Australia*. Paper prepared for 3rd Australian Rotary Health Fund International Conference on Alzheimer's Disease, University House, Australian National University, Canberra, 27-30 October.

Ingham, J. & Miller, P. (1982) Consulting with mild symptoms in general practice. Social Psychiatry 17: 77-88.

I.C.D.-10 (1989) Draft of Chapter V, Mental and Behavioural Disorders, Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines. Geneva: WHO.

Jencks, S.F. (1985) Recognition of mental distress and diagnosis of mental disorder in primary care. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 253: 1903-1907.

Jenkins, R., Smeeton, N. & Shepherd, M. (1988) Classification of mental disorder in primary care. *Psychological Medicine* Monograph Supplement 12.

Johnson, G.F.S. & Wilson, P. (1989) The management of depression: a review of pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments. *Medical Journal of Australia* 151: 397-406.

Johnstone, A. & Goldberg, D. (1976) Psychiatric screening in general practice: a controlled trial. *The Lancet* i: 605-608.

Jones, B. (1990) Bitter pill for GPs. The Sun-Herald May 27.

Jones, L.R., Badger, L.W., Ficken, R.P., Leeper, J.D. & Anderson, R.L. (1988) Mental health training of primary care physicians: an outcome study. International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine 18: 107-121.

Jorm, A.F. (1988) Effects on carers of community and residential programmes for dementia sufferers. In F. Jordan (ed) Proceedings of IV International Meeting of Alzheimer's Disease International. Brisbane: Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Society of Australia.

Jorm, A.F. (1987) Understanding Senile Dementia. Sydney: Croom Helm.

Jorm, A.F. & Henderson, A.S. (1989) Use of private psychiatric services in Australia: an analysis of medicare data. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 23: 461-468.

Jorm, A.F. & Henderson, A.S. (1990) The Problem of Dementia in Australia. (2nd edn) Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.
Jorm, A.F. & Jacomb, P.A. (1989) The Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly (IQCODE): socio-demographic correlates, reliability, validity and some norms. *Psychological Medicine* 19: in press

Jorm, A.F. & Korten, A.E. (1988) Assessment of cognitive decline in the elderly by informant interview. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 152: 209-213.

Jorm, A.F., Scott, R. & Jacomb, P.A. (1989) Assessment of cognitive decline in dementia by informant questionnaire. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry* 4: 35-39.

Kallman, H. & May, H. (1989) Mental status assessment in the elderly. *Primary* Care 16: 329-347.

Kay, D.W.K., Henderson, A.S., Scott, R., Wilson, J., Rickwood, D. & Grayson, D.A. (1985) Dementia and depression among the elderly living in the Hobart community: the effect of the diagnostic criteria on the prevalence rates. *Psychological Medicine* 15: 771-788.

Kellett, J.M. (1988) Aspirin and cyclandelate in multi infarct dementia. In F. Jordan (ed) Proceedings of IV International Meeting of Alzheimer's Disease International. Brisbane: Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Society of Australia.

Kendig, H.L. & McCallum, J. (1986) Greying Australia: Future impacts of population ageing. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.

Kessel, W.I.N. (1960) Psychiatric morbidity in a london general practice. British Journal of Preventive and Social Medicine 14: 16-22.

Kim, K.Y. & Hershey, L.A. (1988) Diagnosis and treatment of depression in the elderly. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine* 18: 211-221.

Kivela, S.-L. & Pahkala, K. (1989) Dysthymic disorder in the aged in the community. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology 24: 77-83.

Krakowski, A.J. (1973) Liaison psychiatry: factors influencing the consultation process. *Psychiatry in Medicine* 4: 439-446.

Kramer, M., German, P.S., Anthony, J.C., von Korff, M. & Skinner, E.A. (1985) Patterns of mental disorders among the elderly residents of eastern Baltimore. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 33: 236-245.

Langsley, D.G. (1982) Primary care and psychiatry. Social Psychiatry 17: 89-94.

Lindesay, J., Briggs, K. & Murphy, E. (1989) The Guy's/Age Concern Survey: prevalence rates of cognitive impairment, depression and anxiety in an urban

elderly community. British Journal of Psychiatry 155: 317-329.

Lurie, E.E. (1987) The interrelationship of physical and mental illness in the elderly in *Serving the Mentally Ill Elderly*, E.E. Lurie *et al* (eds) Massachusetts: Lexington 39-60.

Macdonald, A.J.D. (1986) Do general practitioners "miss" depression in elderly patients? *British Medical Journal* 292: 1365-1367.

McKhann, G., Drachman, D., Folstein, M., Katzman, R., Price, D. and Stadlan, E.M. (1984) Clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer's disease: report of the NINCDS-ADRDA Work Group under the auspices of Department of Health and Human Services Task Force on Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* 34: 939-944.

McNamara, K. & Lewin, T. (1989) General practitioners' recognition and management of psychiatric illness. *Medical Journal of Australia* 151: 250-257.

McNicol, D. (1972) A Primer of Signal Detection Theory. London: Allen & Unwin.

McPherson, F.M., Gamsu, C.V., Kiemle, G., Ritchie, S.M., Stanley, A.M. & Tregaskis, D. (1985) The concurrent validity of the survey version of the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE). British Journal of Clinical Psychology 24: 83-91.

Mant, A., Eyland, E.A., Pond, D.C., Saunders, N.A. & Chancellor, A.H.B. (1988) Recognition of dementia in general practice: comparison of general practitioners' opinions with assessments using the Mini-Mental State Examination and the Blessed Dementia Rating Scale. *Family Practice* 5: 184-188.

Marks, J.N., Goldberg, D.P. & Hillier, V.F. (1979) Determinants of the ability of general practitioners to detect psychiatric illness. *Psychological Medicine* 9: 337-353.

Meyer, J.S., Rogers, R.L., McClintic, K., Mortel, K.F. & Lotfi, J. (1989) Randomized clinical trial of daily aspirin therapy in multi-infarct dementia: a pilot study. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 37: 549-555.

Milne, J.S. (1985) Clinical Effects of Ageing: A Longitudinal Study. London: Croom Helm.

Morgan, K., Dallosso, H.M., Arie, T., Byrne, E.J., Jones, R. and Waite, J. (1987) Mental health and psychological well-being among the old and the very old living at home. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 150: 801-807.

Morgan, K., Dallosso, H.M. & Ebrahim, S.B.J., Arie, T. & Fentem, P. (1987) Mental health and contact with primary care services in old age. *International*  Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 2: 223-226.

Mowry, B.J. & Burvill, P.W. (1988) A study of mild dementia in the community using a wide range of diagnostic criteria. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 153: 328-334.

Mowry, B.J. & Burvill, P.W. (1990) Screening the elderly in the community for psychiatric disorder. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 24: 203-206.

Murphy, E. (1983) The prognosis of depression in old age. British Journal of Psychiatry 142: 111-119.

O'Connor, D.W., Pollitt, P.A., Hyde, J.B., Fellows, J.L., Miller, N.D., Brook, C.P.B. & Reiss, B.B. (1989) The reliability and validity of the Mini-Mental State in a British community survey. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 23: 87-96.

O'Connor, D.W., Pollitt, P.A., Hyde, J.B., Brook, C.P.B., Reiss, B.B. & Roth, M. (1988) Do general practitioners miss dementia in elderly patients? *British Medical Journal* 297: 1107-1110.

O'Connor, D.W., Pollitt, P.A., Roth, M., Brook, C.P.B. & Reiss, B.B. (1990) Memory complaints and impairment in normal, depressed, and demented elderly persons identified in a community survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 47: 224-227.

O'Connor, D.W., Pollitt, P.A., Treasure, F.P., Brook, C.P.B. & Reiss, B.B. (1989) The influence of education, social class and sex on Mini-Mental State scores. *Psychological Medicine* 19: 771-776.

Ojeda, V.J., Mastaglia, F.L. & Kakulas, B.A. (1986) Causes of organic dementia: a necropsy survey of 60 cases. *Medical Journal of Australia* 145: 69-71.

Parsons, P.L. (1965) Mental health of Swansea's old folk. British Journal of Preventive and Social Medicine 19: 43-47.

Pattie, A.H. (1981) A survey version of the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE). *British Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology* 20: 173-178.

Pattie, A.H. & Gilleard, C.J. (1976) The Clifton Assessment Schedule- further validation of a psychogeriatric assessment schedule. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 129: 68-72.

Pattie, A.H. & Gilleard, C.J. (1979) Manual of the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE). Kent: Hodder & Stoughton.

Petersdorf, R.G. (1975) Issues in primary care: the academic perspective. Journal of Medical Education Supplement 50: 5-13.

Philips, T. (1988) Economic perspectives on the "coming crisis" in long term care of the elderly. *Growth* 36: 71-85

Philp, I. & Young, J. (1988) An audit of a primary care team's knowledge of the existence of symptomatic demented elderly. *Health Bulletin* 46: 93-97.

Pond, C.D., Mant, A., Bridges-Webb, C., Purcell, C., Eyland, E.A., Hewitt, H. & Saunders, N.A. (1989) Recognition of depression in the elderly: a comparison of general practitioner opinions and the Geriatric Depression Scale. *Family Practice* (in press)

Radecki, S.E., Kane, R.L., Solomon, D.H., Mendenhall, R.C. & Beck, J.C. (1988a) Do physicians spend less time with older patients? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 36: 713-718.

Radecki, S.E., Kane, R.L., Solomon, D.H., Mendenhall, R.C. & Beck, J.C. (1988b) Are physicians sensitive to the special problems of older patients? *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 36: 719-725.

Rapp, S.R. & Davis, K.M. (1989) Geriatric depression: physicians' knowledge, perceptions, and diagnostic practices. *The Gerontologist* 29: 252-257.

Rapp, S.R., Parisi, S.A., Walsh, D.A. & Wallace, C.E. (1988) Detecting depression in elderly medical inpatients. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 56: 509-513.

Ray, W.A., Blazer, D.G., Schaffner, W., Federspiel, C.F. & Fink, R. (1986) Reducing long-term diazepam prescribing in office practice: a controlled trial of educational visits. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 256: 2536-2539.

Redman, S., Webb, G.R., Hennrikus, D.J., Gordon, J.J. & Sanson-Fisher, R.W. (1991) The effects of gender upon diagnosis of psychological disturbance. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine* (in press)

Reynolds, C.F., Hoch, C.C., Kupfer, D.J., Buysse, D.J., Houck, P.R., Stack, J.A. & Campbell, D.W. (1988) Bedside differentiation of depressive pseudodementia from dementia. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 145: 1099-1103.

Robins, L.N., Wing, J., Wittchen, H.U., Helzer, J.E., Babour, T.F., Burke, J., Farmer, A., Jablenski, A., Pickens, R., Regier, D.A., Sartorius, N. & Towle, L.H. (1988) The Composite International Diagnostic Interview. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 45: 1069-1077.

Rodin, J. (1986) Aging and health: effects of the sense of control. Science 233:

1271-1276.

Rovner, B.W., Broadhead, J., Spencer, M., Carson, K. & Folstein, M.F. (1989) Depression and Alzheimer's disease. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 146: 350-353.

Rubin, E.H., Zorumski, C.F. & Burke, W.J. (1988) Overlapping symptoms of geriatric depression and Alzheimer-type dementia. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry* 39: 1074-1079.

Rubin, S.M., Glasser, M.L. & Werckle, M.A. (1987) The examination of physicians' awareness of dementing disorders. *Journal of the American Geriatric Society* 35: 1051-1058.

Rutz, W., Walinder, J., Eberhard, G., Holmberg, G., von Knorring, A.-L., von Knorring, L., Wistedt, B. & Aberg-Wistedt, A. (1989) An educational program on depressive disorders for general practitioners on Gotland: background and evaluation. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 79: 19-26.

Sabin, T.D., Vitug, A.J. & Mark, V.H. (1982) Are nursing home diagnosis and treatment inadequate? *Journal of the American Medical Association* 248: 321-322.

Saltman, D.C., Webster, I.W. & Therin, G.A. (1989) Older persons' definitions of good health: implications for general practitioners. *The Medical Journal of Australia* 150: 426-428.

Sanson-Fisher, R.W. & Hennrikus, D.J. (1988) Why do primary care physicians often fail to detect psychological disturbance in their patients? in *Handbook of Social Psychiatry*, Henderson, A.S. & Burrows, G.D. (eds) Amsterdam: Elsevier Science.

Schiffman, A. (1978) Cognitive preferences of medical students: the relationship to personality and environmental factors. *Medical Education* 12: Supplement 39-41.

Shepherd, M. (1980) Mental health as an integrant of primary medical care. Journal of the Royal College of General Practitioners 30: 657-664.

Shepherd, M., Cooper, B., Brown, A.C. & Kalton, G. (1966) Psychiatric Illness in General Practice. London: Oxford University Press.

Sireling, L.I., Paykel, E.S., Freeling, P., Rao, B.M. & Patel, S.P. (1985) Depression in general practice: case thresholds and diagnosis. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 147: 113-119.

Skuse, D. & Williams, P. (1984) Screening for psychiatric disorder in general

practice. Psychological Medicine 14: 365-377.

Smith, J.S. & Kiloh, L.G. (1981) The investigation of dementia: results in 200 consecutive admissions. *The Lancet* i: 824-827.

Snowdon, J. (1986) Dementia, depression and life satisfaction in nursing homes. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 1: 85-91.

Snowdon, J. (1990) Editorial: The prevalence of depression in old age. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry 5: 141-144.

Snowdon, J. & Donnelly, N. (1986) A study of depression in nursing homes. Journal of Psychiatric Research 20: 327-333.

Snowdon, J. & MacIntosh, S. (1989) Depression and dementia in three Sydney hostels. *Australian Journal of Ageing* 8: 24-28.

Soumerai, S.B., McLaughlin, T.J. & Avorn, J. (1989) Improving drug prescribing in primary care: a critical analysis of the experimental literature. *The Milbank Quarterly* 67: 268-317.

SPSS Inc. (1988) SPSS-X Users' Guide. 3rd ed. Chicago: SPSS Inc.

Steven, I.D. & Douglas, R.M. (1988) Dissatisfaction in general practice: what do patients really want? *The Medical Journal of Australia* 148: 280-282.

Swartz, M.S. & Blazer, D.G. (1986) The distribution of affective disorders in old age in *Affective Disorders in the Elderly*, E. Murphy (ed) Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone 13-39.

Tahka, V. (1984) The Patient-Doctor Relationship Sydney: ADIS Health Science Press.

Taler, G.A. & Waymack, M.H. (1989) Ethics and the elderly. *Primary Care* 16: 529-541.

Tanner, B.A. (1976) Teaching and learning verbal behaviours in Language and Communication, B.A. Tanner (ed) London: Hodder & Stoughton, 52-179.

The Quality Assurance Project. (1983) A treatment outline for depressive disorders. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 17: 129-146.

Thomas, K.B. (1981) Attitudes to psychological illness in general practice: a historical cycle complete. *British Medical Journal* 283: 1157-1158.

Waldron, J. (1973) Teaching communication skills in medical school. American Journal of Psychiatry 130: 579-581.

Walton, H.J. Differences between physically-minded and psychologically-minded medical practitioners. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 112: 1097-1102.

Waring, E.M. (1980) Psychiatric illness in the elderly. *American Family Physician* 21: 109-112.

Watts, C.A.H. (1982) Depression in general practice in Handbook of Affective Disorders, E.S. Paykel (ed) New York: Guildford.

Waxman, H.M. & Carner, E.A. (1984) Physicians' recognition, diagnosis, and treatment of mental disorders in elderly medical patients. *The Gerontologist* 24: 593-597.

Weissman, M.M., Myers, J.K., Tischler, G.L., Holzer, C.E., Lead, P.J., Orvaschel, H. & Brody, J.A. (1985) Psychiatric disorders (DSM-III) and cognitive impairment among the elderly in a US urban community. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 71: 366-379.

Weyerer, S. (1983) Mental disorders among the elderly. True prevalence and use of medical services. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics 2: 11-22.

Wilkinson, G. & Williams, P. (1985) Priorities for research on mental health in primary care settings. *Psychological Medicine* 15: 507-514.

Williams, G.O. (1989) Management of depression in the elderly. *Primary Care* 16: 451-474.

Williams, P., Goldberg, D.P & Mari, J. (1987) The validity of the General Health Questionnaire. Unpublished research report cited in Goldberg, D. & Williams, P. (1988) A User's Guide to the General Health Questionnaire. Berkshire: NFER-Nelson.

Williamson, J., Stokoe, I.H., Gray, S., Fisher, M., Smith, A., McGhee, A. & Stephenson, E. (1964) Old people at home: their unreported needs *The Lancet* i: 1117-1120.

Wilmink, F.W., Ormel, J., Giel, R., Krol, B., Lindeboom, E.G., van der Meer, K. & Soeteman, J.H. (1989) General practitioners' characteristics and the assessment of psychiatric illness. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 23: 135-149.

World Health Organization (1986) Dose effects of antidepressant medication in different populations. A World Health Organization Collaborative Study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, Supplement 2.

# APPENDICES

•

## **APPENDIX 5**

5.1	Map of study area	206
5.2	GP demographic information	207
	<ul><li>5.2.1 GP assessment of patient</li><li>5.2.2 Schedule for patients' names</li></ul>	208 210
5.3	Letter to informant and informant questionnaire	211
5.4	Interviewer rating	219
5.5	Patients' instruments	221
5.6	Relationship of diagnostic criteria for depression diagnostic algorithm	245
5.7	GPs' structured questionnaire	261
	5.7.1 Vignettes	263
5.8	Letter from GP to patient	267
5.9	Paper published in the Medical Journal of Australia 153: 192-196, 1990	268
AP	PENDIX 6	
6.1	Mean total scores for activities-of-daily-living	275
6.2	Numbers of patients who had difficulty performing activities-of-daily-living and the years of assistance which had been rendered to them as estimated by the informants	276
6.3	Physical changes observed in patients by informants over the preceding 10 years	

# -205-

## **APPENDIX 8**

8.1	Letter to general practitioners from Dr Peter Harris	279
API	PENDIX 9	
9.1	Summary of responses to the question "What are your special interests in medicine?"	281



# GENERAL PRACTITIONER'S DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

## QUESTIONS TO BE COMPLETED BY GP PRIOR TO STUDY

NAME:
ADDRESS OF PRACTICE:
AGE:
YEAR OF GRADUATION:
UNIVERSITY:
ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS :
POSTGRADUATE QUALIFICATIONS (if any), SPECIALTY AND YEAR
OBTAINED:

# CHARACTERISTICS OF PRACTICE:

Number of patients on register .....

Number of patients over 70 years on register .....

Number of partners .....

# WHAT ARE YOUR SPECIAL INTERESTS IN MEDICINE?

.

# GENERAL PRACTITIONER'S ASSESSMENT OF PATIENT

	9	10	11	12	13	14														
DATE													1	2	3		7	8	_	
	La	ay	mo	nth	yea	r													[03]	] 4-6
														I	D		GP		•	
CONS	QUE ULT	ATIC	NS 1 N - 1	IO B	E A I E CC	TAC MPI	LE	ED TEE	10 ) A 1	EAC TH	IE T	ATT IME	ENT' OF C	S FI	ILE I ISUI		OK ATI(	TO DN B	Y G	9
														Р	lease ti	ck ap	prop	ropriate	box	
1	Did tl	nis pa	tient	agre	e to p	oartic	ripa	ate i	in th	e sti	udy?	ł				Y	'es			15
		If th com for t	e res plete he la	ponse the 1 st sec	e is "1 rest o rtion.	no", v of this	wo s qı	uld uest	you tionr	ple naire	ase e exc	ept				ľ	No			
	Have	you s	seen	this p	atier	nt bef	fore	e?								Y	'es			16
									DAT	E OI	LAS	ST VI	ISIT	_	•	ľ	No			
		If ye	es, ho	w loi	ng ag	;0?			day		nonth		/ear	]					17.	-18
	Tow	hat ex	tent	do va	nı th	ink ti	his	nat	tient	has	beer	n der	Tess	ed o	ver t	he	pasi	tmor	th?	
		not	at all					<b>F</b>											]	
		milo	i —													<u></u>	-			19
		moc	ierat	e —	<u>.</u>														ļ	
		seve	ere -	<u> </u>													-	L	<b>.</b>	
	Is this	s the f	first t 2	ime y	vou h	ave	nol	ticed	d de	pres	sive					v	/oc		]	
	symp	101115	•													1	. 63		1	20
																]	No	L	1	
	If you or in	ı have the la	e not Ist 4 v	iced o weeks	lepre s, wh	essiv at ac	e s tio	ymp on ha	pton as be	ns, e een	ither taker	' nov n:	7.							
		spe	cialis	t refe	rral														٦	21
		cou	nsell	ing															1	22
		con	tinua	tion	of ba	sic h	eal	lth c	are								-		]	23
		oth	er (pl	ease	spec	ify	•••		• • •	• • • •	••••	• • • •	••••	)				L	1	24
	Has ( in the	this p e last	atien 4 we	t had eks?	any	antio	der	ores	sant	me	dicat	ion				)	Yes No	-	]	25
	If ye	s, plea	ase p	rovid	e:															
		Nai	me of	f med	licati	on	•••	•••		•••	• • • •	• • •								26
		Dos	sage		• • • •	• • • •														

To what extent do you think this person has some form of dementia?

not at all	
mild	
moderate	
severe	[_]
Is this the first time you have noticed some form of dementia?	Yes
	No
If you have noticed some form of dementia either now or in the past, what action has been taken:	· · · · ·
medication	L
specialist referral	——
community support services	
residential care	<b></b>
continuation of basic health care	
counselling of patient	
counselling of caregiver	L
other (please specify)	[]
Does this patient have family or friends who provide	Yes
support and/or care?	No 🗌
IE OF PATIENT:	
RESS:	

If the name and address is not supplied, it will be assumed you do not consider it appropriate for this patient to participate in the study. However, for the purposes of this study, it is of interest to know why. Please tick the appropriate box:

too physically disabled	
too mentally impaired	
too behaviourally disturbed	
unco-operative patient/caregiver	
other (please specify	

COMMENTS & DATE OF CONSULTATION SCHEDULE FOR PATIENTS' NAMES PHONE NUMBER CODE: LIST OF PARTICIPATING PATIENTS • ADDRESS Work: 493894 or 473695 (leave message) PATIENT'S NAME Mrs Jennifer Bowers 10. ÷ 5. ë. 4. <del>و</del>. 7. **.** ъ. **،** 

DOCTOR:

Home: 951629

## LETTER TO INFORMANT

Social Psychiatry Research Unit The Australian National University Canberra, ACT 2601 Telephone: National (062) 47 3695 and 49 2741 International +61 62 473695 Telex: 62033 AA

Dear

I am carrying out a study on the illnesses of elderly people. It is hoped that the study will enable general practitioners and service providers to better recognise health problems in elderly people and thereby allow them to assist elderly people more fully than at present.

I have recently visited and suggested that I could contact you and ask you to fill out the attached questionnaire. All information provided will remain completely confidential.

When you have completed the questionnaire, could you place it in the attached envelope and post it to me.

If you have any queries you can contact me at work on 493894 or 473695 or at home on 951629.

Thank you for your co-operation.

Yours sincerely,

Jennifer Bowers

WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION Collaborating Centre for the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders





### -212-

## INFORMANT QUESTIONNAIRE



Has this person ever been diagnosed as suffering from dementia or Alzheimer's disease? (Please circle one answer) 6.

2.

	1.	Yes	15						
	2.	No							
Α.	If Yes	s, who made this diagnosis? (Please circle one answer)							
	1.	General Practitioner							
	2.	Specialist	16						
	3.	Assessment Clinic							
	4.	Other (please specify							
В.	If No, do you think this person is suffering from severe memory loss or dementia? (Please circle one answer)								
	1.	Yes	17						
	2.	No							
Hast	his pers	on ever been diagnosed as suffering from depression? (Please circle one answer)							
	1.	Yes	18						
	2.	No							
Α.	lf yes	s, who made this diagnosis? (Please circle one answer)							
	1.	General Practitioner							
	2.	Specialist	19						
	3.	Assessment Clinic							
	4.	Other (please specify							
В.	If No	, do you think this person is depressed? (Please circle one answer)							
	1.	Yes	20						
	2.	No	20						
You	are: (Pl	ease circle one answer)							
	1.	Male							
	2.	Female	21						
How	old are	you?	22-23						

7.

8.

9.

22-23

Now, I would like to ask you about changes you may have observed in your friend or relative's physical health during the past 10 years and how much assistance your friend or relative needs with every day activities.

#### 10. <u>Compared to 10 years ago</u>, how is his/her: (Please circle one answer)

		1	2	3	4	5	
Α.	Hearing	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	24
В.	Vision	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	25
C.	Ability to use his/her fingers and hands	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	26
D.	Ability to use his/her legs	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	27

11. What level of assistance does your friend or relative require to perform the following everyday activities? (Please circle one answer for each item)

		1.	2.	3.	4.	5.	
A.	showering/bathing	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	28
B.	dressing	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	29
C.	eating/feeding	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	30
D.	getting around home/flat etc.	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	31
E.	getting out of home/flat etc.	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	32
F.	walking 200 m	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	33
G	walking up and down stairs	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	34
H.	using public transport	unable to manage at all	requires help/ supervision	requires no help but has difficulty	has no difficulty	don't know/ not sure	35

З.

12. If you have circled a response in column 1 or 2 above, how long have you or another person been assisting your friend or relative to do those activities? Please insert years and/or months next to the corresponding activities and leave blank if not applicable.

Α.	showering/bathing	<u> </u>		36-7
В.	dressing	<u> </u>		38-9
C.	eating/feeding		<del></del>	40-1
D.	getting around home/flat etc.	<u> </u>		42-3
E.	getting out of home/flat etc.			44-5
F.	walking 200 m		. <u></u>	46-7
G.	walking up and down stairs			48-9
Н.	using public transport			50-1

Years and/or months

13. Have you been the primary provider of assistance for your friend or relative?

1.	Yes	52
2	No	

-215-

## INFORMANT QUESTIONNAIRE ON

## COGNITIVE DECLINE IN THE ELDERLY



1-6

Now I want you to remember what your friend or relative was like 10 years ago and to compare it with what he/she is like now. 10 years ago was in 1979. Below are situations where this person has to use his/her memory or intelligence and we want you to indicate whether this has improved, stayed the same, or got worse in that situation over the past 10 years. Note the importance of comparing his/her present performance with 10 years ago. So if 10 years ago this person always forgot where he/she had left things, and he/she still does, then this would be considered "Hasn't changed much". Please indicate the changes you have observed by circling the appropriate answer.

Compared with 10 years ago how is this person at:

		1	2	3	4	5	
1.	Recognizing the faces of family and friends	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	7
2.	Remembering the names of family and friends	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	8
3.	Remembering things about family and friends e.g. occupations, birthdays, addresses	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	9
4.	Remembering things that have happened recently	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	10
5.	Recalling conversations a few days later	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	11
6.	Forgetting what he/she wanted to say in the middle of a conversation	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	12
7.	Remembering his/her address and telephone number	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	13
8.	Remembering what day and month it is	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	À bit worse	Much worse	14
9.	Remembering where things are usually kept	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	15
10.	Remembering where to find things which have been put in a different place from usual	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	16
11. 1	Adjusting to any change	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	17
12	. Knowing how to work familiar machines around the house	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	- Much worse	18

PLEASE GO ON TO THE NEXT PAGE

13.	Learning to use a new gadget or machine around the house	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	19
14.	Learning new things in general	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	20
15.	Remembering things that happened to him/her when he/she was young	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	21
16.	Remembering things he/she learned when he/she was	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	22
17.	Understanding the meaning of unusual words	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	23
18.	Understanding magazine or newspaper articles	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	24
19.	Following a story in a book or on TV	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	25
20.	Composing a letter to friends or for business purposes	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	26
21.	Knowing about important historical events of the past	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	27
22.	Making decisions on everyday matters	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	28
23.	Handling money for shopping	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	29
24.	Handling financial matters, e.g. the pension, dealing with the bank	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	30
25.	Handling other everyday arithmetic problems, e.g. knowing how much food to buy, knowing how long between visits from family or friends	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	31
26.	Using his/her intelligence to understand what's going on and to reason things through	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	32

PLEASE GO ON TO THE NEXT PAGE

6

. 7

27. <u>Recently</u>, has your friend or relative seemed particularly lethargic and slowed down, so that her/his movements have been very much slower or her/his speech has become slow or monotonous?

	1.	Yes	22
	2.	No	22
<b>A</b> .		If yes, is she/he still like this? About how long has it lasted?	
	1.	No	34
	2.	Yes, just for one or two odd days	
	З.	Yes, nearly every day for at least 2 weeks	
cent	<u>ly</u> , h	has your friend or relative been particularly restless and fidgety, so that she/he had trouble	

28. <u>Recently</u>, has your friend or relative been particularly restless and fidgety, so that she/he had trouble sitting still and would, for example, pace up and down?

1.	Yes	35
2.	No	
I	f yes, is she/he still like this? Has it been going on for long?	
1.	No	
2.	Yes, just for one or two odd days	36

3. Yes, nearly every day for at least 2 weeks

A.

#### THANK YOU FOR YOUR ASSISTANCE

## **APPENDIX 5.4**

## INTERVIEWER RATING

(To be completed by Interviewer) How well did he/she seem to hear you? Very well.....l Quite well, though occasionally missed a word......2 31 Profoundly deaf. Had to read questions......5 How well was he/she able to read the papers given to him/her? 32 Blind. Interviewer had to read aloud or omit questions requiring sight.....5 How well was he/she able to write on the sheets he/she was given? Very well......1 Quite well, though had some trouble with motor control.....2 33 Unable to write (no movement in limb)......5 Overall, how well did he/she seem to see? Quite well, though some limitations in near vision.....2 34 How well was he/she able to use his/her finger(s) and hand(s)? Very well...... 1 Quite well, though had some impairment ..... 2 Somewhat impaired, Control/movement limited to some extent..3 35 Not well at all. Unable to hold things or control movements..4 Unable to move hand or fingers ..... 5 

How often did you have to repeat questions because his/her attention wandered?

Not at all Occasionally Many times Constantly Not rated	1 7 	.36
How often did he/	she repeat answers to previous question?	
Not at all Occasionally Many times Constantly Not rated	1 2 3 4 9	37
Was he/she muddled incoherent speech?	or confused as indicated by rambling or	
Yes No Not rated		38
Did he/she drop of	f to sleep during the interview?	

.\*

39

# **APPENDIX 5.5**

## PATIENTS' INSTRUMENTS

Patients' Demographic Information	222
General Health Questionnaire	228
Diagnostic Interview for Depression	229
Mini-Mental State Examination combined with the Information/Orientation Scale from the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly	240

# PATIENT'S DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

.



**GP STUDY - CLIENT** 

Name

\_\_\_\_\_

Address

\_\_\_\_\_Postcode\_\_\_\_\_

Doctor

-223-

\* Questions to be completed by interviewer



6. Asks this question if no spouse, friend, relative or caregiver available at time of interview to fill in informant questionnaire.

I WOULD LIKE TO KNOW IF THERE IS SOME PERSON WHO HAS KNOWN YOU FOR TEN YEARS OR MORE AND WHO WOULD BE ABLE TO DESCRIBE YOUR PRESENT CIRCUMSTANCES AND PAST LIFE. THE QUESTIONS, WHICH I WOULD POST, WOULD BE SIMILAR TO BUT NOT AS MANY AS THE ONES I HAVE BEEN ASKING YOU TODAY. THE QUESTIONS SHOULDN'T TAKE LONGER THAN A FEW MINUTES TO COMPLETE.

DO YOU HAVE A RELATIVE OR FRIEND WHOM YOU THINK WOULD BE WILLING TO ANSWER THESE QUESTIONS - QUESTIONS MAINLY ABOUT YOU, NOT HIM/HER?

YES		
NO		21

If respondent seems reluctant, do not push, but reassure them that I appreciate the help they have given.

(If yes) COULD I HAVE HIS/HER NAME AND ADDRESS? IN CASE WE GET NO RESPONSE OR CANNOT CONTACT HIM/HER, COULD YOU TELL ME HIS/HER PHONE NUMBER AND IS THERE ANYONE ELSE WHO KNOWS YOU WELL WHO YOU THINK WOULD BE WILLING TO ANSWER THESE QUESTIONS ABOUT YOU IF I DO NOT SUCCEED IN CONTACTING THE FIRST PERSON?

ADDRESS PHONE NAME WILL YOU PLEASE LET HIM/HER KNOW THAT I WILL BE CONTACTING HIM/HER AND THAT I HAVE YOUR PERMISSION TO ASK HIM/HER THESE QUESTIONS ABOUT YOU. 7. Do you live: 1. alone 2. with spouse/partner only 3. with spouse/partner and other family members 4. with family member(s) only 28 5. with non-family member (e.g. group home, boarding house) 6. other (specify.....) \* What are the living conditions of client? 8. 1. separate house 2. flat attached to separate house 3. semi-detached house 4. row/terrace/villa/townhouse 29-30 5. 'low-rise' flat/unit (2 or 3 storeys) 6. 'high-rise' flat/unit (4 or more storeys) 7. caravan/houseboat/mobile dwelling 8. converted garage 9. nursing home 10. hostel

11. retirement village/unit

12. other (specify.....)

#### 9. What is the highest qualification you have obtained?

- 1. no schooling
- 2. attended primary school
- 3. completed primary school
- 4. attended secondary school
- 5. Intermediate, Junior or School Certificate;
  - School Boards (C Certificate)
- 6. Matric, Higher School or Leaving Certificate; School Boards (A and B Certificates)
- 7. attended tertiary college or university
- 8. completed tertiary college or university (two years or more)

#### 10. What level of assistance do you need with these everyday tasks?

- 1. unable to manage at all
- 2. require help/supervision
- 3. require no help but have difficulty
- 4. have no difficulty
- 9. don't know/not sure



11. If any answers to question 10 above are 1 or 2, then how long has assistance at this level been provided. (See column 2 above)

31

4

12.	Over the las	t month, from whom have you received assistance and who has helped you
	the most? (	Place numbers in order of level of assistance or 0 if not applicable)

1.	other people in household (specify)	56
2.	other relatives (specify)	57
З.	other friends/neighbours	58
4.	organisations/services, e.g. church, Rotary (specify)	59
5.	other (specify)	60
9.	don't know/not sure	61

.

13. In the past month have you received services from:

#### Place a 0 for no service or 1 for service in each box

[ID] 1-3 [012] 4-6

1.	home help		7
2.	home nursing		8
3.	home paramedical		9
4.	home-based respite care/sitter service		10
5.	home delivered meals		11
6.	home maintenance/modification		12
7.	centre paramedical services		13
8.	day care centre		14
9.	transport service		15
10	). support and information (specify by whom)		10
11	. co-ordination of family/friends (specify by whom)		10
12	2. purchase services other than above (specify type)		18
13	3. other (specify)	$\left  - \right $	19
14	I. no services received		20
15	5. not applicable		20
			21

5

> > • .

	1. self	
	2. relative/friend	
	3. GP	
	4. hospital	
	5. home care service	[]
	6. home nursing service	22-3
	7. meals on wheels	24-5
	8. GAT	
	9. community information/neighbourhood centre	
	10. local government	
	11. hostel (name)	
	12. nursing home (name)	
	13. other (specify)	
	99. no services/no other referee	
15.	In the last month, have you received advice or help for yourself from any of the following?	
1.	GP	
2.	Psychiatrist	
3.	Other doctor (specialist)	·
4.	Chiropractor	·
5.	Nurse	
6.	Chemist, Pharmacist	
7.		••
8.	Psychologist (counsellor, therapist)	
9.	Clergyman	
10.		
11.	Physiotherapist	
12.	Occupational Therapist (OT)	
13.	Optometrists	
14.	Speech Mathologists (Speech I herapists)	
15.	Dentist	
16.	Podiatrist	
17.	Any other person (specify	)

14. Who referred you to the services you mentioned? (Make a note of service type against referral source where possible).

# GENERAL HEALTH QUESTIONNAIRE (GHQ)

I would like to know how you have been feeling over the past few weeks. [ID] 1-3

Please circle your response

[013] 4-6

HAVE	YOU RECENTLY:	1	2	3	4	
1.	Been able to concentrate on whatever you're doing?	Better than usual	Same as usual	Less than usual	Much less than usual	7
2.	Lost much sleep over worry?	Not at all	no more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	8
3.	Feit that you are playing a useful part in things?	More so than usual	Same as usual	Less useful than usual	Much less useful	9
4.	Felt capable of making decisions about things?	More so than usual	Same as usual	Less so than usual	Much less capable	10
5.	Felt constantly under strain?	Not at all	No more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	11
6.	Felt that you couldn't overcome your difficulties?	Not at all	No more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	12
7.	Been able to enjoy your normal day-to-day activities?	More so than usual	Same as usual	Less so than usual	Much less than usual	13
8.	Been able to face up to your problems?	More so than usual	Same as usual	Less able than usual	Much less able	14
9.	Been feeling unhappy and depressed?	Not at ail	No more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	15
10.	Been losing confidence in yourself?	Not at all	No more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	16
11.	Been thinking of yourself as a worthless person?	Not at all	No more than usual	Rather more than usual	Much more than usual	17
12.	Been feeling reasonably happy, all things considered?	More so than usual	About same as usual	Less so than usual	Much less than usual	18

-228-

## DIAGNOSTIC INTERVIEW FOR DEPRESSION

[ID] 1-3 [014] 4-6 HERE IS A LIST OF QUESTIONS ABOUT HOW SOME PEOPLE FEEL FROM TIME TO TIME. THESE ARE STANDARD QUESTIONS WHICH I AM ASKING EVERYONE. MANY OF THEM WILL NOT APPLY TO YOU BUT I WOULD LIKE YOU TO ANSWER ALL OF THEM, TO MAKE SURE I DON'T MISS ANYTHING. NOW I'D LIKE TO ASK YOU ABOUT HOW YOU'VE BEEN FEELING WITHIN YOURSELF. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU BEEN FEELING DEPRESSED OR SAD AT ALL? 1. Yes.....1 7 Not asked......9 (If Yes) A. HAS THIS BEEN: MOST OF THE DAY AND NEARLY EVERY DAY ......1 ONLY FROM TIME TO TIME (Go to Q, 1B).....2 8 (<u>If code 1 in Q. 1A</u>) 1) IS THIS USUAL FOR YOU? Yes.....1 Q No codable reply......8 Not asked......9 2) HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN FEELING THIS WAY? Months 10-12 Most of my life..... 777 No codable reply..... `888 

#### -229-

B. DURING THIS PERIOD OF FEELING SAD OR DEPRESSED, HAVE THE THINGS YOU'VE DONE SUFFERED, OR HAVE YOU ALWAYS BEEN ABLE TO GET YOUR JOBS DONE? Things did not suffer.....1 13 Not asked......9 C. WHEN YOU ARE FEELING LIKE SAD, DEPRESSED OR IRRITABLE, CAN ANYTHING CHEER YOU UP? No.....1 Yes (<u>Go to 0, 2</u>).....2 14 (If No) 1) DO YOU FEEL THIS WAY ALL THE TIME, DAY AFTER DAY, OR ARE THERE DAYS WHEN YOU FEEL ALRIGHT? Almost always feel sad.....1 Days when feel alright.....2 15 2) IS THERE ANY PARTICULAR TIME OF DAY WHEN YOU FEEL WORSE? No.....1 Yes (<u>Go to Q, 2a</u>)......2 16 No codable reply......8 (If Yes) a) WHEN IS THAT? Morning......1 Midday.....2 17 Not asked......9 (If code 1 ) b) DO YOU FEEL BETTER AS THE DAY GOES ON? No.....1 18 IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HAVE YOU BEEN FEELING IRRITABLE AT ALL? Yes..... .....1 No (If Q. 2 is also code no. 2, go to Q. 4 <u>Go to Q. 3</u>).....2 19

(If Yes)	
HAS THIS BEEN:	
MOST OF THE DAY AND NEARLY EVERY DAY	
OR ONLY FROM TIME TO TIME $(\underline{Go \ to \ 0, \ 3_1})$ 2	
No codable reply	20
Not asked9	20
(If code 1)	
1) IS THIS USUAL FOR YOU?	
Yes1	
No	21
No codable reply8	21
Not asked9	
2) HOW LONG HAVE YOU BEEN FEELING THIS WAY?	
Years	
OT	
Months	22-24
0r	
Weeks	
No codable reply	
Not set of 000	
NOT d3ked	
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	25
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	25
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	25
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	
No ( <u>Go to Q.4.</u> )	
No (Go to Q.4_) 1   Yes	
No (Go to Q.4_) 1   Yes	
No (Go to Q.4_) 1   Yes	25
No (Go to 0, 4, .)	25
No (Go to Q.4.) 1   Yes	25
No (Go to Q, 4_) 1   Yes	25
No (Go to Q.4.) 1   Yes	25
NO (Go to 0.4_) 1   Yes	25
No (Go to Q.4_) 1   Yes	25
No (Go to Q.4.) 1   Yes	25

.
IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HAVE YOU BEEN TEARFUL OR CRYING A LOT? 4. No.....1 28 NOW I'D LIKE TO ASK YOU SOME QUESTIONS ABOUT YOUR WEIGHT AND APPETITE? HOW MUCH DO YOU WEIGH? 5. (If in kilograms, enter here)..... Stones..... lbs (code number in addition to stones only)..... 29 - 30AND HOW TALL ARE YOU? 6. Feet...... and 31-33 Inches (code number in addition to feet only) ...... Don't know, no codable reply..... 888 WHAT HAS YOUR APPETITE BEEN LIKE IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS? HAVE YOU: 7. HAD LITTLE APPETITE.....1 34 Not asked......9 (If little appetite or always overeating) A. IS THIS USUAL FOR YOU OR HAS THERE BEEN A RECENT CHANGE? Usual.....1 35 No codable reply......8 Not asked......9 RECENTLY, HAVE YOU LOST OR GAINED WEIGHT, OR STAYED AT ABOUT THE SAME? 8. Gained weight.....1 Stayed about the same (Go to Q, 9.).....2 36 Not asked......9 (If lost or gained weight) A. APPROXIMATELY HOW MUCH HAVE YOU LOST/GAINED? (If in kilograms, enter here) ....\_ Stones..... 37-38 lbs (code number in addition to stones only)..... 

NEARLY EVERY NIGHT1	40
or	40
ONLY SOME TIMES?	
No codable reply	
Not asked	

39

41

43

B. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW LONG EACH NIGHT WOULD YOU USUALLY LIE AWAKE?

Hours (if less than 1 hour, code 0)	
No answer, no codable reply8	
Not asked9	

C. IF YOU WAKE UP DURING THE NIGHT, CAN YOU GET BACK TO SLEEP?

Yes ( <u>Go to Q. 9D.</u> )	
Cannot return to sleep after waking up2	42
No answer, no codable reply	
Not asked	

Not asked......9

D. HAVE YOU BEEN TAKING ANYTHING TO HELP YOU SLEEP?

-		
	No ( <u>Go to Q, 10.</u> )	44
	Yes2	
	No codable reply8	:
	Not asked9	
	( <u>If Yes</u> )	
1)	HAS THIS BEEN:?	
	NEARLY EVERY NIGHT1	45
	or	
	ONLY SOMETIMES2	
	No codable reply8	
	Not asked9	

-233-

10. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU FELT YOU WERE SLEEPING TOO MUCH? 46 (If yes) A. HAS THIS BEEN:? NEARLY EVERY NIGHT.....1 47 or ONLY SOMETIMES.....2 Not asked.....9 11. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU BEEN WORN OUT OR HAD TOO LITTLE ENERGY, EVEN WHEN YOU HAVEN'T BEEN DOING A LOT? HAS THIS OCCURRED: 48 Not asked......9 12. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU TALKED OR MOVED MORE SLOWLY THAN IS NORMAL FOR YOU? 49 No codable reply......8 (If Yes) A. HAS THIS BEEN:? NEARLY EVERY DAY.....1

13. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU HAD TO BE MOVING ALL THE TIME - THAT IS, YOU WERE SO RESTLESS THAT YOU COULDN'T SIT STILL?

No (Go to 9.14)1	
Yes	51
No codable reply	
Not asked	

(If Yes) A. HAS THIS BEEN;?

NEARLY EVERY DAY1
or
ONLY SOMETIMES
No codable reply
Not asked

÷

-234-

LATELY, HAVE YOU LOST INTEREST AND PLEASURE IN ALMOST EVERYTHING THAT 14. YOU USUALLY CARE ABOUT, OR DO SOME THINGS STILL GIVE YOU PLEASURE? Lost interest......1 53 Still some interest......2 IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW INTERESTED HAVE YOU BEEN IN THINGS YOU USUALLY 15. LIKE TO DO SUCH AS JOBS OR HOBBIES? Have you been more interested than usual.....1 54 Completely uninterested......4 Not asked......9 IN THE PAST 2 WEEKS, HOW HAVE YOU FELT ABOUT BEING WITH OTHER PEOPLE: 16. HAVE YOU WANTED TO BE WITH THEM MORE OR LESS THAN USUAL, OR HAS THERE BEEN NO CHANGE? 55 Not asked......9 17. HOW WELL DO YOU FEEL YOU CAN COPE WITH DAY-TO-DAY THINGS? CAN YOU COPE: 56 18. WHAT IS YOUR OPINION OF YOURSELF IN COMPARISON TO OTHER PEOPLE? DO YOU FEEL YOU ARE AS GOOD AS, BETTER, OR WORSE THAN OTHER PEOPLE YOUR AGE? Better (<u>Go to Q, 19</u>).....1 As good as/the same (Go to 0.19).....2 57 (If worse) A. HOW OFTEN IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS HAVE YOU FELT INFERIOR, OR EVEN WORTHLESS? Very seldom.....1 58 No answer, no codable reply......8 

		[ID] [015]	1-3 4-6
19. IN THINGS WEREN'	THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU FELT THAT YOU WERE TO BLAME THEY WEREN'T IMPORTANT OR THAT THEY TO YOUR FAULT? HAVE YOU FELT THIS WAY:	FOR	
	NEVER. 1 SOMETIMES. 2 ALMOST ALL THE TIME. 3 No codable reply. 8 Not asked. 9		7
20. IN CONFII	THE PAST 2 WEEKS, HOW FREQUENTLY HAVE YOU FELT LACKING IN SELF- Dence or felt inadequate?		
	NEVER. 1 SOME OF THE TIME. 2 MOST OF THE TIME. 3 ALL OF THE TIME. 4 No codable reply. 8 Not asked 9		8
21. HOW THINGS	W DO YOU SEE THE FUTURE? DO YOU THINK THINGS WILL WORK OUT WELL O S SEEM QUITE HOPELESS FOR YOU?	r do	
	Work out well		9
22. IN ABOUT	THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU EVER THOUGHT THAT SOMETHING TERRIBLE W TO HAPPEN?	AS	
	No, never		10
23. WE SEEM 3 SEEMS	ASK THIS QUESTION OF EVERYONE AND WOULD LIKE TO ASK YOU. DO YOU TO HEAR VOICES WHEN THERE IS NOBODY ABOUT AND NO ORDINARY EXPLANAT POSSIBLE?	EVER ION	
	No (Go to Q. 24)	2 3	11
(If ye A. DO SA	es) THESE VOICES MAKE FUN OF YOU, SAY CRITICAL THINGS ABOUT YOU OR Y YOU ARE BAD?		,
	Yes1 No2 No codable reply8 Not asked	2	12

DOES ANYONE SEEM TO BE TRYING TO HARM YOU? (TRYING TO POISON YOU OR 24. KILL YOU?) No (<u>Go to Q. 25</u>).....1 13 Don't know, No codable reply.....8 (If Yes): A. ARE THEY PARTICULARLY SINGLING YOU OUT? No.....1 14 Don't know, No codable reply......8 Not asked......9 25. DO YOU THINK ANYONE DELIBERATELY TAKES YOUR POSSESSIONS? 15 DO YOU EVER FEEL THAT SOMEONE IS SPYING ON YOU? 26. No.....1 16 IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HAS YOUR THINKING BEEN MUCH SLOWER THAN USUAL? 27. No.....1 17 IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU HAD TROUBLE CONCENTRATING? 28. No (Go to Q. 29).....1 18 (If Yes) 5.44 A. HAS THIS BEEN:? NEARLY EVERY DAY.....1 or ONLY SOMETIMES......2 19 Not asked......9 29. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, DO YOUR THOUGHTS SEEM TO GET MIXED UP SO THAT YOU CANNOT GET THEM SORTED OUT?

	1
ometimes	2
vere, frequent or persistent muddling	3
codable reply	8
ot asked	9

20

30. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU HAD DIFFICULTY MAKING DECISIONS?	1
Never (Go to Q. 31)	21
(If frequently or almost all the time)	—
Yes	22
31. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU FOUND YOURSELF THINKING ABOUT UNPLEASANT OR PAINFUL THINGS IN THE PAST?	
No ( <u>Go to Q. 3</u> 2)	23
(If Yes) A. CAN YOU EASILY TURN OFF THESE WORRYING THOUGHTS ABOUT THE PAST?	
No1 Yes2 No codable reply	24
32. HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU FELT LONELY IN THE PAST 2 WEEKS. HAVE YOU FELT LONELY:	-
SELDOM OR NEVER	25
33. IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU THOUGHT ABOUT DEATH - EITHER YOUR OWN, SOMEONE ELSE'S, OR DEATH IN GENERAL. HAVE YOU THOUGHT ABOUT IT	:
CONSTANTLY	.26

No answer, no codable reply......8 Not asked......9

34. IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS HAVE YOU FELT AS IF YOU WANTED TO DIE?

	27
PEATABLY?	
1 	28
PEATABLY?	

B. HAVE YOU THOUGHT OF COMMITTING SUICIDE?

Yes	
No	 20
No codable reply	 25
Not asked	

\_

(If yes) 1. DID YOU ACTUALLY ATTEMPT IT?

Yes1	
No	30
No codable reply8	
Not asked	

# MINI-MENTAL STATE EXAMINATION (MMSE) COMBINED WITH THE INFORMATION/ORIENTATION SCALE FROM THE CLIFTON ASSESSMENT PROCEDURES FOR THE ELDERLY (CAPE)

Let me ask you a few questions to check your concentration and your memory. Most of them will be easy.

1.	What is your name/full name?	Name		7
2,	How old are you?	Age		8
3.	What is your date of birth?	DOB		9
4.	What is the year?	Year		10
5.	What season of the year is it?	Season	_	11
6.	What is the date?	Date		12
7.	What is the day of the week?	Day		13
8.	What is the month	Month		14
9.	Can you tell me where we are right now?	Piace		15
10.	What is the address?	Street.	-1	16
11.	What city/town are we in?	City/Town	-	17
12.	What Territory or State are we in?	State		19
13.	What country are we in?	Country		10
14.	Who is the Prime Minister?	Prime Minister		20
15.	Who is the President of the USA?	President		20
16.	What are the colours of the National Flag/ Union Jack?	Colours		21
		L		

17. I am going to name 3 objects. After I have said them I want you to repeat them. Remember what they are because I am going to ask you to name them again in a few minutes.

	"Apple"	"Table"	"Penny"
Could you re	epeat the 3 item	s for me? SCOF	RE FIRST TRIAL
	Apple		
	Table		
	Penny		

23 24

25

**INTERVIEWER:** 

**REPEAT OBJECTS UNTIL ALL 3 ARE LEARNED** 

 Now I would like you to take away 7 from 100 and tell me what you would get. Now take 7 away from that number. Now keep subtracting 7 and tell me the answers until I tell you to stop.

COUNT ONLY 1 ERROR IF SUBJECT MAKES SUBTRACTION ERROR BUT SUBSEQUENT ANSWERS ARE 7 LESS THAN THE ERROR

(93)	26
(86)	27
(79)	28
(72)	 29
(65)	30

19. Now I am going to spell a word forwards and I want you to spell it backwards. The word is WORLD. W-O-R-L-D. Spell "WORLD" backwards. REPEAT SPELLING IF NECESSARY.

						31-35
D	L	R	0	w	اـــــا	

#### 20. Now what were the 3 objects I asked you to remember?

Apple	36
Table	37
Penny	38

# 21. INTERVIEWER: SHOW WRIST WATCH

What is this called?	39
----------------------	----

INTERVIEWER: SHOW PENCIL

What is this called?

40

22. I'd like you to repeat a phrase after me:

"NO IT'S, ADO'S OF DUI'S"	"No	if's.	and's	or	but's"
---------------------------	-----	-------	-------	----	--------

41

ALLOW ONLY 1 TRIAL. CODE 1 REQUIRES AN ACCURATELY ARTICULATED REPETITION.

23. Read the words on this page and then do what it says: 42 INTERVIEWER: HAND CARD B CODE "1" IF RESPONDENT CLOSES EYES READ FULL STATEMENT BELOW AND THEN HAND 24. INTERVIEWER: **RESPONDENT A BLANK PIECE OF PAPER.** DO NOT REPEAT INSTRUCTIONS OR COACH. I am going to give you a piece of paper. When I do, take the paper in your right hand, fold the paper in half with both hands, and put the paper down on your lap. 43 Takes paper in right hand 44 Folds in half Puts paper down on lap 45 25. Write any complete sentence on that piece of paper for me. SENTENCE SHOULD HAVE A SUBJECT AND A VERB AND MAKE SENSE. SPELLING AND GRAMMATICAL ERRORS ARE OK. 46 26. Here's a drawing. Please copy the drawing on the same paper. 47 INTERVIEWER; HAND CARD

CORRECT IF 2 CONVEX FIVE-SIDED FIGURES AND INTERSECTION MAKES A FOUR-SIDED FIGURE.

CLOSE	YOUR	EYES
•		



## RELATIONSHIP OF DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA FOR DEPRESSION TO

#### DIAGNOSTIC ALGORITHM

Diagnostic criteria for depression (top left hand corners of each page) related to Diagnostic Interview for Depression (centre of page) and Diagnostic Algorithm written in SPSS-X (lower right hand of page).

Diagnostic Criteria for Major Depressive Episode

("Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders" (3rd edition - revised) DSM-III-R, American Psychiatric Association: Washington, 1987) At least five of the following symptoms have been present during the same two-week period and represent a change from previous function; at least one of the symptoms is either (1) depressed mood, or (2) loss of interest or pleasure. (Do not include symptoms that are clearly due to a physical condition, mood-incongruent delusions or hallucinations, incoherence, or marked loosening of associations.)

-246-



(1) Depressed mood (or can be irritable mood in children and adolescents) most of the day, nearly every day, as indicated either by subjective account or observation by others.

Diagnostic Interview for Depression

IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU BEEN FEELING DEPRESSED OR SAD AT ALL? **.** 

ğ	7	B	
	o ( <u>Go to 0. 2.</u> )	o codable reply	ot asked
, Х	Ż	lep1 n	X

~

. <b>O</b>		6
(If Yes)         A. HAS THIS BEEN:         MOST OF THE DAY AND NEARLY EVERY DAY         NOLY FROM TIME TO TIME ( <u>Go to 0, 1B</u> )         ONLY FROM TIME TO TIME ( <u>Go to 0, 1B</u> )	(If code 1 in 0. IA) 1) IS THIS USUAL FOR YOU?	epla1 Yes
dep		v

Diagnostic Algorithm based on DSM-III-R Criteria for Depression written in SPSS-X  $\,$ 

dep1 (1=1)(2=0) compute 11 11 recode

mde1=0 (dep1 eq 8 or dep1 eq 9)mde1=9 (dep1al eq 2)mde1=1



(2) Markedly diminished interest or pleasure in all, or almost all, activities most of the day, nearly every day (as indicated either by subjective account or observation by others of apathy most of the time).



(3) Significant weight loss or weight gain when not dieting (e.g., more than 5% of body weight in a month), or decrease or increase in appetite nearly every day (in children, consider failure to make expected weight gains).



-250-



-251-



	er.
	e d
	ovrsl1 or
1=0)(2=1) (1=0)(2=1) (1=0)(2=1)	eq 8 or slp1 eq 9 or vrsl1 eq 7)mde4=9 eq 1 or slp1d1 eq 1 1a eq 1)mde4=1
slp1 ( slp1d ovrsl)	Ade4=0 (Stp1= (Stp1= ovrs
999 900 900 900 900	compute if if

-252-

(5) Psychomotor agitation or retardation nearly every day (observable by others, not merely subjective feelings of restlessness or being slowed down). 12. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU TALKED OR MOVED MORE SLOWLY THAN IS NORMAL FOR YOU?

slow	No ( <u>Go to 0.13.</u> ) Yes	49
	(If Yes)	
γ.	HAS THIS BEEN:?	
	NEARLY EVERY DAY(1)	
slowa	OF	
	ONLY SOMETIMES	50
13. YOU	IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU HAD TO BE MOVING ALL THE TIME - THAT IS, WERE SO RESTLESS THAT YOU COULDN'T SIT STILL?	
rstls	No ( <u>Go to 0.14</u> )	51
	(If Yes)	
Y.	HAS THIS BEEN: ?	
	NEARLY EVERY DAY	52
rstisa 	ONLY SOMETIMES	. <sup>-</sup>
<del></del>	Not asked9	

27. <u>Recently</u>, has your triend or relative seemed particularly lethargic and slowed down, so that her/his movements have been very much slower or her/his speech has become slow or monotonous?

(-) (-) leth

Yes

- ĝ
- If yes, is she/he still like this? About how long has it lasted? Ř
- letha

å

÷

- Yes, just for one or two odd days ∾ ⊚
- Yes, nearly every day for at least 2 weeks

28. <u>Recently</u>, has your friend or relative been particularly restless and fidgety, so that she/he had trouble stitling still and would, for example, pace up and down?

Yes نہ 🕣

fidg

.

- Ŷ
- If yes, is she/he still like this? Has it been going on for long? ¢
- fidga

٤

÷

- Yes, just for one or two odd days ~i (j)
- Yes, nearly every day for at least 2 weeks

slow (1=0)(2=1)	mde5≂0	(slow sets for views of 3 of
rstls (1=0)(2=1)	(slow_eq 8 or slow_eq 9 or rstls ec	rstlsa eq 1 and fidga eq 3)mde5=1
r ecode recode	compute if	11

(6) Fatigue or loss of energy nearly every day.

11. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU BEEN WORN OUT OR HAD TOO LITTLE ENERGY, EVEN WHEN YOU HAVEN'T BEEN DOING A LOT? HAS THIS OCCURRED:

	NEVER
	SOME OF THE TIME
-	MOST OF THE TIME
	ALL THE TIME
	No codable reply8
	Not asked9

48

recode

C OBPLTe

**tired** (1=0)(2=0)(3=1)(4=1)

mde6=0 (tired eq & or tired eq 9)mde6=9 (tired eq 1)mde6=1



-256-

(8) Diminished ability to think or concentrate, or indecisiveness, nearly every day (either by subjective account or as observed by others).

IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, HAVE YOU HAD TROUBLE CONCENTRATING? 28.

No (Go to Q. 29)	χesΥ	No codable reply	Not asked

18

- 1	
- 1	
5	
Ö	
M	
H	
4	
- 1	

A. HAS THIS BEEN:?	NEARLY EVERY DAY	or Dica ONLY SOMETIMES2	No codable reply	Not asked
		Ö		

19

29. IN THE LAST 2 WEEKS, DO YOUR THOUGHTS SEEM TO GET MIXED UP SO THAT YOU CANNOT GET THEM SORTED OUT?

		2		~
No	Sometimes	Severe, frequent or persistent muddling	No codable reply	Not asked
	anxim	4		

20



	<pre>conc (1=0)(2=1) mfxup (1=0)(2=0)(3=1) decns (1=0)(2=0)(3=1)(4=1)</pre>	mde8=0 (conc eq % or conc eq 9 or mixup or mixup eq 9 or decns eq 8 or	decns eq 9)mdex=9 (conca eq 1 or mixup eq 1 or dernes ex 2)mdeq=1
. "	r ecode ecode ecode	compute if	i t

ý Q		27	58	29
h a LOT CCASIONALLY OCCASIONALLY HARDLY AT ALL No answer, no codable reply Not agked Not agked 0	, IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS HAVE YOU FELT AS IF YOU WANTED TO DIE?	No Yes	(If Yes) A. HAVE YOU HAD SUCH THOUGHTS REPEATABLY? Yes	B. HAVE YOU THOUGHT OF COMMITTING SUICIDE? Yes
deal	ň	die	die —	diel —

33. IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HOW OFTEN HAVE YOU THOUGHT ABOUT DEATH

(9) Recurrent thoughts of death (not just fear of dying), recurrent suicidal ideation without a specific plan, or a suicide attempt or a specific plan for committing suicide.

IN THE LAST TWO WEEKS, HOM OFTEN HAVE YOU THOUGHT ABOUT DEATH - EITHER YOUR OWN, SOMEONE ELSE'S, OR DEATH IN GENERAL. HAVE YOU THOUGHT ABOUT IT:

-259-



del deto	
EE	
S	
ň	
ę>.	
10	lt e
SS	
- F O	

muel to mde9(9)
mdetot=sum(mde1 to mde9)
depdiag=0
((mdel eq 1 or mde2 eq 1) and
mdetot ge 5)depuiag=1

## **APPENDIX 5.7**

#### GENERAL PRACTITIONERS' STRUCTURED QUESTIONNAIRE

GENERAL QUESTIONS TO BE DISCUSSED WITH GPs ON COMPLETION OF PART 1 OF STUDY

To be completed by JB

What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible depression?

..... .... ..... \_\_\_\_\_ Do you have difficulty in deciding whether a patient is depressed? ..... What percentage of persons 70+ do you see who have clinically significant depression? ..... What do you consider to be the major contributory factors? What are the particular symptoms and signs you look for when a patient presents with possible dementia? ..... 

What percentage of persons 70+ do you see in your practice who have dementia?

.....

What are some of the problems you encounter?

What type of dementia do you see most frequently. and what percentage of patients with dementia would that be?

.....

What are the major difficulties in arranging

- home care services.....

- residential care.....

- other services (specify service).....

How helpful are each of the services?

- . for dementing patients.....
- . for patients with physical disabilities.....
- . for depressed patients.....

#### **APPENDIX 5.7.1**

#### CASE HISTORIES

Please tick the boxes which follow the questions if you consider the course of action could be one which you may pursue or agree with. You may select several alternative options for action under each vignette.

Case A is an 84-year old female who is consulting you regarding rheumatoid arthritis in her hands but who has numerous other physical problems. Over the last two years you have noticed a gradual decline in the patient's cognitive state and during the course of the consultation it becomes evident that her short- and long-term memory are severely impaired. It is difficult to obtain any recent information from her about her current physical health or current living and family situation. She has difficulty in finding her way to the door of your surgery. She forgets why she is consulting you but is happy to discuss her physical ailments with you.



- dementia . Alzheimer's disease
  - . Multi-infarct
- depression
- depression which presents as dementia
- dementia and depression
- Would you:
- seek further information
  - . if so, please
- specify.....
   provide a prescription
- - . for which condition(s).....
- refer her to a geriatrician or psychogeriatrician
- refer her to a Geriatric Assessment Unit
- refer her for diagnostic tests
- suggest entry to a hostel and arrange this as far as possible
- suggest entry to a nursing home and arrange this as far as possible
- visit her at home to assess her current living arrangements
- contact a family member or friend
- monitor her situation
- if the patient were younger, would you differ your course of action

•	If	yes,	how
••	••••	••••	

Case B is a 50 year-old married woman who has teenage children and who feels exhausted, depressed and at the end of her tether. The family has consulted you for many years. For the last three years she has been the primary caregiver for her 78 year old dementing mother (who also is your patient and who lives nearby). As caring for her mother has become more demanding, she has had to give up her much loved parttime job and devote all her spare time to keeping an eye on her mother who has begun to wander at any time of day or night. Her mother is unable to remember where she lives, and neighbours or the local shopkeepers frequently ring the daughter to let her know where her mother is. Many saucepans have been ruined because her mother left the stove on. The family have arranged for meals-on-wheels during the week and they provide the weekend meals. The mother goes to a day care centre twice a week for 4 hours each day and the family have arranged the occasional week of respite so that they can go away. These latter two services are more trouble than they are worth as the mother appears to be more agitated and unsettled on returning home. Despite these support services and an understanding family, the patient says she cannot sleep and appears anxious and tense.

#### Would you:

- seek further information	on
----------------------------	----

. if so,	please	specify
- provide a pr	escriptio	n III

for which condition(s).....

- provide counselling for patient and family

- refer patient to a psychiatrist
- arrange to see the dementing mother
- refer her mother to a psychogeriatrician or geriatric assessment unit
- enquire whether additional home care services are possible for her mother and arrange
- suggest her mother enter a hostel and arrange this as soon as possible

2

-	suggest her mother enter a nursing home and arrange this as soon as possible	
-	admit her mother to geriatric ward at hospital	
-	monitor situation	
	- other (please specify)	
-	change your course of action if the mother <u>lived with</u> her	
	daughter	L
	. If yes, what would you do?	••
•••••		••

Case C is a retired 70 year old widower who has recently been forced to retire. You have not seen him for some time, since his wife died, in fact. You remember him as being a robust, active, capable and outgoing man who appeared to be many years younger than he really was. He is consulting you because he is having trouble sleeping and is complaining of a poor memory. He now presents as withdrawn and looks every bit his age. On further questioning you find that he has not been eating or sleeping well. He appears vague, forgetful and lost but was able to find his way to your surgery. During the consultation, it emerges that some thirty years ago he went through a "difficult period" when he was inbetween jobs. During that period he was referred to a psychiatrist.



-265-

3



4

- suggest entry to a nursing home and arrange this

- admit him to hospital

- contact a family member or friend

- monitor his situation

- other (please specify.....)





Social Psychiatry Research Unit The Australian National University Canberra, ACT 2601 Telephone: National (062) 47 3695 and 49 2741 International +61 62 473695 Telex: 62033 AA

### LETTER FROM GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

-267-

# TO PATIENT SEEKING CO-OPERATION

Dear

I am co-operating with Mrs Jennifer Bowers from the Australian National University who is studying the illnesses of elderly people.

She would like to visit you at home and ask you some questions about your health and well-being soon. The information you provide will remain completely confidential.

It is hoped that the study will enable us to better recognize health problems in elderly people and thereby allow us to assist them more fully than at present.

I fully support the study and hope you will agree to participate.

Yours sincerely,

÷.,...



WORLD HEALTH ORGANISATION Collaborating Centre for the Epidemiology of Mental Disorders
### **APPENDIX 5.9**

### THE MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA Vol 153 August 20, 1990

#### studies <sup>3</sup>

192

Even though evening primrose oil toxicity does not seem to be a problem," dose schedules of Efamol of up to eight capsules daily are expensive. Thus, it is important to establish the therapeutic effectiveness of the medication, even though it appears to be based on a sound hypothesis, in well designed trials before large-scale use. We await further studies to confirm or deny our findinos

#### Acknowledgements

The assistance of Paul Normie, Carmel Bhai, Lyndel Barton and John Duncan of the Pharmacy Department, Royal Women's Hospital & gratefully acknowledged. We thank Dr. D. Horrobin and Etamol Research Inc., Nova Scota, Canada, for the supply of the capsules for the trail

#### References

- Frank RT. The hormonal causes of premenstrual tension. Arch Neural Psychiatr 1931; 26: 1052-1057
   Reid RL, Yen SSC. Premenstrual syndrome. Am J Obstel Gynecol 1981; 139: 85-104.
- 3
- Halbreich V. Endicott J. Classification of premensirual syndromes. In: Friedman R, ed Behavor and the menstrual cycle. New York Marcel Dekker, 1982, 46-65.
- Horrobin DF. The role of essential fatty acids and prostaglandins in the premensional syndrome. J Reprod Med 1983; 28; 465-469.
- Pocock SJ. Clinical Italis. A practical approach Chichester: John Wiley & Sons, 1963; 114-119
   Horrobin DF. Cellular basis of protactin action. Med Hypotheses 1979; 5: 599-820.
- 615-628.
   Brush MG, Walson SJ, Horrobin DF, Manku MS. Abnormal essential faity acid levels in plasma of women with premensitual syndrome. Am J Obster Gynecol 1984; 150. 363-366. 8.

- 9 Brenner RR. Nutritional and hormonal factors influencing desaturation of essenual fatty acids. Prog Lucid Res 1982; 20: 41-48.
- 10 Cunnane SC, Horrobin DF. Parenteral Inoleic and gamma-linolenic acids ameliorate the gross effects of zinc deficiency. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1980; 164 583.588
- 11.
- 583-588 Brush MG. Elamol (evening primrose oil) in the treatment of the premenstrual syndrome. In Horrobin DF, ed Clinical uses of essential fatty acids Montreal Eden Press Inc., 1982, 155-161. Puolakia J, Makaranen L, Vamika L, et al. Bochemical and clinical effects of treating the premenstrual syndrome with prostagliandin synthesis precursors. J Reprod Med 1985, 30, 149-153. 12.
- Grunbaum A. The placebo concept in medicine and psychiatry. Psychol Med 1986, 16: 19-38. Magos AL, Brincal M, Studi JWW. Treatment of the 13. 14
- premensival syndrome by subcutaneous cestradio implants and cyclical oral norethysterone placebo controlled study. Br Med J 1986, 292. 1629-1633.
- Scott J. Fish and evening primose ofs. Garing medical recognition. Curr Ther 1989, 30(Sep), 45-55. (Received Feb 14; accepted May 14, 1990)

## General practitioners' detection of depression and dementia in elderly patients

Jennifer Bowers, Anthony F Jorm, Scott Henderson and Peter Harris

ABSTRACT In a study of 11 general practitioners' detection of dementia and depression in 101 elderly patients it was found that general practitioners were more accurate in their detection of dementia than depression. The general practitioners did not identify 12 of the 15 patients assessed as depressed by a Diagnostic Interview for Depression, but their assessments of dementia corresponded guite well with the results of dementia tests. The general practitioners' knowledge of the symptoms and signs of dementia and depression was limited. If the patient talked to the general practitioner about faeling depressed, sad or Irritable, the depression recognition rate Increased. (Med J Aust 1990; 153: 192-196)

Ithough there have been a number of investigations in Australia of general practitioners' detection of psychological disorders in their patients,1.7 very few have been undertaken specifically in regard to the aged population.<sup>3</sup> The most frequently cited studies on the detection by general practitioners of mental illnesses in elderly patients have all been carried out in the United Kingdom.4-4 The first of these studies, by Williamson et al., examined three general practitioners' records of 200 patients in Scotland.<sup>4</sup> Before this examination the patients were assessed by a geriatrician and a psychiatrist. They found that general practitioners missed 87% of cases of dementia and 76% of depressed patients. The poor performance of the general practitioners in this study may have been partly due to the fact that they had not seen the patients as recently as had the specialists.

The other two studies reported a much lower rate of non-recognised cases. Parsons, in a study of the mental health of 288 people over 65 years in Swansea, found that the general practitioners missed only two of the eight assessed cases of dementia and one of the two cases of endogenous depression.\* Macdonaid, in a study of the prevalence of depression in 235 elderly patients in London, found that general practitioners missed only 9% of depressed patients.\* Several other recent studies have also shown a greater awareness of mental disorders, in particular dementia, by general practitioners than was originally found by Williamson et al.7-10

In the only comparable study to be undertaken in Australia," over 200 residents of a retirement village were assessed by two measures of cognitive impairment and were also rated by their general practitioners. The general practitioners missed 35 of the 77 (45%) patients rated as demented by the Mini-Mental State Examination. As Sanson-Fisher and Hennrikus have pointed out:"

The general practitioner . . . is in an advantageous position to detect disturbance, and there are a number of potential benefits of accurate detection . . . [but] there is evidence to suggest that the first component of treatment, that is, detection, is not adequately carried out.

This study examined the detection of dementia and depression in an elderly group of patients. The aims were to determine how well general practitioners detect

# NHMRC Social Psychiatry Research Unit, The Australian National University, Canberra, ACT 2503. Jennew Bowen, BSchlonal, PhO Scholar. Ambony F Jorm, Schlonal, MPsychol, PhD, GDisComp, Deputy Director. Scoll Hunderson, MO, FRACC, FRANCE, MRCF, FRCPsych, Professor and Director.

Scoll Henderson, MO, FRACE, FRANCUF, MRK-, Fracesor and unexast. Woden Valley Hospital, Yamba Drive, Garran, ACT 2805. Peur Nama, MB BS, FRACEP, Director of Family Medicine Programme and Chairman of the ACT Sub-Faculty of Royal Australian Consept of General Practisioners. Currently: Senior Lacturer, Department of Community Medicine, University of Mebourne, Part-Ver Hams, MB Its, r resultances, Currency, user latege of General Practitioners, Currency, user Me, VIC 3052. M monints will be available, Correspondence: Dr A F Jone,

these two most common psychiatric disturbances in an Australian aged population and the level of knowledge that general practitioners have in relation to dementia and depression.

#### Methods

#### General practitioners and procedure

A sample of 11 general practitioners, all but one of whom were Fellows or Members of the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP), was approached through the RACGP and agreed to participate in this study. All general practitioners were approached through the Family Medicine Programme and were selected because they practised in the inner suburbs of Canberra where a high proportion of the city's aged population reside.

One of us (JB) visited each general practitioner to explain the study and his or her role in it. Each general practitioner was required to: complete a questionnaire regarding his/her age, qualifications, the nature of his/her practice and special interests; seek the consent of 10 consecutive patients over the age of 70 years to participate in the study, starting from a predetermined time, and record their name, address and telephone number; provide a brief explanation of the study to the patient and give the patient a letter introducing one of us (JB); complete a brief questionnaire on each patient after consultation stating whether they assessed the patient as depressed or demented (on a 4-point scale ranging from "not at all" to "mild to moderate" to "severe"), whether this was the first time they had noticed depression or dementia and what form of management had been instigated; and notify one of us (JB) when 10 patients had been recruited.

Ten patients were regarded by us to be the maximum number of patients we could expect a general practitioner to recruit without overburdening him or her.

#### General practitioner follow-up procedure

After each group of patients had been interviewed by one of us (JB) the general practitioners were revisited and asked questions about the diagnosis of dementia and depression in all of their elderly patients; the percentage of people over 70 in their practice whom they thought had dementia and depression; whether they thought they had difficulty in diagnosing dementia or depression; and what management problems they encountered. Finally, the general practitioners were requested to read and select answers to questions based on three vignettes which were constructed on the basis of The diegnostic and statistical manual of montal disorders (DSM-III-R) criteria for depression and dementia."

#### Patients and assessment instruments

As soon as possible after the consultation, one of us (JB) made an appointment with each patient. The following information was obtained during a home interview.

#### Sociodemographic information

Information was obtained on demographic characteristics, and on what professional care, services and informal assistance had been received.

#### Dementia

Three different indices of dementia were also used. The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) is a widely used, brief screening instrument for dementia which tests a wide range of cognitive functions such as orientation, recall, attention and language.<sup>19</sup> It is also an efficient screening test for dementia<sup>14</sup> and has been used extensively in community surveys.<sup>18,19</sup> Patients who scored less than 24 out of 30 were considered to be probable dementia ta succh lower than for moderate or severe impairment.<sup>11</sup>

In addition, the 12-item Information/Orientation Scale from the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE), which measures cognitive impairment," was administered. This instrument is also useful in community surveys because it is brief and acceptable to the general public. It has been demonstrated to be a valid measure of dementia in field surveys,"<sup>6,30</sup> but its sensitivity in detecting mild dementia is lower than the MMSE." Patients with scores of 7 or less were considered to have cognitive impairment indicative of probable dementia.

Patients were also asked if someone who had known them well over a 10-year period, such as a spouse or child, could complete an Informant Questionnaire on Cognitive Decline in the Elderly on their behalf.<sup>21</sup> The Informant Questionnaire correlates well with the MMSE and clearly discriminates dementing patients from normal ones. In addition, the Informant Questionnaire does not appear to be affected by the premobil ability of the patient, unlike conventional screening instruments such as the MMSE.<sup>21</sup>

If the patient provided the name of an informant, an Informant Questionnaire was either mailed to the person or was left with the patient to give to the informant (for example, a spouse). A covering letter which briefly explained the study to the informant and a self-addressed, stamped envelope were attached to the questionnaire.

#### Depression

Three different indices of depression were used. A highly structured Diagnostic Interview for Depression, similar in style to the Composite International Diagnostic Interview Schedule,<sup>10</sup> was designed to cover the symptoms listed in the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for major depressive disorder.<sup>11</sup> The data from each interview were entered into a computer and scored by a diagnostic algorithm written in SPSS-X.<sup>14</sup> This algorithm implemented the DSM-III-R criteria in a rigorous manner, but did not use the exclusion criteria (B, C and D) because these are not of much relevance in the context of general practice. The algorithm reached a diagnostic decision for each case and also gave a continuous score from 0 to 9 for the number of DSM-III-R depression symptoms present.

All patients completed the 12-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ-12).<sup>10</sup> This is a short self-administered screening instrument used to measure non-psychotic mental itiness in general practice settiogs and the community. In spite of its brevity, the GHQ-12 has been used in many community surveys, particularly in Australia.<sup>10</sup> has been shown to be valid and reliable and has good sensitivity in detecting depressive illness.<sup>11</sup>

The informants were also asked to state whether or not the patient had ever had a diagnosis of depression and whether or not they thought the patient was depressed at the time of completing the informant Quastionneire

#### Activities of daily living

The level of assistance needed with activities of daily living was obtained from each patient. In addition, the same questions on activities of daily living were asked of the informant. The daily activites measured were: showering/bathing; dressing: eating/feeding; getting around and out of home/flat; walking 200 m; walking up and down stairs; and using public transport. They were rated on a scale which ranged from "unable to manage at all", "require help/supervision", "require no help but have difficulty" to "have no difficulty".

#### Ethics approval and consent

Approval for the research was obtained from the Ethics in Human Experimentation Committee of The Australian National University. Each patient gave consent to be interviewed.

.

#### Results

#### General practitioner participation

Eleven general practitioners participated in the study, five of whom were women and six men. Five were Fellows of the RACGP. The mean age was 46 years (range, 35 to 64 years). Years of practising ranged from 11 to 40, with a mean of 22 years.

#### **Patient participation**

Of the 109 patients referred by the general

#### THE MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA Vol 153 August 20, 1990

practitioners, 101 were interviewed. Three patients were excluded because they were below 70 years of age; two could not be contacted in spite of repeated visits; and three went on extended vacations almost immediately after their consultations. Six patients were not referred by general practitioners: four refused to participate (each being rated by the general practitioner as depressed) and two were considered by the general practitioners to be too difficult to be interviewed. A contact rate of 88% was thus achieved. Of the sample 94% agreed to provide the name and address of an informant.

#### Informant responses

A 90% response rate was obtained for the Informant Questionnaire. The mean age of informants was 63.8 years and the range was from 34 to 90 years. Thirty-eight of the Informants were over 70 years. Sixty-nine informants were female and 22 male, the majority of whom were spouses (41%) and children (34%). Nine informants were friends and the remainder included in-laws and siblings.

#### The detection of dementia by general practitioners

Table 1 compares the patients' levels of dementia measured by the MMSE with the severity ratings by the general practitioners. Twenty-eight patients (20 women and 8 men) were classified as having probable dementia by the MMSE. The prevalence of dementia in this group of patients was thus 28%. When compared with the MMSE, the general practitioners detected dementia in 11 of the 28 patients, providing a sensitivity of 39% (proportion of true cases of dementia identified correctly). General practitioners correctly identified 72 of the 73 non-demented patients providing a specificity of 99%.

## TABLE 1: General practitioners' detection of dementia

· ·	General practitioners' assessment*			
Dementia test results	Not demented (n = 89)	Demented (n = 12)		
MMSE				
Not demented (n = 73)	72	1		
Demented (n = 28) CAPE	. 17	11		
Not demented (7 = 91)	87	-4		
Demented ( $n = 10$ )	2	8		

. •

TABLE 2: Correlations between general practitioners' ratings of dementia, dementia scales and physical impairment'

General Practitioners' rating (n = 101)	Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (n = 101)	Information/ Orientation scale (n = 101)	Informant Questionnaire (n = 90)	Physical Impairment (n = 101)
1	-0.76	-0.76	0.65	0.42
2		0.90	-075	- 0.53
3			- 0.78	- 0.52
4				0.51

\*All correlations significant at P<0.01 level

When judged against a cut-off score of 7 or less on the Information/Orientation Scale of CAPE, the general practitioners showed a detection rate of 80% sensitivity and 96% specificity (Table 1). The better performance of the general practitioners against the CAPE compared with the MMSE reflects the fact that the CAPE is a higher-threshold instrument which is poorer at detecting milder cases.14 When the general practitioners' ratings of mild dementia were also included, their sensitivity improved to 100% against the CAPE and 54% against the MMSE. Specificity continued to remain high when the mild dementia ratings were included (84% against the CAPE, 86% against the MMSE).

General practitioners' ratings of dementia (on the 4-point scale) were highly correlated with the MMSE, the Information/ Orientation Scale and the Informant Questionnaire (Table 2) and also with the level of patients' physical impairments, but to a lesser degree. The various dementia scales are also highly intercorrelated with each other. They are also correlated with

#### **TABLE 3: General practitioners'** detection of depression

	General practitioners' assessment*			
Results from Diagnostic Interview for Depression	Not depressed (n = 89)	Depressed (n = 12)		
Not depressed (n = 86)	77	9		
Depressed (n = 15)	12	3		
tionindes satisas of mode	vale and see	a decreasion		

physical impairment, reflecting the wellknown association between dementia and physical disability.<sup>24</sup> Only four informants stated that the patient had been diagnosed as having dementia: two were diagnosed by a general practitioner and two by a specialist.

#### General practitioners' detection of depression

The results of patients who were diagnosed as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview were compared with the general practitioners' ratings of moderate and severe depression (Table 3). The general practitioners missed 12 of the 15 patients assessed as depressed by the diagnostic algorithm. Therefore, sensitivity for the detection of depression was 20%. Specificity was 90%, as they correctly identified 77 of the 86 patients who were not depressed. When the general practitioners' ratings of mild depression were included, sensitivity improved to 60%, but specificity declined to 63%.

Table 4 shows the correlations between various continuous measures of depression and the general practitioners' ratings. The ratings of depression by general practitioners (on the 4-point scale) were correlated with the symptom score from the Diagnostic Interview and with the GHQ-12, but the relationship was not strong. However, the general practitioners' ratings were more highly correlated with the informant's opinion of whether the patient was

TABLE 4: Correlations between general practitioners' ratings of depression, depression symptom score, the opinion of an informant, whether the patient discussed depression with the general practitioner, the 12-item General Health

		Questio	nnaire, and	physical imp	aimont	
nted 12)	General practitioners' rating (n = 101)	Depression symptom score (n = 101)	Informant's opinion (n = 87)	Depression discussed (n = 100)	General Health Questionnaire (n = 97)	Physical impairment (n = 101)
1	1	0.36*	0.41*	0.34*	0.251	0.12
1	2		0.45°	0.26*	0.72*	0.38*
-	3			0.28*	0.29*	0.08
4	Ā				0.12	0.17
B	5				•	0.49*

\*P<0.01 1P<0.05.

194

practitioners, 101 were interviewed. Three patients were excluded because they were below 70 years of age; two could not be contacted in spite of repeated visits; and three went on extended vacations almost immediately after their consultations. Six patients were not referred by general practitioners: four refused to participate (each being rated by the general practitioner as depressed) and two were considered by the general practitioners to be too difficult to be interviewed. A contact rate of 88% was thus achieved. Of the sample 94% agreed to provide the name and address of an informant.

#### Informant responses

A 90% response rate was obtained for the Informant Questionnaire. The mean age of informants was 63.8 years and the range was from 34 to 90 years. Thirty-eight of the informants were over 70 years. Sixty-nine informants were female and 22 male, the majority of whom were spouses (41%) and children (34%). Nine informants were friends and the remainder included in-laws and siblings.

#### The detection of dementia by general practitioners

Table 1 compares the patients' levels of dementia measured by the MMSE with the severity ratings by the general practitioners. Twenty-eight patients (20 women and 8 men) were classified as having probable dementia by the MMSE. The prevalence of dementia in this group of patients was thus 28%. When compared with the MMSE, the general practitioners detected dementia in 11 of the 28 patients, providing a sensitivity of 39% (proportion of true cases of dementia identified correctly). General practitioners correctly identified 72 of the 73 non-demented patients providing a specificity of 99%.

## TABLE 1: General practitioners' detection of dementia

1	General practitioners' assessment*				
Dementia test results	Not demented (n = 89)	Demented (n = 12)			
MMSE					
Not demented (n = 73)	72	1			
Demented (n = 28) CAPE	17	11			
Not demented (n=91)	87	-4			
Demented $(n = 10)$	2	8			

Includes rations of mod

#### THE MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA Vol 153 August 20, 1990

TABLE 2: Correlations between general practitioners' ratings of dementia, dementia scales and physical impairment

General Practitioners' rating (n = 101)	Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (n = 101)	Information/ Orientation scale (n = 101)	Informant Questionnaire (n = 90)	Physical Impairment (n = 101)
1	- 0.76	-0.76	0.65	0.42
2		0.90	- 0.75	- 0.53
3			-078	- 0.52
4				0.51

\*All correlations significant at P<0.01 level

When judged against a cut-off score of 7 or less on the Information/Orientation Scale of CAPE, the general practitioners showed a detection rate of 80% sensitivity and 96% specificity (Table 1). The better performance of the general practitioners against the CAPE compared with the MMSE reflects the fact that the CAPE is a higher-threshold instrument which is poorer at detecting milder cases.14 When the general practitioners' ratings of mild dementia were also included, their sensitivity improved to 100% against the CAPE and 54% against the MMSE. Specificity continued to remain high when the mild dementia ratings were included (84% against the CAPE, 86% against the MMSE).

General practitioners' ratings of dementia (on the 4-point scale) were highly correlated with the MMSE, the Information/ Orientation Scale and the Informant Ouestionnaire (Table 2) and also with the level of patients' physical impairments, but to a lesser degree. The various dementia scales are also highly intercorrelated with each other. They are also correlated with

#### TABLE 3: General practitioners' detection of depression

	General practitioners assessment*		
	Not depressed (n = 89)	Depressed (n = 12)	
Not depressed (n = 86)	77	9	
Depressed (n = 15)	12	3	

\*Includes ratings of moderate and severe depression.

physical impairment, reflecting the wellknown association between dementia and physical disability.<sup>26</sup> Only four informants stated that the patient had been diagnosed as having dementia: two were diagnosed by a general practitioner and two by a specialist.

#### General practitioners' detection of depression

The results of patients who were diagnosed as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview were compared with the general practitioners' ratings of moderate and severe depression (Table 3). The general practitioners missed 12 of the 15 patients assessed as depressed by the diagnostic algorithm. Therefore, sensitivity for the detection of depression was 20%. Specificity was 90%, as they correctly identified 77 of the 86 patients who were not depressed. When the general practitioners' ratings of mild depression were included, sensitivity improved to 60%, but specificity declined to 63%.

Table 4 shows the correlations between various continuous measures of depression and the general practitioners' ratings. The ratings of depression by general practitioners (on the 4-point scale) were correlated with the symptom score from the Diagnostic Interview and with the GHQ-12, but the relationship was not strong. However, the general practitioners' ratings were more highly correlated with the informant's opinion of whether the patient was

 $\pi^{*}$  is a

TABLE 4: Correlations between general practitioners' ratings of depression, depression symptom score, the opinion of an informant, whether the patient discussed depression with the general practitioner, the 12-item General Health

	Questic	onnaire, and	cuestionnaire, and physical impairment								
General practitioners' rating (n = 101)	Depression symptom score (n = 101)	Informant's opinion (n = 87)	Depression discussed (n = 100)	General Health Questionnaire (n = 97)	Physical impairment (n = 101)						
1 2 3 4 5	0.36*	0.41* 0.45*	0.34* 0.26* 0.28*	0.251 0.72* 0.29* 0.12	0.12 0.38* 0.08 0.17 0.49*						

\*P<0.01. 1P<0.05.

#### THE MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA Vol 153 August 20, 1990

depressed and with whether or not the patients reported discussing their depressed mood with the general practitioners. If the patient talked to the general practitioners about feeling depressed, sad or irritable, the depression recognition rate increased. The GHQ-12 correlated highly with the Diagnostic Interview and physical impairment and to a lesser degree with the informant's opinion. Eleven informants stated that the patient had been diagnosed as having had depression at some time: nine by a general practitioner and two by a specialist.

#### General practitioners' detection of dementia and depression combined

Seven patients were diagnosed as depressed by the Diagnostic Interview and as probably demented by the MMSE. General practitioners diagnosed both conditions in two patients and depression only in another patient.

## General practitioners' knowledge of dementia and depression

General practitioners' knowledge of symptoms and signs of dementia and depression were compared with those specified in the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria. When asked what they look for when diagnosing dementia, 91% of the general practitioners cited memory loss or forgetfulness and 55% cited "reports from relatives" as an important factor. The latter was interpreted by us as meeting the DSM-III-R criterion of "loss of Intellectual abilities which would significantly interfere with work or social functioning or relationships with others"." Two general practitioners mentioned apraxia, two mentioned personality change and one mentioned aphasia. No general practitioners mentioned an impairment of abstract thinking or judgement or "evidence from the history, physical examination, or laboratory tests of a specific organic factor". Of the nine features of dementia listed in the DSM-III-R criteria, the majority of general practitioners mentioned only two.

When asked what they looked for in diagnosing depression, most general practitioners cited depressed appearance, sleep disturbance and weight or appetite change. Fewer mentioned lack of interest, slowed movements or loss of energy. One general practitioner mentioned recurrent thoughts of death and one mentioned diminished ability to concentrate, but no general practitioners mentioned feelings of worthlessness or inappropriate guilt. To a large degree the frequency with which the general practitioners mentioned the symptoms corresponded to the prevalence of the symptoms in the patients, as revealed by the Diagnostic Interview. The exceptions were loss of energy, inability to concentrate and recurrent thoughts of death, which were found in over a quarter of the patients, but rarely mentioned by the general practitioners (Figure).

#### Discussion

In this study, a sample of Australian general practitioners has been shown to be more accurate in recognition of dementia in elderly patients than in recognition of depression. The general practitioners' recognition rate for dementia was similar to other studies carried out in Australia<sup>a</sup> and overseas.<sup>8,9</sup> The recognition rate for depression was close to that observed by Williamson et al. in their early study on the health of elderly people living at home<sup>a</sup> and quite contrary to Macdonald's more recent study of the prevalence of depression in general practice.<sup>8</sup>

The general practitioners' poorer detection of depression may be due to a lack of knowledge of depressive symptoms or failure to enquire about these symptoms in their patients. When the general practitioners were asked about the symptoms they looked for in diagnosing depression, many symptoms were rarely mentioned. However, the frequency with which the general practitioners mentioned symptoms of depression corresponded reasonably well with the observed symptoms in their patients. Important exceptions were loss of energy, inability to concentrate and recurrent thoughts of death which were rarely mentioned by the general practitioners but found in their patients. These symptoms warrant more attention in general practice consultations with the elderly.

The other possible reason general practitioners did not detect a higher proportion of cases of depression may be that they seldom explicity enquired after depressive symptoms, but, relied on the patients spontaneously raising them. This possibility is supported by the present finding that general practitioners' diagnoses of depression improved if the patient discussed his or her depressed mood with the general practitioner.

While the present study has potentially important implications for general practice, there are limitations which must be pointed out. Firstly, the sample consisted of only 11 general practitioners in one city. These general practitioners were perhaps more aware of the problems of eiderly people as they all practise in areas of Canberra with high aged populations and all agreed to participate in a study of elderly patients. Furthermore, all but one belonged to the RACGP.

Secondly, there were limitations in the instruments used as a standard to judge the general practitioners' performance.



HIGURE: Frequency with which general practitioners cited DSM-III-R criteria for depression in patients and inquency with which DSM-III-R criteria were found in patients.

195

#### THE MEDICAL JOURNAL OF AUSTRALIA Vol 153 August 20, 1990

The measures for dementia were the MMSE, Information/Orientation Scale and the Informant Ouestionnaire, none of which can make a diagnosis or fully covers all the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for dementia. Furthermore, these instruments are recognised to be accurate when screening for moderate or severe dementia but are poor at distinguishing a case of mild dementia.

However, the Diagnostic Interview for Depression was more comprehensive. It covered the DSM-III-R diagnostic criteria for major depression, thus providing a more thorough measure for depression than for dementia. It is conceivable that this led to the detection of cases of depression more effectively than for cases of dementia. The general practitioners, nevertheless, seem to be poorer at detecting depression than dementia.

Finally, dementia and depression are both states lying on continua from normality to severe disorders. What is a "case" represents an arbitrary cut-off on these continua. General practitioners are likely to differ among themselves in where they place the threshold for defining a case and they may also differ from the thresholds used in the criterion instruments. No threshold can be considered the absolute truth; and the thresholds employed by general practitioners may be quite appropriate in general practice, even though they differ from those imposed by researchers specialising in mental disorders. To a degree, then, the present study is about the extent to which general practitioners' concepts of depression and dementia agree with those imposed by researchers, which may not necessarily be optimal for general practice.

While we acknowledge these limitations there are broader implications of the present results. When dementia is present in a patient, but not diagnosed, the patient, the family and the general practitioner are each at a disadvantage. The interpretation of complaints, providing advice and counselling to the family, the management of Intercurrent illnesses, the deterioration of cognitive impairment if inappropriate drugs are prescribed, and the promise of memory-enhancing drugs in the future are all compelling reasons for the screening and diagnosis of dementia by general practitioners." When depression is present but not formally recognised needless distress to patients and families occurs, especially if it is wrongly ascribed to age or to physical disorders or if it remains untreated, since there is a range of effective treatments now available, both pharmacological and psychological.30-31 For these reasons it is desirable that general practitioners diagnose dementia and depression accurately.

The diagnosis and treatment of dementia and depression in the elderly by general practitioners is a matter of considerable public health relevance, not only now but particularly in the coming years as Australia's population ages. To confirm these findings larger samples of general practitioners and patients in other areas are now required. If these findings are confirmed, the need for further general practitioner training in psychological disturbances of the elderly, particularly depression, is clearly a priority.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was carried out while Jennifer Bowers had a Post-Graduate Research Award from the Commonwealth Department of Community Services and Health. We welh to thank all the general practitioners and their patients who participated in the fieldwork.

#### References

- Brodety H, Andrews G, Kehoe L. Psychiatric illness in general practice I. Why is it missed? Aust Fam Physician 1982; 11: 825-831.
   Chancelor A, Mant A, Andrews G. The general practitioner's identification and management of emotional disorders. Aust Fam Physician 1977; 6: 1112-1143. 1137-1143
- 1137-1143. Mant A, Eyland EA, Pond DC, et al. Recognition of dementa in general practice. Comparison of general practitionent' opinions with assessments using the mini-mental state examination and the Biessed Dementia Rating Scale. Fam Pract 1988; 3 5: 184-188.
- Williamson J, Stokoe IH, Gray S, et al. Old people at home: their unrecorded needs. Lancet 1964, 1: at home: the 1117-1120.
- Parsons PL. Mental health in Swansea's old tolk. Br J Prev Soc Med 1965; 19: 43-47. 5.
- Macdonald AJD. Do general practitioners "miss" depression in elderly patients? Br Med J 1966; 292: 1365-1367. 6.
- 1305-1307. Weyerer S. Mental disorders among the elderly True prevalence and use of medical services. Arch Gerontol Genetr 1963; 2: 111-122. 7
- Philip I, Young J. An audit of a primary care team's knowledge of the existence of symptomatic demented elderly. *Health Bull* (Edin.) 1988, 46 (2 March): 93-97.
- March): 53-97. O'Conno: DW, Potiti PA, Hyde JB, et al. Do general practitioners miss dementia in elderly patients? Br 9 practitioners miss dementia in Med J 1988; 197; 1107-1110.
- Med J 1988; 197; 1107-1110.
  10. Brayne C, Caloway P. The diagnosis of demensa in the community: a comparison of methods. Int J Geniatr Psychiatry (in press).
  11. Sanson-Fishor RW, Hennrikus DJ. Why do primary care physicians of test fail to detect psychological disturbance in their patients? In: Henderson AS, Burrows GD, eds. Handbook of social psychiatry. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 1988; 245-256.
  12. American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and datatiscal manual of mental diserders. 3rd ed. Revised. Washington, DC: APA, 1987.
  13. Folstein MF, Folstein SE, McHugh PRI. Mini-Mental State. a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975; 12: 289-298.
  14. Anthony JC, Le Resche LA, Niaz U, et al. Limits of

- Anthony JC, La Resche LA, Niaz U, et al. Limits of the 'Mini-Mental State' as a screening test for dementia and delinum among hospital patients. 14.

Psychol Med 1982; 12: 397-408

- Fyclian Medi 1962, 12, 397406 Folsien M, Anthony JC, Parhad I, et al. The meaning of cognitive impairment in the elderly. J Am Genatr Soc 1985; 33 228-235. 15
- Soc 1985; 33 228-235. Wessman MM, Myers JK, Tischler GL, et al. Psychiatric disorders (DSM-III) and cognitive impairment in the elderly in a US urban community Acta Psychiatr Scand 1985, 71 365-379 16
- Acta Psychiatr Scand 1985, 71:365-379 Kay DWK, Henderson AS, Scott R, et al. Dementia and depression among the elderly living in the Hobart community the effect of the diagnostic criteria on the prevalence rates. Psychol Med 1985, 15:771-788. 17
- Patie AH. A survey version of the Clifton Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE). Br J Clin Psychol 1981, 20. 173-178. 18.
- 1961, 20. 173-178. Morgan K, Datiosso H, Ebrahim S, et al. Mental health and contact with pirmary care services in old age. Int J Genail Psychiatry 1967, 2: 223-226. McPhreson FM, Gamsu CV, Kiemle G, et al. The concurrent validity of the survey version of the Chlon Assessment Procedures for the Elderly (CAPE). Br J Chn Psychol 1985, 24: 63-91. Liver 2016 Dentil 84. Assessment of 20
- Jum rsychol 1985; 24 83-91. Jorm AF, Scott R, Jacomb PA. Assessment of cognitive decline in dementia by informant questionnare. Int J Genatr Psychietry 1989; 4: 35-39 21
- Jorm AF, Jacomb PA. The Informant Questionnaire on Cognetive Decline in the Elderly (IOCODE): socio-demographic correlates, reliability, validity and some norms. Psychol Med 1989; 19. 1015-1022.
- norms. Psychiatry 1983; 19: 1015-1022.
   Robins LN, Wing J, Wetcham HU, et al. The composite international diagnostic interview. Arch Gan Psychiatry 1988; 45: 1069-1077.
   SPSS Inc., SPSS X: users' guide. 3rd ed. Chicago: SPSS Inc., 1988.
- SrSS Inc., 1988.
   Goldberg DP. Manual for the General Health Ouestionnaire. Windsor: NFER-Netson, 1978.
   Burvel PW, Knuiman MW. Which version of the GHO
- Bourd V, Nahlashimi, Michael M. M. Statistic and Statistic and Statistic and Statistic and Statistic and Statistical Australia Statistics (Soldberg D, Williams P. A user's guide to the General Health Ouestonnare. Berkshire: NFER-General Health Ouestonnare. Berkshire: NFER-
- Nelson, 1988.
- Mine JS. Clinical effects of ageing: a longitudinal study. London: Groom Helm, 1985. 28. 29
- Henderson AS. The coming epidemic of demental. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 1963, 17: 117-127. The Quality Assurance Project. A treatment outline for depressive disordent. Aust NZ J Psychiatry 1983, 30.
- 17: 129-146.
- 17: 122-140. Johnson GFS, Wilson P. The management of depression: a review of pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments. *Med J Aust* 1989; 151: 397-406

Received Nov 13, 1989; accepted Mar 9, 1990)

What is a medical editor's essential role, as distinct from the multitude of small activities which clutter up the twenty-four hour working day that he shares with the rest of his professional colleagues? To some extent it depends on the type of journal that he edits, and on how much he is an editor and how much something else. But if he has a hand in this busi ness at all, one thing that must be said humbly, albeit clearly, is that he has an inalienable duty to truth, to scientific integrity and to medicine' ultimate role, which is the service of men. --- Winton R. From the Sidelines of Medicine. Sydney: Australasian Medical Publishing Co, 1988: 3.

#### 196

## **APPENDIX 6**

6.1	Mean total scores for activities-of-daily-living	275
6.2	Numbers of patients who had difficulty performing activities-of-daily-living and the years of assistance which had been rendered to them as estimated by the informants	276
6.3	Physical changes observed in patients by informants over the preceding 10 years	277

### APPENDIX 6.1

Mean total scores for activities of daily living Minimum level of dependency = 8, maximum dependency = 32 (Informant responses are in brackets)

Total score	Number	of patients	
8 9 to 16 17 to 24 25 to 32 Nil response	42 30 16 13 0	(23) (41) (20) (8) (9)	
Total	101	(101)	

## APPENDIX 6.2

Numbers of patients who had difficulty performing activities of daily living and the years of assistance which had been rendered to them, as estimated by the informants

Activity	<1	lears 1-3	3-5	5-7	>7	Total
Showering/bathing	3	10	3	3	1	20
Dressing	3	5	1	0	0	9
Eating/feeding	2	2	1	0	1	6
Getting around home/flat	1	5	1	1	1	9
Getting out of home/flat	6	7	5	1	3	22
Walking 200m	6	8	3	0	4	20
Walking up and down stairs	3	8	5	0	4	20
Using public transport	9	8	5	0	5	27

Physical function	al Number of patients experiencing on degree of change						
	Much better	A bit better	Not much change	A bit worse	Much worse	Missing	Total
Hearing	1	0	45	27	19	9	92
Vision	4	0	32	33	22	10	92
Ability to use fingers and hands	5 4	0	52	27	9	9	92
Ability to use legs	3	0	29	35	25	9	92

Physical changes observed in patients by informants over the preceding 10 years

## **APPPENDIX 8**

APPENDIX 8.1: Letter from Dr Peter Harris requesting co-operation in the extended survey.

## LETTER FROM DR PETER HARRIS TO GENERAL PRACTITIONERS

1 November 1989

Dear

Over the last few months we have been involved with the Social Psychiatry Research Unit at ANU in a study of depression and dementia in the elderly in Canberra.

A number of GPs in the inner suburbs have been interviewed for this study already.

I am writing to seek your assistance in completing our work.

The researcher from the Unit, Jennifer Bowers, will contact you by telephone before the end of November to seek a 20 minute appointment (e.g. during lunch time) to interview you about aspects of dementia and depression.

Your co-operation in this survey is important.

The questionnaire has been approved by GP researchers from the RACGP.

Thank you in anticipation of your assistance.

Kind regards

Peter Harris <u>State Director/Medical Educator</u> <u>Family Medicine Programme</u>.

## **APPENDIX 9**

APPENDIX 9.1: Summary of responses to the question "What are your special interests in medicine?"

## **APPENDIX 9.1**

Summary of responses to the question "What are your special interests in medicine?" (Some general practitioners had more than one area of interest.)

Special Interest	Number of GPs
All aspects of general practice	6
Obstetrics, gynaecology, family planning	1
Diabetes	1
Manipulation	1
Acupuncture	1
Nutrition	2
Geriatrics	3
Terminal care	2
Women's health	2
Social problems	1
Occupational health	1
Clinical epidemiology	1
Internal medicine	2
Dermatology	1
Family/community medicine	3
Practice management	1
Aviation medicine	2
Epilepsy	1
Depression	1
Counselling	4
Prevention	1
Psychiatry	2
Paediatrics	3
Underwater medicine	1
Naturopathy, homeopathy	2
Sexually transmitted diseases	1
Migrant problems	1
Menopause	1
Hyponosis	1